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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the MRARFERHD » RIEXNESEFE » BB T3
following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“2018 RSU Scheme”
[2018 FE PRI 19 Bzt & ]

“2020 RSAS”
[2020 4 52 [R A% 17 E2 Ryt 3 |

“2021 AGM”
2021 FEBRRBFAE ]

“5G

[5G

“advertiser”

NE
[Al]

“Articles” or “Memorandum and
Articles of Association”
[4HEI k[ 484 =12 R4 KA A

“Audit Committee”

[BZEZEE

“Blue Focus”

[EERER]

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

BEBRNTRE :

the restricted share unit scheme adopted by our Company on 14 August 2018
RARR 201848 A 14 BERMBYZ PR IR 19 Bz 51 2

the restricted share award scheme adopted by our Company on 7 May 2020
ARAFR 2020 6 5 A 7 BERANH) S BR I AR 1) 52 51 2l

the AGM to be held on 10 June 2021
7202156 A 10 BRITHRFBEARE

the fifth generation technology standard for broadband cellular networks,
which cellular phone companies began deploying worldwide in 2019, and is
the planned successor to the 4G networks which provide connectivity to most
current cellphones

BHEFEA RN 2019 FMIE 2 RBE AN LENE IR TIAE B HERIMRE -
FEBERHERNAZ BT HRE AN 4G HRK

any persons, companies, organizations which advertise their brands, products
and/services through placing advertisements
FERRMESEERE ERLIREHEMAL - DRI RIEE

artificial intelligence
AR

the memorandum and articles of association as amended from time to time

B IERM R AR (B ABHERT)

the audit committee of the Board

EFEeELRZERS

BlueFocus Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd. (Jt & @& IZEE
BRI BMR AT, a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on
4 November 2002 and the shares of which were listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange on 26 February 2010 and one of our substantial shareholders
IREBHBZHBERERMER AR - —HK2002F 11 A 4 BAREF BEEEFM
B AR - RN 201062 A26 BIERYIEF R ST LT - WAKMHES
Bz —



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL”
[ B &N EEIRR

“Board”

==

“Board Committees”
[EEZET ]

“BVI”
[RB R FE S ]

“CEO”
[{TER AR ]

“Chairman”

[F/E]
“Chengdu Hongdao”

[Chengdu Hongdao
“China” or “PRC”
[

“Company” or “our Company”

RAWNCIN

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[ 2R P T A

BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (E@XiEHEEEEMARAR), a
company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on 13 March 2009 and
wholly owned by Blue Focus

EeXRERERERAR AR - —MX 20094 3 A 13 ARBEEEEDIEMA L
WHEEKIZEEZERBNAR

the board of Directors of the Company

ARFEEE

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee
EZLZEE  FHEESRIREREEE

the British Virgin Islands
RBEZHS

the chief executive officer of the Company
PNNCIESYIEECE -

the chairman of the Board
EEZETRE

Chengdu Hongdao Limited, a company incorporated in the BVl on 18 April
2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang Zhenghong

Chengdu Hongdao Limited * —FEI* 20184 4 A 18 BEXBER Z BBk 30
MG EREELZEERHNRR

the People’s Republic of China, unless otherwise stated, excludes the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, the Macau Special Administrative Region
and Taiwan of China herein

FEARKANE - REEHBIN - AXTBEHEEEEITRE  RFIRRITHR

BRAE

Doumob (2 BRI AR A A]), a company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 26 March 2018

SHBEERAR - —MRN2018F3 A 26 HIREFASHSAMEMRINEGRA
5

The entities our Company control through the Contractual Arrangements,
namely Doumob Technology and its subsidiary, Yamei Yunhe
RABEBEHNRHIEHNER DB REMB AT REEM

2020 ANNUAL REPORT £#R 3
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Contractual Arrangements”

[BAZHE]

“Corporate Governance Code”

[TERSTA

“COVID-19”

[COVID-19]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Doumob Technology”

[Z 8RB

“ESOP Holdings”

[ESOP Holdings |

“Evan Global”

[Evan Global ]

“Global Offering”

[BHEE]

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

certain contractual arrangements entered into on 22 August 2018 by us
HEMR 201848 A22 AFTU WA TANLHE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

ERBIKT SR 14 FRE R EIA T A

coronavirus disease 2019, a coronavirus known to cause contagious
respiratory illness
2019 MR ER - @l ERMET RERBN —EHAER RS

the director(s) of the Company
KRRIES

Doumob (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (Z Bt R )R BB M ER 2 7))
(formerly known as Zhangshang Yunjing), a company incorporated under
the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 25 July 2013 and by virtue of the
Contractual Arrangements, accounted for as our subsidiary
FROAFOMERN AR LR - pIBELES - —HRN 201357 A 25 ARES
EEFMA I ERA R KA ST HHIEHE AT

YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI with limited liability on 9 May 2018, wholly-owned by Evan Global
YANGBIN GROUP LIMITED * —# 20184 5 A 9 BIRZ B R B & A0 it
FKZ# B AF) - B Evan Global 2 £ A

Evan Global Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 13 March 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Yang

Evan Global Holdings Limited - —f4 20184 3 A 13 BIREEB R B &40
A 5 R ER B EEN AT

the public offering of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the public in
Hong Kong and the international offering (as defined respectively in the
Prospectus) of 98,900,000 Shares for subscription by the institutional,
professional, corporate and other investors

REE AR E 98,900,000 KA AR ARRERNBEREE (FEHFIAHBKRE
£) 98,900,000 LA 3 LA S - X - DRI R HMREERE



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Group”, “we” or “us”

[ RSB ekl )

“HK$” and “HK cents”
[T ] R Al ]

“Hongdao Investment”
[5hEHRE ]
“Hong Kong”

&%)

“H5”

[H5]

“HKFRS”
[EEN B2

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

(B %£=77 ]

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and companies whose financial resultrsr
have been consolidated and accounted as the subsidiaries of our Company
by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company of
our current subsidiaries, the business operated by such subsidiaries or their
predecessors (as the case may be)
RREREFBEHEBRRIARM B EERBENTEES HFARARIIERR AN
BRBERE - KN EMIE - RARFRLAREEER G M E R TR A R AT
MME @ Z5WMBARSER S (RFBERME)MELENER

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

FRREER BT

Chengdu Hongdao No. 5 Chuangye Investment Center (Limited Partnership)
(P EBeLERSRAIEIRERO(BREE)), a limited partnership established
under the laws of the PRC on 24 November 2017 and a shareholder of
Doumob Technology

REBLERRAERETO(BERERE) - —HR2017F 11 H24 BRIEHBEAR
RIZWBREBEE  REBEREHKRE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EIEBRRIITE R

a markup language used for structuring and presenting content on the
internet, with detailed processing models to encourage more interoperable
implementations, which can be used to develop interactive advertisinga
markup language used for structuring and presenting content on the World
Wide Web, which is the fifth and current major version of the HTML standard
AREEMERERSHEANRNELES  AAFANREEE - FERNTES
HE®RE HOARREANEEEPEBRENMERANETNEDESRLEE R
HTML 226 58 T {8 K% 8 A #) = 2R

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BB S AR

any person or entity who is not considered a connected person of our
Company or an associate of any such person within the meaning under the
Listing Rules

WHARFEEALREMZZALHBEA(ERER LHRADBOEMALRER
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ EFRATT A )

“Listing Date”
[ £ A H
“Listing Rules”
[ EmRa]

“Listing”
[E7)

“Model Code”
[1Z=4E<FAI]

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEE]

“Prospectus”
[BRER]

“R&D”
[ |

“Remuneration Committee”

et

“Reporting Period”
[ ¥R 5

“RMB”
[AR®

“RSU(s)”
[ S2FR i B £ B84 |

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

20 April 2021, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report for ascertaining certain information in this annual report
20214 20 B » BIAFE®MAENR RETEAFRAHE TEHNRZERERAIITH
5

the date on which the Shares initially commenced their dealings on the Stock
Exchange, i.e. 14 March 2019
R PrERFIGEE 2 A - B120196 3 A 14 R

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

BT S LT AR (SRR ET)

listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
AR OB 2 PR AR BT

the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
EHRAIBTER 10 AEEY ET BT AEFHITES X HHIRESTA

the nomination committee of the Board
EETRELET

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 28 February 2019
ARREITFIEBHIA2019F 2 A 28 HHBRER

research and development
5T M g

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEeHWEES

the year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F 12 A31BILFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEUEEEB AR

restricted share units granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme
IR PR I AR 15 BEAL 5+ &% HH 7 2 BR il AR 15 B2



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“SaaS”

[SaaS]

“senior management”
BRERE ]

“Share(s)”

[ A7 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R

“Stock Exchange”
[ B8 22 P |

“Summer Holdings”
[ Summer Holdings |
“URL(s)”

[URL]

“US$”

=

“Yamei Yunhe”

[EEER

“Zhangshang Yunjing”

wgp

[%]

software as a service, a software licensing and delivery model in which
software is licensed on a subscription basis and is centrally hosted
HRIRR - —REERT A KRR - R TR 7 rEFHE BET -
FHZETARE

the senior management of the Company
ARASRERRE

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.001 each in the issued share capital of the
Company
RARBBEITIRAH FREE 0.001 BT EEAX

holder(s) of Shares
R FH A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBARSMERAR

Summer Holdings Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the BVI
on 13 April 2018 and wholly owned by Ms. Chen Xiaona

Summer Holdings Limited * —RE/A 2018 4 4 A 13 BARIE 58 iE 2 BY & A fl 5 1
KW ERRET -2 EHEHAF

uniform resource locator, commonly known as a web address

B—BREMS - —REEMLL

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EBUEAEE]EET

Beijing Yamei Yunhe Technology Company Limited (dtRIEEZMEIR AR A
A]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on 9 July 2014 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Doumob Technology

I FREEEMREARAF - —MR2014F7 A9 BREFREAEFEMAIHR
A REBRRBENEENRBAR

Beijing Zhangshang Yunjing Technology Company Limited (dtR% FESH}
K ABR/ATF]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 25 July 2013 and the predecessor of Doumob Technology
TRELESREARAT - —MR2013F 7 A25 BRIEFEREFMARINE
RAR - AT BEREAR S

percent
ATt
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEg

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairman & co-chief executive officer) Gk (FEFHETHAREER)
Mr. Huang Kewang (co-chief executive officer) SR EE(BHETRAER)

Mr. Meng Dawei (appointed on 16 April 2021) FARBREE(R2021F4 516 HEZE(E)

Ms. Fan Zijing (appointed on 16 April 2021) BT LT (R202144 516 HEZ(E)

Non-executive Director FHTES

Mr. Liu Ailun 2wk E
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYKHTES
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong PRI o

Mr. Liu Binghai 2mgEE

Mr. Wang Yingzhe FRERBELE
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Chairperson) FRIB I (E/E)
Mr. Liu Binghai 2mgEE

Mr. Wang Yingzhe FERBLE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

Mr. Liu Binghai (Chairperson) RIMEEREERE)
Mr. Yang Bin 15X

Mr. Wang Yingzhe FEBEE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEE

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairperson) SRk (FE)
Mr. Liu Binghai 2mg s E

Mr. Wang Yingzhe FRELE

DOUMOB ZERK AR T



CORPORATE INFORMATION
AEEHM

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Yang Bin

Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty (ACIS, ACS)

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
25th Floor, Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISOR
Gram Capital Limited
Room 1209, 12th Floor

Nan Fung Tower

88 Connaught Road Central/173 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS
As to Hong Kong law

William Ji & Co. LLP

(in Association with Tian Yuan Law Firm Hong Kong Office)

Suites 3304-3309, 33/F, Jardine House
One Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong

V7
<

ARRE

FRIELZ T (ACIS, ACS)

RERE
FOREZ L (ACIS, ACS)

B EED
BALREEGHMEHMERAF

BRE[

EMERBRAOA

B

TraE 885k REMET 1735
FMERE

12181209 =

R

B EE %D
EREMT(AREREEER)
(BRTTRMEBRE LD FHE)
BBTR

RS 1 5%

1 FN K2 331 3304-3309 &
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

As to PRC law

Jingtian & Gongcheng

34/F, Tower 3, China Central Place
77 Jianguo Road

Beijing

PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.doumob.com

STOCK CODE

1917

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS

3rd Floor

Junwang Mansion Complex

No. 19, Chaoyang Park South Road, Chaoyang District
Beijing

PRC

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

B BZ B
PR DR EB A

GE

il

EERE 77 5%
EBRLIRBFIES4E

DB

www.doumob.com

4455

1917

MEREEMHREE
Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman lIslands

#5R

FE

R
ARG B 195%
BEFGZAE

=B



CORPORATE INFORMATION
AEEHM

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40/F, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248, Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER

OFFICE

Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANK

China Construction Bank Dongsi Branch
Room 2296, Building No. 1

No. 17, Cangjingguan Hutong
Dongcheng District

Beijing

PRC

BEIRERMH

B
e
SEAER 2485

R & BH 04018

RIDBFZRHEE

Walkers Corporate Limited
190 Elgin Avenue George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008

Cayman lIslands

ERROBFERE
BBARRELFELAERAA
L

i

ERRBR 1835
BN

1718 1712-1716 554

FEAERRIT
REBERIRITROZAT
2

R

R R

R ER AR 17 57

11E 2296 =
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBEME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

ARRREMBARBEREMRFERENFER
BERBERERBEE S TIRNEERTBR

Company and its subsidiaries for the last five financial years, as

12

extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out FRIFERTX o
below.
RESULTS £
The Group NEEH
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 F 2019F 2018 F 2017 F 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFL | AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Revenue Wz 90,254 189,450 352,611 222,927 199,967
(Loss)/profit before income BRATBEIRS /(BRI
tax credit/(expense) (B18) /# 7 (76,319) 10,601 42,866 34,414 32,422
Income tax credit/(expense)  FrERiE®,(BX) 1,541 314 297 (246) (7,590)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER),/EF (74,778) 10,915 43,163 34,168 24,832
(Loss)/profit and total DTATEIEFEN(ERE)
comprehensive income for wAR2ENEEE
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company Vi/NCIEZ=IN (73,753) 10,917 43,219 34,761 23,524
Non-controlling interests R (1,025) (2) (56) (593) 1,308
(74,778) 10,915 43,163 34,168 24,832
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AERAR
The Group rEE
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 & 20194 20184 2017 % 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ANREFL | AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Total assets BEHE 266,094 328,100 312,579 159,005 112,131
Total liabilities BEHE 44,536 27,755 72,585 31,353 29,237
Equity attributable to: AT AT MR
Owners of the Company AAREA A 221,350 299,112 238,758 124,948 79,428
Non-controlling interests IR = 208 1,233 1,236 2,704 3,466
221,558 300,345 239,994 127,652 82,894

DOUMOB

TEMRARAT



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREHREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board and management of Doumob, | present our
2020 Annual Report to our Shareholders.

The financial year 2020 was a challenging year to the market of
interactive advertising. Under the worldwide outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, coupled with the profound
and complicated changes in the international situation, the global
economic development is undergoing tremendous challenges. In
face of the complex external environment and uncertain trough,
we prevail over hardships and stably build up the core team.
Meanwhile, we have established comprehensive industry-academia-
research collaborations with colleges and technology and research
institutes, together forming an innovative system of industry-
academia-research alliances. We are committed to promote product
upgrades, and launched series of products such as interactive

video marketing cloud SaaS.

As an innovative interactive advertising technology company,
Doumob adheres to the values of “focusing on customers, essence,
systems and long-term development”, and is committed to building
an “empowering” business model characterized by both social
and economic values. Through interactive advertising technology
and Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS, we are able to provide
customers with targeted advertising services, provide media
publishers with efficient monetization services and provide all
enterprises with solutions of marketing integration of public and
private domains, so as to fully meet the values and demands of

enterprises and synergize with one another.

BAIER

AAERRCEESSNEEE  HRERRER
2020 FEMRE ©

C00MBRFEEHRESESERMBMNS 2
FEMPKEA) —F - IEM AR IBEEFEBRIK -
mz BERaEAERATERNELL  BEIRE
BEERERE RS - MY HEGEHENINTIRER
MAEEANEAEE  BHMERRACHRRER -
BAELzOEN  RSERR - BT
2HENESHEERR - LEBKESHEBRA
MBR BETBHEERAR TATEDHR
A IHE SaaSE RYIEM °

THRERAMFEHEERMAR AR
Pl TEEARE ] TBEES]  [BTREIN
BES BRPERALSEENLEEESE
B[R RE M IR REE - BB EEEERMMER
LI E SaaS REPREBERBURY - RIE
BHMERHSUERRYE - RAENBERM
RILFEHE—RBENBRRTR - 2EBMREEDN
BEFRK  BRKE -

2020 ANNUAL REPORT ##R
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITREHREE

INTERACTIVE ADVERTISING BUSINESS

The escalated tensions in the US-China trade war and the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic imposed downward pressure on the
global economy and intensified the market competition of the
industry. In 2020, the resumption of operation and production of the
Company’s customers was impeded by the COVID-19 pandemic
to a varying extent, with many brands reducing their budget and
pace of advertising, which led to the downscaling of our interactive

advertising business.

In order to reinforce our sustainable development, we continued
to make investments in R&D to innovate and develop interactive
advertising technology, and moderately adjust operating strategies,
so as to tackle the uncertainty challenges brought by the changes
in the objective economic environment. During the second half of
2020, we succeeded to halt the downward trend of our interactive

advertising business.

During 2020, the Company has been highly recognized by
customers in regard to our interactive advertising technology
innovative development. We are listed in the “WISE2020 Enterprise
Service Gold List” (WISE2020 1Ak #%), and was awarded the Best
Solution in Marketing and Customer Management.

SHORT VIDEO MARKETING CLOUD Saa$S

In 2020, while we continued to reinforce and innovate the interactive
advertising technology, we facilitated product upgrades, and explored
the application and empowerment of Short Video Marketing Cloud
SaaS in different fields. We launched our WeChat ecosystem-based
private traffic operation platform, WeChat mini program “Rainbow Mini
Video” (FUI/MRSE), Interactive Advertisement Management Platform
Saa$S as well as new products of the Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS
series. Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS gained market recognition
within its business expansion phase, and obtained the first batch of
paying customers. Our Company is striving rapidly towards marketing
integration of public and private domains.

DOUMOB EERIZERAT

EBRERERSE

TEEFHNERREURFEABRES
(COVID-19)RBEMEH  LEHEEHRT T
TTEBN  BHITEHEFME - 2020F - £HE
RIEBREDRE - ARRFPHEIRENL TR
EXM - RZmEnEEEREER RIRRERR
B BHARTEPESEHRETHE -

REEATRHERR  BRMABERAMENE £
MEROBESRM - WEEHBELRE - U
158 e B R B A IR IR B L M) B 7 SR O N RREE 1
Bl o M2020F T HF  HMBHIETESES
EBEWT BB -

20204 + AN A AL B B) & & £ Al 37 %
BAABIHTEFPMNGERT . KMEE
[WISE2020 k&5 ] - WS EHEHEERE
BRERRTR]E-

ERIEE HE SaasS

2020F - RMEFAZEMEMESEER
MR HEERAR RREFEEHE
SaaSEZ BB EE - WM TER
WisEENAEREEETZ - [RIU/MESEIMN
EEF  BEHESEIEFESaaS U R ERE
&8 E SaaS RIBIFEM - MRIEE HE SaaS
TEEBRMBBREE TSR - BETE it
RBREF - AREIEHERREE 51 E
PR ATHE ©



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREHREE

We fully demonstrated the spirit of volunteerism in the fight against
the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. We proactively participated in
the anti-epidemic activities, and applied the “Rainbow Mini Video”
technology in social welfare, realizing digital upgrades in social
welfare. 2020 is the year of decisive victory to the tough battle
against poverty of China. Under the guidance of the poverty
alleviation policies of China, as the technological empowering party,
we were awarded the Best Organization Service Award (&&fEH
Ak 7%2€) and the Outstanding Broadcasting Contribution Award
(EMEEEBZE) in a short video activity organized by the China
Television Drama Production Industry Association under the theme
of “Reducing Poverty and Sharing Prosperity” (E#f/NE » HREHE).
Moreover, our Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS effectively helped
Huade County, Ulangab City, Inner Mongolia open up the integrated
channel of supply and sales, promoting the development of its local

economy.

Despite the ongoing uncertainties in the current market environment,
we are confident in the development of our interactive advertising

business and Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS business.

Looking forward, there are both opportunities and obstacles. Yet,
we will uphold our hardworking spirit all along, face up to the
challenges of market competition and uncertainty, strengthen our
existing foundation, and actively forge ahead, so as to motivate the
sustainable quality development of the Company.

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express the gratitude to all fellow
members of the Group for their relentless effort in the development

of the Group.

Yang Bin
Chairman
29 March 2021

20204 -+ 1E #1 B ¥ A 7 AR % = (COVID-19) fib
KREBF  BMRSBELTRERS  BHRLHR
MEBEIFENTE - BRI/ NREIRTERSA
@mBEEF BRETRAZMNET(EAR - 20204F
RPERBREBEMRBEZF - P EKEHERD
B3I - BPERSIIEEE T EREEREIR
EEXREEROUIETNE KBBERE
BORGREDP  REKEEABRBE]
[EMEFREBE] - o BRMHEBRIFEH
ESaaSEMMENAT & SHRMmLEE&T
BT HENE —R(CRE - B TH B
JE °

HAEHNNTHEREDAFESE S THEMER
Z ERMUEHESEBRREREALHESE
SaaS EMHERIFTMEL °

RERK  WEBHERNHERAE - RAIBREA—EDN
BRE B - DE M5BT M N HEE MRk
8 SERAER  BEFEDER  HBHRFAS
HERBERR-

AANERREFERAAKEN KB BUAH
0 BRHBUHARENERMNT LTS
A

IR
E
2021453 A 29H
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEERE

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, of which four are
executive Directors, one is non-executive Director and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets forth

information regarding the Directors.

Name Age Position

#H& FiR Bifs

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Yang Bin 42 Chairman, executive Director and Co-CEO
Lyt 42 FF - ITESFRBFEITRER

Mr. Huang Kewang 29 executive Director and Co-CEO
|mRMTE 29 HMITEERBETRAR

Mr. Meng Dawei 39 executive Director

BRBEE 39 WITES

Ms. Fan Zijing 35 executive Director

BMEELL 35 BITES

Non-executive Director

FBITES
Mr. Liu Ailun 29 Non-executive Director
BN Mo E 29 FEHITES

Independent non-executive Directors

BAFHTES

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong 56 Independent non-executive Director
BRI 56 BIERITES

Mr. Liu Binghai 50 Independent non-executive Director
Bl o=yt 50 B IERITES

Mr. Wang Yingzhe 50 Independent non-executive Director
FHEEEE 50 BIYERITESE
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT i \

EENEAREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Bin (# 3 ), aged 42, is an executive Director, the
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of our Group. He
is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and
decision-making of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, From May 2009 to September 2011,
Mr. Yang served as chief operating officer in Beijing Gaoyang
Shengsiyuan Information Technology Company Limited (1t =5 &
BEEZEBEHMARAT). From September 2011 to December 2014,
Mr. Yang served as director and chief executive officer in Beijing
Quanmeihui Technology Company Limited (dt X2 EEREAR A
Al).

Mr. Yang, the co-founder of our Group, has more than 10 years’
experience in the mobile advertising industry, he started to serve
our Group since July 2013, where he is responsible for forming our
business model and coordinating the relationships between our
advertising platform and media publishers. He served as the chief
executive officer and the chairman of the board in Zhangshang
Yunjing from December 2014 to October 2016. Since October 2016,
Mr. Yang has been served as the chairman, a Director and the chief
executive officer in Doumob Technology and has been in charge of
the overall management, strategic planning and decision-making of

Doumob Technology.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor's degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Armored Force Engineering Institute (1t 53
FETEEE) in July 2000.

Mr. Huang Kewang (#E 5 BE), aged 29, is the executive Director
and co-chief ececutive officer of the Company since 12 September
2019. He also served as the chairman of the supervisory committee
of Doumob Technology from October 2016 to April 2020. He has

over 7 years’ working experience in this industry.

Mr. HUANG received his bachelor’'s degree in automation from

Beijing Institute of Fashion Technology in 2013.
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Mr. Meng Dawei (& K %% ), aged 39, has been appointed as
the executive Director on 16 April 2021. He joined our group in
November 2018 as the technology director and became our vice
president since December 2020. Prior to the joining of our Group,
Mr. Meng has more than 12 years working experience related to
information technology. From September 2017 to November 2018,
he served as the technology director at Beijing Danmu Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Jt REREBLEEIER A A]), where he was
responsible for the overall management of information technology
related affairs. From July 2011 to September 2017, he served
as a deputy technology director at Leshi Internet Information &
Technology Corp., Beijing.* (28485 MUt =) BRMHBER AR,
where he was responsible for research and development online

platform.

Mr. Meng received his bachelor's degree in software engineering
from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications in July
2006.

Ms. Fan Zijing (#F &), aged 36, has been appointed as the
executive Director on 16 April 2021. She joined our Group in April
2018 as the human resource director. Prior to the joining of our
Group, Ms. Fan has more than 10 years working experience in
the field of human resource. From August 2012 to April 2018, she
served as a human resource manager at Beijing Litian Unlimited
Network Technology Co., Ltd*(dd R W K ERBE B M ER A
Al ), where she was responsible for recruitment and employee
relationship maintenance. From October 2009 to August 2012,
she served as a human resource specialist at Interactive Peak
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (E8IERHE(ILF)ERAQF), where
she was responsible for recruitment and other human resource

related affairs.

Ms. Fan received her bachelor’s degree in international nursing from
Hunan University of Chinese Medicine in July 2009.

Ms. Zhou Zoe, aged 37, joined our group in March 2019 as chief
marketing officer. Prior to the joining of our group, Ms. Zhou has

more than 10 years’ working experience in media industry.

Ms. Zhou received her bachelor's degree in finance from the
University of Adelaide in 2007 and her master’'s degree in

communications from the University of Sydney in 2009.

Ms. Zhou has resigned as an executive Director on 17 April 2020.
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Ms. Luo Yanhong (ZE%4T), aged 49, is an executive director
and chief financial officer of our Group since March 2020. She is

responsible for overseeing the financial affairs of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Luo worked as a director and chief
financial officer in Sino Geophysical Co., Ltd. GEgel8{2 8L R BT
DAEMRAT), a company listed on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300191), from March 2006 to July
2015. She served as a director, chief financial officer and secretary
to the board in Huahui (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (b 5 2 8&E 5%
sERE MM AR AT), a company listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (ZBF /N EBHEZEZRLG) (stock code:
838253) in August 2016 and later delisted in April 2019, from August
2015 to December 2016. Ms. LUO served as chief financial officer
and secretary to the board in Zhongdi Baolian (Beijing) Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd. (i BEH UL ) H Lt ERPERMEAEEER
BIRAF), a limited liability company incorporated in China, from
January 2017 to February 2020.

Ms. Luo received her bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in 1997; She received
her MBA in economic management from City University of Macau

CEPIEMAE) in 2013.

Ms. Luo resigned as an executive Director and the chief financial
officer on 16 April 2021.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Liu Ailun (8] ¥ f& ), aged 29, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 10 January 2020. Since 2017, Mr. Liu has
been an investment director (3% & # 25 )in BlueFocus Intelligent
Communications Group Co., Ltd(db 3 & & S 1Z 8t B (5
R 2 7 ), one of our substantial shareholders having 14.29%
shareholding interest in the Company.

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from University
of California, at Berkeley in 2013.

Ms. Wang Ge (E48), aged 39, was an non-executive Director of
our Group since August 2018. She was responsible for supervising

the management of our Group.

From August 2006 to March 2008, Ms. Wang served as an auditor in
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian (¥#ExEP RS 5EIERHT) .
From March 2008 to September 2014, she served as an attorney
in Freshfields bruckhaus Deringer (HE&EmEEAMERFT). From
October 2014 to February 2017, she served as an attorney in Davis
Polk & Wardwell LLP (EBZE#ERIFHFT) . Since March 2017, Ms.
Wang has been served as the head of legal affairs department in
Blue Focus.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (EBER/NEINEAEZE ) in June
2002 and later received her master’'s degree in laws from Peking
University (A6 FRKE) in July 2006. She also received her master’s
degree in international tax law from the law school of New York
University (41%)K2) in September 2009.

Ms. Wang Ge has resigned as a non-executive director of the

company with effect from 10 January 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (BR¥E), aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director since February 2019. He is responsible for

supervising our Board and providing independent judgment.

Mr. Chan has over 30 years of diversified experience in auditing,
business advisory and corporate management. He currently serves
as an independent non-executive Director of A8 New Media Group
Limited (stock code: 800.hk), a joint company secretary of Hi
Sun Technology (China) Limited (stock code: 818.hk), and a joint
company secretary of PAX Global Technology Limited (& & REkFE
B AT) (stock code: 327.hk), all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’'s degree in social sciences in 1988. He was admitted as a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in 2002 and 2005, respectively.

Mr. Liu Binghai (21/#&), aged 50, served as an independent non-
executive Director since 2019. He is responsible for supervising our
Board and providing independent judgment.

Since December 2010, Mr. Liu has been served as the chief
executive officer in Beijing Zhangshangwang Technologies
Company Limited (bt RE LR BMR A 7). Since June 2016,
Mr. Liu has been served as a director in Zhejiang Merit Interactive
Network Technology Co., Ltd. GHI & B EE@ERIERHERAF).

Mr. Liu received his master's degree in machinery manufacturing
from Beijing University of Technology (3t R T K& )in 1996. He
received his EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(RITRERE) in 2009.
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Mr. Wang Yingzhe (E%#), aged 50, served as an independent
non-executive directors since 2019. He is responsible for
supervising our Board and providing independent judgment. From
June 1997 to August 2009, Mr. Wang served as attorney and
subsequently a partner in Jingtian & Gongcheng (4t = # R 2
EIEET) . In 2009, Mr. Wang founded Fenxun Partners (3
2EME5AT) and served as the managing partner since then. Mr.
Wang was formerly the independent director of Shenyang Xingqi
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (EEERZERDBRAR), a company
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300573) till
January 2018; and Xi’an Huajiang Environmental Technologies Co.,
Ltd. (AZFETIREREKRMHAERAF), a company listed on NEEQ
(stock code: 833147) till October 2019.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor’s degree in laws from the law
school of Jilin University (F M AEE5Z87 ) in 1992 and he received
his master’'s degree in laws from University of California, Berkeley in
2008.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Yang Bin (#53&) , see “— Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. Huang Kewang (# %= B ), see “— Executive Directors” for

details.

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

FRE%%E  508%  E2019%F 1 BB IEH
TEE BEEBESSREMHBLHE - R®
1997 F 6 AZE2009F 8 A + TAEEMNI AR
RAHEMEBEABREFRMRERA - R
2009 « FHREBNERARMEBAT - BILE
TEHRITAEA - HE2018F 1 AREZE 2019
F10A TRAZHRNEGRERERN A
RAR(—HRRYEER G ETHAGT - ]
5% - 300573) R AR E TIRIREI KN B
RAR(—REREF = IREEN AR - RO
833147)EX B ES -

THER 1992 FMBEMABARRARSL
Bz - 37 2008 4 B/ MR HE/B 25 A B A B 5
BEEBE B -

EREEE
BXRELE - BRAFBEEZMAI— BTESE]
EREAL  AUHBHESHI— TES]



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

OVERVIEW

We are an operator of innovative performance-based interactive
advertising platform and SaaS service provider of integrated
marketing solutions of public and private domains in the PRC.
Our proprietary advertising platform and technologies provide
advertisers with targeted advertising services and provide media
publishers with systematic traffic monetizing solutions; Short
Video Marketing Cloud SaaS, a new product we launched during
the Reporting Period, provides integrated marketing solutions of
public and private domains to customers, helping them to realize
their business value efficiently. Our vision is to empower media
publishers of all sizes to unlock their value, and to empower all
enterprises to achieve marketing integration of public and private
domains.

As an innovative operator of performance-based interactive
advertising platform and SaaS service provider of integrated
marketing solutions of public and private domains in the PRC,
we are committed to building a programmatic mobile advertising
platform and marketing cloud products following an “empowering”
business model characterized by both social and economic values.
Leveraging on our proprietary advertising business platform which
directly connects advertisers with media publishers, we provide
advertisers with targeted advertising services to optimize their
mobile advertisements and achieve their objectives of acquiring
revenue-generating users. Our H5 short video cloud platform
demonstrates the advertising efficacy of quality and effectiveness
in one go, and provides customers with the “Empowerment Plan
(B geEF&0) . Through our short video cloud platform activating
connection with users in both domains, we help content creators,
media publishers and advertisers to build private traffic and

enhance their business value.

In 2020, we continued to promote product upgration and launched
Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS products, assisting enterprises
to grow rapidly with a digital mindset and a brand new marketing
model. Our Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS products intelligently
analyze data such as interactions, followers demographic
information, target or potential customers, with an aim to integrate
and optimize activities, users, content and traffic, thus improving
broadcasting efficiency and conversion effect, efficiently solving
traffic monetization in the private domain and comprehensively

improving the ability to acquire customers to realize value growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

During the Reporting Period, we continued to develop the interactive
advertising business and continued to upgrade our products to
keep abreast of the development of the interactive advertising
industry. Revenue from the interactive advertising business and
the business of Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS, a new product,
amounted to RMB83,105 thousand (representing 92.1% of the total
revenue) and RMB30,000 respectively.

Comparing to the corresponding period in 2019, our total
revenue in 2020 decreased by 52.4% mainly attributable to
(1) the escalated tensions in the US-China trade war and the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in late 2019, which imposed
downward pressure on the global economy and intensified the
market competition of the industry. The resumption of operation
and production of the Company’s customers was impeded by the
COVID-19 pandemic to a varying extent, which resulted in the
reduced volume and pace of the investments in advertising, and led
to the decrease of the Company’s total revenue; (2) the Company
continued to promote its product upgration and launched the Short
Video Marketing Cloud Saa$S business, which was still in the market
expansion stage, and obtained the first batch of paying customers
in 2020; but since the business expansion was impeded by the
COVID-19 pandemic, the promotion effects and the scale of revenue
generated did not meet expectations.

During 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic ravaged the world. Under
the strong leadership of the PRC government together with the
coordination and guidance of the local governments where the
Company operates businesses, we seriously implemented all anti-
epidemic measures, overcame the difficulties altogether, and
systematically adopted contingency measures such as working
online. Under the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, competition of
the industry where our Company operates further intensified while
the resumption of operation and production of the upstream and
downstream industries were also influenced to a varying extent. In
face of the complex external environment and uncertain trough, we
continued to promote product upgration, and stably built up the
technology team. Meanwhile, we have established comprehensive
industry-academia-research collaborations with colleges and
technology and research institutes, together forming an innovative
system of industry-academia-research alliances, and achieved
product and technology advancements to overcome the hurdles of
the Company’s business development brought by the deteriorating

global economic environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

In 2020, we kept on taking advantage of our technological
competitiveness and innovative mechanism. We succeeded to halt
the downward trend of our interactive advertising business, and
won high recognition from long-term customers in the industry. On
the basis of our solid competitiveness in interactive advertising
technologies, we promoted product upgration, and focused on
the development of marketing cloud products. With Short Video
Marketing Cloud SaaS products as the core, we acquired several
intellectual property rights in technology: WeChat ecosystem-based
private system, Doumob marketing system of private domain effects,
Doumob operation platform of private domains, Doumob SaaS
Content Marketing System, Doumob integrated marketing system
of public and private domains, WeChat mini program “Doumob
Short Video”, Doumob mini program “Mall System”, Xiaodou (/\
) Customer Acquisition Robot Service System, Xiaodou Customer
Acquisition SaaS System, Xiaodou Hawk Eye Data Insight System,
etc..

During the Reporting Period, we took full advantages of the
application technology of H5 short video cloud platform and Short
Video Marketing Cloud SaaS products into the context of digital
public welfare. During the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
solicited and broadcasted high-quality videos with positive content
for the prevention and control of the epidemic through our H5 short
video cloud platform and “Rainbow Mini Video (F2UL/NESE)”, a
WeChat mini program. In the end, thousands of content creators
submitted more than 7,000 works, generating over 1.20 million
views and 0.14 million shares. Fully utilizing our competitiveness
in technology R&D, we opened up a public welfare communication
channel on Doumob short video cloud platform and achieved
digitalization upgration of public welfare, forming a complete dual
empowerment solution to acquire customers by the most efficient
methods in the long run. In September 2020, as the technological
empowering party, we were awarded the Outstanding Broadcasting
Contribution Award (& j# {5 #& & Bf #£) and the Best Organization
Service Award (S {ELARTEEE) in an activity organized by the short
video working committee of the China Television Drama Production
Industry Association under the theme of “Reducing Poverty and
Sharing Prosperity” (£47/\FE » 3kBEE ) . In December 2020, under
the guidance of the poverty alleviation policies of China, we helped
Huade County solve the issue of sluggish sales of local products,
and organized activities such as “Finding the Fairest Huade
Ambassador”, eventually succeeded to open up the integrated
channel of supply and marketing, promoting the development of its
local economy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED

During the Reporting Period, while we innovated and developed
our interactive advertising business in a steady manner, we actively
explored the application and empowerment of Short Video Marketing
Cloud SaaS in different fields. Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS
gained market recognition in its business expansion phase, and
obtained the first batch of paying customers. It is striving rapidly
towards marketing integration of public and private domains. In
respect of the education and training industry, Xiaodou Customer
Acquisition products aimed to empower the training organizations.
We collaborated with various brands by means of Short Video
Marketing Cloud SaaS, and committed to enable every organization
to establish its own WeChat mini program, so that users can publish
user-generated content (UGC) therein, participate in voting and
carry out real-time interactions, hence helping followers become
key opinion consumers (KOC). Consequently, we helped offline
education and training organizations boost efficiency in customer
acquisition and thus lowered their marketing costs. Looking at the
market, Xiaodou Customer Acquisition is a business empowerment
software, which helped businesses to solve the problem of high
marketing costs by transforming brands into communities, achieving
“malls + content” marketing and acquiring customers based on the
key opinion leaders (KOL) empowerment, thus to solve the issues
alongside the entire marketing chain of customer acquisition method

changed from offline to online.

We upheld the spirit of craftsman and continued to conduct
technology R&D, insist on product innovation and strengthen our
technological ability. Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS effectively
combines technologies with different scenarios, satisfying the
function attributes as well as the content scenario attributes of social
fission, and provided competitive solutions of marketing integration

of public and private domains, thus creating value for customers.
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 COMPARED TO

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The following table sets forth the comparative statements of profit or

loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the year ended 31

December 2019.

h/ %
’/

BE2020512 A31 BELFEREBE

2019512 A31 HILFEELLE

For the year ended 31 December

TREHNEHE2020F12A31 B ILFEREE
2019F 12 A31 HILFELEEBMEZEE °

Year-on-year

HZ12A31ALEE AL
2020 2019 change %
2020 F 20194 BHHAN
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR#®F) (AREFr)
Revenue Wi 90,254 189,450 (52.4)%
Cost of sales SHE R AR (81,518) (137,144) (40.6)%
Gross profit 5 8,736 52,306 (83.3)%
Other income and other net H g A R H A
gains/(losses) Wz, (BE) 8 1,190 8,089 (85.3)%
Change in fair value of: INTEEN AR EZE)
— financial assets at fair value — ZAREFABEN
through profit or loss MBEE 1,487 700 112.4%
Selling and distribution HERDHAX
expenses (11,869) (10,730) 10.6%
Administrative expenses THAX (75,810) (39,719) 90.9%
Finance costs RbE AR (53) (45) 17.8%
(Loss)/profit before income BRATEHIERA
tax credit (E518),/HBF (76,319) 10,601 (819.9)%
Income tax credit FiSHiE % 1,541 314 390.8%
(Loss)/profit and total FR(ER),TBAR
comprehensive income 2HERHLTE
for the year (74,778) 10,915 (785.1)%
(Loss)/profit and total LT ALEEER
comprehensive income (BB BiREE
for the year attributable to: W 45
Owners of the Company RNARHEAA (73,753) 10,917 (775.6)%
Non-controlling interests FEPERR (1,025) (2) 51,150.0%
(74,778) 10,915 (785.1)%
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REVENUE

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019:

iy 58

TRE‘HNERPEZ 20204 K 20194 12 H31 B
IFFERUREERAA

For the year ended 31 December

BE12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194

(% of total (% of total

(RMB’000) revenue) (RMB’000) revenue)

(i 25 (thiez

(AR¥TF) BEEA) (ARBFr) HBEEE 7 It)

Interactive advertising EEES 83,105 92.1% 161,933 85.5%

— Technology services — RMTRRH 83,022 92.0% 151,931 80.2%

— Intermediary services — RN R 83 0.1% 10,002 5.3%

Non-interactive advertising FEEES 5,913 6.6% 26,394 13.9%
Short Video Marketing ERFEEHESaaS

Cloud SaaS products Em 30 0.1% — —

Online sales services B EERK 1,206 1.2% 1,123 0.6%

Total Het 90,254 100.0% 189,450 100.0%

For the year ended 31 December 2020, total revenue was
approximately RMB90.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 52.4% as compared with 2019. This was mainly
attributable to 1) tensions in the US-China trade war and the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in late 2019, which imposed
downward pressure on the global economy and intensified the fierce
market competition in the interactive advertising industry; and 2) the
resumption of the work and production of the Company’s upstream
and downstream enterprises in the industry were impeded by the
COVID-19 pandemic to a certain extent, which resulted that the
volume, pace and budgetary of the investment in advertising by the
customers were reduced, and led to the lower-than-expected return

on Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS products.
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COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales was approximately RMB81.5 million in 2020,
representing a decrease of approximately 40.6% as compared
with 2019. This was mainly attributable to a decrease of the traffic
acquisition cost to be paid to media publishers, which was in line

with the decrease of the total revenue.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Our gross profit was RMB8.7 million for 2020, representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 83.3%. Our gross profit margin
was 9.7% for 2020, as compared with 27.6% for 2019.

This decrease was mainly attributable to (1) the decrease of the total
revenue; and (2) during the outbreak of COVID-19, in consideration
of the long-term cooperation with the media publishers, we did not
cut off the expenditure to media publishers proportionally in the

case of decreased revenue.

EXPENSES
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of the sales
personnel’s salaries and benefits. The selling and distribution
expenses were RMB11.9 million for 2020, representing an increase
of 10.6% as compared with 2019. This was mainly attributable to the
increase of the market development expenses for the new product
Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff salaries
and benefits; (ii) expected credit losses on financial assets ; (iii)
amortization and depreciation charges; (iv) legal and professional
fee; (v) agent cost; (vi) short term lease expenses; (vii) R&D
expenditure; and (viii) Auditors’ remuneration. The administrative
expenses were RMB75.8 million for 2020, representing an increase
of 90.9% as compared with 2019. This was mainly attributable to
(1) the increase in the expected credit losses on financial assets;
(2) the increase in the amortization of intangible assets; and (3) the
increase in labour costs and third party consultancy fees resulting

from the promotion of product upgrade.

SHEMAR

BN 2020 FMHER AL AARESISHE
TC - B2019F /A 440.6% © TEHR WA
R EEEREE M E AR EEEK
AR AR -

EMRERNER

HBMR2020FMEFAARES7TEE L [
LER A #)83.3% © EFENR2020F £9.7% * M
2019 F A 527.6% °

AR T ERMRN (1) WA DR K (2)
FECOVID-19Z B HIFE - EREENRIMN - &
PIEU IR A B B SRR LR A KR8 B i
ST P

53

HERDHMEX
BANHEERD AT EIEBREHEAET SR
BH o HE R HMAIT R 2020F A ARE11.9
BEIL R2019F1EMN10.6%  TERAZH
ERERIESIEE SaaSH TSR E RN -

ITHRX

BAMTEAZEZERENOEIHEREM
(VM EERBEERRE (i) BHERITER
T (v)EERBEEER  (VRERA (vi)E
M ERZ - (vi) BB F 0 K (viii) 1% 2R B

% (TR R2020E B ARE758EHE T

2019 N190.9% * FBRAR (1) MIBEE
FBEEEEESM: QEFEERHEM: &
Q) REEERAL  ANKARFE=FEME
FAYG NFTER ©
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Income Tax Credit

Our income tax credit consist of current income tax and deferred
income tax. The income tax credit was RMB1.5 million for 2020
(2019: RMBO0.3 million), representing an increase of 390.8% as
compared with of 2019. This was mainly attributable to the increase
in deferred tax arising out of the temporary difference on provision
for impairment on trade receivables, contract assets and other
receivables. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the nominal
income tax rate for our major domestic operating entities was

approximately 25%.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial information which is
presented in accordance with HKFRS, we set forth below our
adjusted net (loss)/profit as an additional financial measure which
is not presented in accordance with HKFRS. We believe this is
meaningful, because the management has eliminated the potential
impacts of certain items which were not considered indicative of
our operating performance, and this would be useful for investors
to compare our financial results directly with those of our peer

companies.
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Adjusted net (loss)/profit eliminates the effect of certain non-cash
or non-recurring items, namely listing-related expenses and share-
based compensation expenses. The term “adjusted net (loss)/profit”
is not defined under HKFRS. The use of adjusted net (loss)/profit
has material limitations as an analytical tool, as adjusted net (loss)/
profit does not include all items that impact our net (loss)/profit for
the year. The following table reconciles our adjusted net (loss)/profit
for the periods indicated to the most directly comparable financial

measure calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS:

BB (ER), R FINRE TIERSHIER
HIRB W E - B LW ARRER S RIARRD R ER
MM e - [EABMER), 88 ] —RAR
BAVBRELNBATREEE - EREHABM
(B18),gAERI T TAFEERRE - RE
RSB (ER), SENE N RERE Y2 RN
FRFEEBR) CRFNER - TRABRPINAR
HIR MR (BIR), RN ERIEE BB
SRAGER I NRER LT BT ENE
BE :

For the 12 months ended
31 December
HZ12A31HI1E12/8A

2020 2019

2020 F 20194

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR¥TFT) (ARBFT)

(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EE)ER (74,778) 10,915
Add: /I

Listing-related expenses ETERERAY — 9,560

Share-based compensation costs LARR AR A E 0 BB & B AR 1,063 —

Adjusted net (loss)/profit RRRML(ER) RF (73,715) 20,475

In light of the foregoing limitations for other financial measures,
when assessing our operating and financial performance,
adjusted net (loss)/profit cannot be considered in isolation or as
a substitute for our (loss)/profit for the year, operating (loss)/profit
or any other operating performance measure that is calculated in
accordance with HKFRS. In addition, because such measure may
not be calculated in the same manner by all companies, it may
not be comparable to other similar titled measures used by other

companies.

R BB ERNRS - REHERMANE
ERMBREAR - TEREBEBLARMER)
Sa RIS A R B RBEFE I R E LA E K
FRER), a8 - L8 (BR), SaflskE R E
AL ERBHFE - UbIN - HRRBABERFY
AR AFEUIEE - EA— AR
AT EMEALA B O EFLER -
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FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As of 31 December 2020, our total equity was approximately
RMB221.6 million, as compared with approximately RMB300.3
million as of 31 December 2019. The total equity representing
a decrease of approximately 26.2% as compared with 2019.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the loss from operating

activities.

As of 31 December 2020, our net current assets were approximately
RMB146.2 million, as compared with approximately RMB233.2
million as of 31 December 2019. The net current assets representing
a decrease of approximately 37.3% as compared with 2019. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in cash as well as

the decrease in trade receivables and contract assets.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

31 December

B # IR

HE2020F12A8318  RFINESLENE
AR¥2216 B8 - MEIZ20194 12 A31H
Bl B ARMI00.3AE T - HIEFEE 2019
FRAD#26.2% c ZH P EEHNEEEBEE
BB FTER

HZ2020F12A318 ' MW RBEEFE
HNEBARE146285E T - MEE2019F 12 A
S1RBIKAARKE2332EET - RBEEZFE
B 2019F M #H37.3% - M ADETEMNIE S
WMAOE ZEBIEREKEERDATE -

RBESRMBER

31 December

2020 2019 Change %
2020 F 20194 BEES

12H31H 12431 H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR#TFT) (AEHFT)
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHERE 122,336 165,932 (26.3%)
Restricted funds ZREE 2 — — N/A REH
Banking facilities RITHRE — — N/AFREHR
Total st 122,336 165,932 (26.3%)

As of 31 December 2020, our cash at banks and on hand totalled
RMB122.3 million, as compared with RMB165.9 million as of 31
December 2019. The change was mainly attributable to the payment

of funds related to operating and investing activities.
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GEARING RATIO

As of 31 December 2020, our gearing ratio, which is calculated as
total liabilities divided by total assets, was 16.7%, as compared with
8.5% as of 31 December 2019.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditure includes expenditures on furniture, fixtures
and office equipment, computers and motor vehicles. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, the company has no capital expenditure

(2019: no capital expenditure).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

The Company did not have any significant investment, acquisition
and disposal for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of 31 December 2020, no property, plant and equipment were

pledged.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES

As of 31 December 2020, we did not have any unrecorded
significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or material litigation

against us.

BEERMBHLE

BEGBERIAEERETE B E2020F 12
A31ANEEAGELERA16.7%  MEZE2019
F£12A31HAA85% °

BEXMAX

B EAHTBERA HERPHAEHRE -
B MAEMMAY - HE2020412A318 1t
FE AQRWEEARL(2019F : EE AR
X) e

EARE - WBRHEE

HZE2020F 1231 HILFE » AR AW E(T
AEREE - WEREE -

BEEERR

HZE2020F 128310 BEGHETAMDE -
R R 55 A e

FAREBERER

HZE2020F 12 A31H » H A I 8 F 6] R L8R
HEAKAEE - BRIETHRFANERRER

B
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of 31 December 2020, our employee remuneration totaled to
approximately RMB25.2 million (including directors’ emoluments,
staff salary, bonus, share-based compensation, pension scheme
contribution, other social security fund and other employee benefits)
(31 December 2019: RMB25.4 million).

The remuneration of our employees is determined based on their
performance, experience, competence and market comparables.
Their remuneration package includes salaries, bonus related to our
performance, allowances and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes for employees in the PRC. The Company also provides
customized training to its staff to enhance their technical and

product knowledge.

The Company has adopted a restricted share unit scheme on 14
August 2018 and a restricted share award scheme on 7 May 2020
to recognise and motivate the contributions by its employees and
give incentives thereto in order to retain them, as well as to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group. Please
refer to the Prospectus, the announcement of the Company dated 7
May 2020 and pages 60 to 63 of this report for further details.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering in 2019 were
approximately HK$27 million, as calculated by deducting all
expenditures paid by us in connection with the Global Offering,
including those capitalized and expensed, from the gross proceeds
raised. During the year, there was no change in the intended use
of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus. As at
31 December 2020, the Company has utilised HK$19,290,000 of
the net proceeds from the Global Offering. For the amounts not
yet utilised, the Company will apply the remaining net proceeds in
the manner set out in the Prospectus. As at the date of this report,
pursuant to the Prospectus, the remaining proceeds is expected
to be fully utilized in 2022. As at 31 December 2020, the following
table sets out the breakdown of the use of proceeds from global

offering:
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As of 31 December 2020

HZ2020F12A 318

Percentage Net Utilised Unutilised
% Proceeds amount amount
e FBRERE EElEER ABALE
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET
To strengthen algorithm and data BRAREERSR
mining capabilities of programmatic BEEAIREIE
advertising system and to invest in BRENRIRE
other technologies in big data and HEiAEE R
artificial intelligence AT BaeHi 20% 5,400 4,587 813
To expand the base of advertisers and BRESEREE
media publishers B EER 20% 5,400 2,435 2,965
To invest in traffic acquisition cost for the ~BAEEEHEL
self-owned media publisher MEBIEAZA 20% 5,400 3,375 2,025
To pursue strategic cooperation, SREBAE  RE
investments and acquisition R M 10% 2,700 2,700 —
To enhance the functionality and HEEEELETA
architecture of the proprietary e KR
advertising platform 10% 2,700 1,961 739
To develop new products MAENER 5% 1,350 1,115 235
To expand and train our teams TR RIEE K 5% 1,350 466 884
For working capital and general corporate  2E&4 R —M%E
purposes R# 10% 2,700 2,651 49
Total ait 100% 27,000 19,290 7,710
Note: The difference between the actual net proceeds from the Wt BRRBREETRMEFIBEFEENE Y gifast
Global Offering and the previous estimation mainly represents ZBTEACMEEFRE PN EENIE
underwriting incentive fees overtime payment to intermediaries NMEBUALEMMEBEER  MEBESSE

and other miscellaneous fees which were determined after

listing.

TR ETREE °
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group has no significant events requiring disclosure after the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

OUTLOOK FOR 2021

Against the backdrop of China vigorously promoting 5G and an
era of online new economy, as an early entrant to the interactive
advertising market, we will continue to promote product upgration
in 2021, and fully grasp the underlying technology edges of the
5G industry by utilizing our new diversified development patterns
of “culture + technology, content + channel, data + technique”,
so as to maximize the application of our 5G technology to realize
empowerment in related industries online and offline. On the basis
of integrating different application scenarios and opening up media
resources, we will continue to spare no efforts in the application
of Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS product technology, data
analysis, scenario innovation and building customer loyalty, with an
aim to develop marketing cloud products with intelligent application
technologies suitable for all scenarios, therefore laying a solid
foundation for the long-term improvement of the Company’s core

competitiveness.

In order to maintain our long-term competitiveness and solidify our

market position and maintain our market share, we are planning to:

(1) closely monitor the COVID-19 pandemic and respond actively
to its potential impact. While broadening the source of
income and cutting costs, we will strengthen our diversified
competitiveness and improve our resilience to macro
environment risks by improving our abilities in technological
innovation and product R&D, so as to achieve sustainable

growth of the business scale.
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continue to focus on improving the strength of interactive
advertising technology, bettering advertising effectiveness
and media monetization efficiency. We intend to enhance our
strength in interactive advertising technology through ongoing
investments in R&D and help business scenarios to effectively
carry out content marketing, advertising, digitization and
intelligent analysis, and integrate and optimize organizations,
content and traffic, thus improving customers’ broadcasting
efficiency and transformation effect, and promoting overall
improvement in customers’ brand power, customer acquisition

ability and monetization ability.

endeavor to make innovations in the underlying technology
of the 5G industry. We plan to continue our investments in
technological innovations in interactive H5 videos, optimize
the interactive video cloud platform and provide customers
with the “Empowerment Plan” (F& 825 £l ), so that we can
help content creators, the media and advertisers build
private traffic and activate full connection with users through
our H5 video cloud platform, hence keeping improvement
of our marketing service ability and precise data insight
analysis ability, further enhancing their business value, and

strengthening our competitiveness.

endeavor to conduct research on marketing integration
solutions of public and private domains, and continue to
innovate Short Video Marketing Cloud SaaS products. In the
new era of SaaS scenario marketing, we will keep on investing
manpower and resources, exploring common applicable
scenarios and differentiate product demand. We will focus on
identifying fields such as education, retail, food and beverage,
banking, beauty, new media and traditional enterprises, and
actively find more quality customers. We are also scaling up
to satisfy customers’ customized needs, and stably improve
the core competitiveness and production efficiency of the
Company.

(=¥

(=

(m)

BEEINEA DRSS RIEE D Bl

BHER - HEERYE - HAFREER
BMBERARTESHESKMES - "
EBSIERETAREH B &K
BIERBEST - BES AR REHE
TERAEE(L  BARPHEEREME
LR REEFMEN - BEENME
BENWEREEET °

BAMBGEX MK E R aIF - %
SEIRAHSRAE B RMAIH - BLE
BRBEEFE  REEFIHEEE] &
SAMEPARAEE BRNESET
EREARE  BERMOHEREFE
AUERP O EEEE - ATEFA RN EH
IRIGRE N RABIENBIBREOMEE S - &
—SRITEBEEE  UEERMNHEF
# o

BHARMRDASELEEHE —BBRT
R OFEAFERELHESaaSER
£ SaaSH R & HHE K - RAFARA
ANRER  BZREAEERASEIME
ReERBR BEHZEHE TE £
R RTT - KE - KRR BREESR
o ERRABEZNEERTR - RELR
REFPEMAERFE R  BIRARAN
LR DR EED -

2020 ANNUAL REPORT ##R

37



38

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERH/E

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on principles of
integrity, accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility
and fairness. The Company has developed and implemented sound
corporate governance policies and measures, and the Board is
responsible for performing such corporate governance duties. The
Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance
of the Company, as well as various internal policies and procedures,
including but not limited to those applicable to employees and
Directors, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory
requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate

governance of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of the Code as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than code provision A.2.1,
which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the

same individual.

Mr. Yang is our founder, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer. With extensive experience in the online advertisement
industry, Mr. Yang is responsible for the overall management,
decision-making and strategy planning of our Group and is
instrumental to our Group’s growth and business expansion since
establishment. Since Mr. Yang is the key reason for our Group’s
development and he will not undermine our Group’s interests in any
way under any circumstances, our Board considers that vesting the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person,
Mr. Yang, would not create any potential harm to the interest of
our Group and it is, on the contrary, beneficial to the management
of our Group. On 12 September 2019, Mr. Huang Kewang was
appointed as a Co-CEO who began to perform the functions of
CEO together with Mr. Yang Bin. In addition, the operation of
the senior management and our Board, which are comprised of
experienced individuals, effectively checks and balances the power
and authority of Mr. Yang, as both the chairman and chief executive
officer of our Group. Our Board currently comprises four executive
Directors (including Mr. Yang), one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors and therefore has a fairly

strong independence element in its composition.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control
of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising
its affairs. The Board has general powers for the management and
is conducting the Company’s business. The day-to-day operations
and management are delegated by the Board to the management
of the Company, who will implement the strategy and direction as

determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, namely Mr. Yang Bin
(chairman and co-chief executive officer), Mr. Huang Kewang, Mr.
Meng Dawei and Ms. Fan Zijing as executive Directors, Mr. Liu Ailun
as non-executive Director, Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai and
Mr. Wang Yingzhe as independent non-executive Directors. None of
the Directors has a relationship (including financial, family or other
substantial or related relationship) with each other. The Board has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of

the business of the Company.

The biographies of the Directors the Company are set out on pages

16 to 22 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director of the
Company has entered into a service contract with the Company.
Each of independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
since the Listing Date or their respective date of appointments and
is subject to retirement by rotation at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. These service contracts and letters
of appointments are subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms. The term of the service contracts and the letters
of appointment may be renewed in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company, the Listing Rules and other applicable

laws.
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Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
Directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election, whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Any new director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy
in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions
to pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses,
discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other
benefits in kind) payable to the Directors of the Company for the

year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately RMB3.4 million.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company is determined
with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in

note 13 and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect

of legal proceedings against the Directors of the Company.

The procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense as required

pursuant to the Clause A.1.6 of the Code.
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During the period since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Board at all times complied with Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the
Board, of whom Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong is the Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be
independent.

Directors have access to the services of the company secretary
to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The company
secretary of the Company is Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty. In compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2020. Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty is
the vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited and appointed as the company secretary. Ms. So Shuk Yi
Betty has the necessary qualifications and experience as required
under Rule 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules. The main contact
person of Ms. So Shuk Yi Betty in the Company is Ms. Lei Yiran, the
securities affairs representative of the Company.

All Directors attended various trainings in the reporting period,
including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,
the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The
Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their

continuous professional development.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving
its internal systems, including those in relation to internal supervision

and control, and risk management.
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Board Meeting

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on
a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be
delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with the
matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting. For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board or committee
meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or members of the
committees at least 3 days prior to the convening of the meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the relevant
documents and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the
meeting. The minutes are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and the copies are circulated to all Directors for reference

and record purpose.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committees thoroughly
were recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made
including any problems raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Directors have a right to review the

minutes of the Board meetings and the committee meetings.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, 5 board meetings were
held.

The attendance of the above meetings by each Director is as

follows:

Name of Directors EEHE

Mr. YANG Bin 5 5 A4

Mr. HUANG Kewang EG e

Mr. MENG Dawei’ mABEE

Ms. FAN Zijing? BTE L

Ms. ZHOU Zoge® ZHOU Zoe zx+°

Ms. LUO Yanhong* RYLT L

Mr. LIU Ailun® B3 e

Ms. WANG Ge® FigzL°

Mr. CHAN Yiu Kwong R e &

Mr. LIU Binghai 2mE kA

Mr. WANG Yingzhe FHEEE

Notes:

1. Mr. MENG Dawei has been appointed as an executive Director on 16
April 2021.

2. Ms. FAN Zijing has been appointed as an executive Director on 16
April 2021.

3. Ms. ZHOU Zoe has resigned as an executive Director on 17 April 2020.

4. Ms. LUO Yanhong has resigned as an executive Director on 16 April
2021.
5. Mr. LIU Ailun has been appointed as a non-executive Director with

effect from 10 January 2020.

6. Ms. WANG Ge has resigned as a non-executive Director with effective
from 10 January 2020.

Apart from formal meetings, other matters subject to the approval of

the Board were handled in the form of written resolutions.

HE2020F12A31BILFE - E5EE

REH -

REFHELREZNBEROT:

Attended/No. of Eligible to attend
BHE HEERHERE
5/5

5/5

0/0

0/0

11

5/5

5/5

0/0

5/5

5/5

5/5
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$ °
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the website of the Company and that of the Stock

Exchange.
Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members,
all are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yiu
Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang Yingzhe. Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong
has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise,
and provide an independent view of the effectiveness of, the
financial reporting process and the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, oversee the audit process and
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 2 meetings of the Audit

Committee were held.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

Name of Members REHE

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong BRI A
Mr. Liu Binghai 2w kA
Mr. Wang Yingzhe FEEEA
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Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, including executive Director Mr. Yang
Bin, independent non-executive Directors Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr.
Wang Yingzhe. Mr. Yang Bin has been appointed as the chairman
of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of
Directors. In recommending candidates for appointment to the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on
merit against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits
of diversity on the Board in accordance with the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be
considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a Director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 2 meetings of the

Nomination Committee were held.

The attendance of the meetings by each member is as follows:

Name of Members RE®E
Mr. Yang Bin 15, 5 A&
Mr. Liu Binghai 2w kL
Mr. Wang Yingzhe FEEEA
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Nomination Policy

According to the Nomination Policy, in evaluating and selecting
any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee would
consider the criteria, including, among other things, character
and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties

as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of
the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination
Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship with a ranking of the
candidates (if applicable) by order of preference based on the

needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate.
Board Diversity Policy

In designing the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee
has considered Board diversity from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

We believe the Board has a well-balance of cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience where members of the Board have diversified branch of

learning and working experience in different countries and regions.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
has three members, comprising two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang Yingzhe, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Yang Bin. Mr. Liu Binghai is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to establish and review the policy
and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior
management and make recommendations to the Board on employee

benefit arrangement.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 2 meetings of the

Remuneration Committee were held.

The attendance of the meeting by each member is as follows:

Name of Members REHSE
Mr. Liu Binghai Elfosy e
Mr. Yang Bin Bk

Mr. Wang Yingzhe FEEEA

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer” (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors, the Group’s senior management, and employees who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside

information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the
Model Code by the senior management of the Group during the

year under review.
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FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the
market to determine the price of the listed securities of the Company
with the latest available information. This Policy also provides
guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure proper safeguards
exist to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory
disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company
shall be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the external
auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, for the audit and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

RFHERRBESR

ARRIRIBRERBEMARBEEBR(TBE])
EhEARIEREMATHE SRR R ARRE
o EREHESUEREEREG  MIAgE
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HERE - ZBRMAA AR B TRHEIES - R
REEEERABHARRZRAERBERE
ZIRR A EE AR R EREIE - PAR
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WIETIRE LR ARE - RBE R KA R A
ML TIEARREE S -

INEB % BB

MEE2020F 12 A1 B L FERNETNIEE
AR EAAR RGN ZBME S L EERER
BB ARARI NS TEHFImT

Fees Paid/

Payable

Bt ENER

RMB’000

Services rendered Frig AR % AREFIT
Annual audit service FEEIRG 1,670
Non-audit services for interim review AR R 2 JE AT RS 380
Total F 2,050
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flow during the reporting period. A statement from the auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
on pages 82 to 84 of this annual report. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors
of the Company have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimated that are
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements

on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Company also has an internal audit function which primarily
carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least, an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly
enforces procedures on inside information according to the relevant
procedures stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside

Information.
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The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are
entrusted to individual department which is accountable for its
own conduct and performance and is required to operate its own
department’s business within the scope of the delegated authority
and to implement and strictly adhere to the strategies and policies
set by the Company from time to time. Each department is also
required to keep the Board informed of material developments of
the department’s business and implementation of the policies and
strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to identify,

evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained
and operated by the management in compliance with the agreed
procedures and standards. The review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. The review
was conducted through discussions with the management of the
Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment
performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the
existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules

compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company, was adopted by the Board on

28 March 2019, is set out as follows:

Payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to
time. The declaration and payment of dividends shall be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board. The Board shall also take into
account the following factors when considering whether to propose

dividends and determining the dividend amount:
1. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

2. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

3. the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure

requirements and future expansion plans;
4. the Group’s liquidity position;

5. contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the Company’s
subsidiaries to the Company;

6. taxation considerations;

7. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Group; and

8. other factors that the Board deems relevant.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles was conditionally adopted by the Board on 24
February 2019 and became effective on the Listing Date. A copy
of the Articles is available on the website of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, there was no significant change in constitutional

documents of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company, general meetings shall
also be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. Such meeting should be held within two months after

the deposit of such requisition.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each

general meeting.

Under Article 64 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company may at all times have the
right, by a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company, to require the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company are published on the

Company’s website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address:  3rd Floor, Junwang Mansion Complex, No. 19,
Chaoyang Park South Road,
Chaoyang District,
Beijing, PRC
Attention: Office of the Board

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous

enquiries.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 March
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The Group operates in the
mobile advertising industry. Its proprietary advertising platform and
technologies help media publishers monetize their traffic through
displays of advertisements on the one hand, and help advertisers

maximize the effectiveness of their advertising delivery on the other.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by
principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year could be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report”
in this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this

directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidation results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out on pages 85 to 192 of this annual

report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 7 June
2021 to 10 June 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be effected, in order to determine the identity
of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on 10 June 2021. All transfers of Shares accompanied
by the relevant Share certificates and transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 4 June 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 144 to 145 of this

annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be environmental
friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper according
to actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and minimize
unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 to be published in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 27(a) to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 162 to 163 of this

annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out on

page 88, 89 and page 164 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s distributable reserves
were RMB31,917,000.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2020, the Company did not have any bank

borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles,
or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has
utilized HK$19,290,000 million of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering. For the amounts not yet utilised, the Company will apply
the remaining net proceeds in the manner set out in the Prospectus.
As at the date of this report, the remaining proceeds is expected to
be fully utilized in 2022.
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DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of the following eight Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Bin (Chairman and co-CEQO)

Mr. Huang Kewang (co-CEQO)

Mr. Meng Dawei (appointed on 14 April 2021)
Ms. Fan Zijing (appointed on 16 April 2021)
Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Ailun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong

Mr. Liu Binghai

Mr. Wang Yingzhe

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this directors’ report are set out on
pages 16 to 22 in the section headed “Profile of Directors and

Senior Management” to this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company, under which they
agreed to act as executive Directors or non-executive Director for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date or
their respective appointment date, which may be terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either of the

Director or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either of
the Director or the Company. Under the respective appointment
letters, each of the independent non-executive Directors is entitled

to a fixed Director’s fee.
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The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of

retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors has entered a service contract with members
of the Group that cannot be terminated by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2020 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31

December 2020 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Material Related Party
Transactions” in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement and
contract of significance to the business of the Group which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or any entity connected with such a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2020.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are decided by the Board with reference to the
recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.
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Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individual in the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 140 to 143 of this

annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived

any emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or
are payable, for the year ended 31 December 2020, by our Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a

director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at any time

during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has not

entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management of the Company, the Controlling

Shareholders or their respective connected persons.

2018 RSU SCHEME

In recognition of the contributions of our management team
and employees and to incentivize them to further promote our
development after Listing, on 9 August 2018, our founders, namely
Mr. Yang, Ms. Chen Xiaona and Mr. Zheng Shungqi, through their
respective offshore holding companies, transferred 1,789,458,
298,236 and 149,129 Shares to ESOP Holdings, for the purpose of
establishing the 2018 RSU Scheme. On 14 August 2018, we adopted
the 2018 RSU Scheme, pursuant to which RSUs representing a
total of 210,219,991 underlying Shares approximately 9.1% of the
total issued share capital of our Company immediately upon the
completion of the Capitalization Issue, Share split and the Global
Offering) were reserved for the vesting of RSUs granted under the
2018 RSU Scheme. As of 31 December 2020, RSUs representing
133,887,855 underlying Shares had been granted to 16 employees
pursuant to the 2018 RSU Scheme and RSUs representing 1,621,428
underlying Shares granted to three employee pursuant to the 2018
RSU Scheme are expired due to his/her resignation.
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ZERFIR D EAIETE o N2018F 8 A14H « &
IR 2018 FF 2 IR HI AR 10 BE AL 5T B - 4Rt - 48
ERE 210,219,901 B ABRARR (0 (FEE X B EE
BAR(EET - RS T REHEETRERAF
2HEBITRAL9.1%) TR HIAR D BLL B R
BYERIE 2018 F X R HIR M BT EIRENT
PR I AR 1 B8 (i 55 8 AR & o B E 2020 4F 12 A 31
A AREERE2018F 2R 6% D B 5+ &l
M 16 % & B % [ 8 € 7 133,887,855 A 48 4 A%
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MEMTEIRN =% EERTAEEN1,621,428
% A8 B8 IR 19 B9 32 PR 1L AR £ B8 o2 B (R L &Y 4 1 iE
e



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The purpose of the 2018 RSU Scheme is to incentivize Directors,
senior management and employees for their contribution to our
Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of our
Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests
in our Company.

For the sake of saving administration costs, the Company and the
granted employees unanimously agreed to cancel the granted but
unvested RSU under the 2018 RSU Scheme through negotiation on
13 April 2021. On 15 April 2021, the Company grant the restricted
shares, of which the value is equivalent to the value of the cancelled
RSU, to those employees under the 2020 RSAS.

A summary of the terms of the 2018 RSU Scheme has been set
out in the section headed “D. RSU Scheme” in Appendix V of the
Prospectus.

Details of the RSUs granted under the 2018 RSU Scheme as at 31
December 2020 are set out below:

2018 FXRHIRMEMFTEEERBES - =
REBEEREEHAKEELNER - AR
HERBREEARMMEROAR - BRAAKRE
REFAEARFRENOEE NN BAREEREK
BRRET

HREBHNITHRRANEE - R2021F4H13
B ARFEFEEFEIHE —BRASICHE
2018 FEXMBHBRM BN B TERTFREKRSR
BHXREIRMEBEAL - R2021F4F15H * K
NEEZE B TR F 2020 F 5 R HI () @ =t
BT 8 PR HIAR 15 (B EUH /Y 5 IR Bl AR (5 B AL (E
BIEE) -

2018 F X Rl fn BB AL AT B R 2 BN A
RERMERD. ZRHIB( BT S —H -

R 2020F 12 A 31 BRI 2018 F X R $If% 0 &
METEIR LM Z RGO BAMFBESRIAT

Name of Grantees

ARAHR

Director

EZ

Huang Kewang
R

Others
Hith

14 employees and consultants

144 (8 B RERH
Total
Hobs

Number of
underlying Shares
outstanding under

the 2018

RSU Scheme at

1 January 2020

R202051 4818

2018 EZ R AR 4
B BB TRTE
HERGHA
16,214,269
116,052,158
132,266,427

Number of
underlying Shares
under the 2018
RSU Scheme
granted during the
Reporting Period
REEHR 2018 F
RRE R E 52
ETRLHEE

R #E

Number of
underlying Shares
under the 2018
RSU Scheme
vested during the
Reporting Period
RBEHR2018 5
ZRE R E TS
ETEREAE
RIO#A

4,864,280

35,156,140

40,020,420

Number of
underlying Shares
under the 2018
RSU Scheme
lapsed during the
Reporting Period
REEHAN 2018 F
ZRHARMDELFE
ETEAAER
RO #E

1,135,000

1,135,000

Number of
underlying Shares
outstanding under

the 2018 RSU
Scheme at 31
December 2020
20205128 31H
2018 FZBHIR A
B EET T
EHMEBRAEE

11,349,989

80,896,018

92,246,007

For the RSUs granted to the named individual grantees of the RSU
set out in the table above, they shall (unless our Company shall
otherwise determine and so notify the RSU Participant in writing and
subject to the below conditions) vest as follows:

(i as to 20% of the RSUs on the expiry date of the six-month
period from the Listing Date;

M) _E R FTEL SR HIA () BB AL /9 5 TE (B AR AR

HHZREIRDEMARATARNBE(BRIER

NAEBERELAESEBAZR G (D B2 0H

F o WAL TMEFEXRESIER)

(i)  20% B9 S2BR HIA% 1D B A2 7A £ B HARE AT /<
& A HARI M JEm B RS
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(i)  asto 10% of the RSUs on 10 March 2020;
(iii)  as to 30% of the RSUs on 10 March 2021;
(iv) asto 20% of the RSUs on 10 March 2022; and
(v) asto20% of the RSUs on 10 March 2023.

The 2018 RSU Scheme is not subject to the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules as the 2018 RSU Scheme does not involve
the grant of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares.
Since the Listing Date, the Company did not have any share option

schemes.

2020 RSAS

On 7 May 2020 (the “Adoption Date”), our Company resolved to
adopt the 2020 RSAS in order to provide our employees with an
opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company and to
encourage and retain such individuals to work with the Company,
and to provide additional incentive for them to achieve performance
goals. Unless early terminated by the Board, the 2020 RSAS shall
continue in full force and effect from the Adoption Date for a term
of 10 years. According to the 2020 RSAS, the maximum number of
Shares to be awarded is 230,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the issued shares of the Company as at the Adoption Date.
The restricted Shares to be granted comprise (i) existing Shares
purchased by the trustee (at the instruction of the Company) on
the market; and (ii) new Shares to be allotted and issued by the
Company, the costs of which will be borne by the Company. All
such restricted Shares will be held by the trustee upon trust for the
benefit of the selected participants before vesting. The restricted
Shares held by the trustee upon trust on behalf of the selected
participant pursuant to the provisions of the 2020 RSAS shall vest in
such selected participant in accordance with the vesting schedule
(if any) and the terms and conditions as set out in the notice of
grant, and the trustee shall cause the restricted Shares to be
transferred to such selected participant or his/ her nominee or agent

on the vesting date.

DOUMOB EERIZERAT

(i) 10% B9 X PR il A% 15 B8 A2 7 2020 3 A 10
=]

(iii)  30% By X PR il A% 15 B8 i 7 2021 F 3 B 10
A :

(iv) 20% B PR &l A% {5 8 i 7 2022 F 3 A 10
H&E &

(V) 20%H)ZBR &I BE AL 20234F 3 A 10
BERE -

BR 2018 F X R I 0 B 5 8T8 AR
B RBH A BB AHE - 2018 F ZRHIK
B EBAET EMRRANE17ENRERI -
B LW AL ARBLEEMBRETS -

2020 £ 3 [R5l IR 10 52 By =t &

R2020F 5 A7H([HRHBE]) - RARIRTE
KA 2020 5F PR Hil A% 0 82 EhaT 2 - DAE A B AN
METREESAAREAENKE - BEIM
BiE @ ABRARDBEE - WRMMEREE
BiRIRMEEING SR - RIFESSIRATKL
% R 2020 4 3 BR i A% 1) 22 ED 5 &1 B £ 40 A A e
FT10F NS TR RIER » RIZ2020F %
FRHIAR 1 22 EAT &l - I TRENSSROBE R
230,000,000 g 5 + 1E 72 R R4 B BIE
TR B 10% o % T 4% I &9 52 PR Hll Ak 10 B2 35 (1)
EREAGEARRER)NTS EBEANRAER
0 RNARAG FRERETHIRD - B
AR AR AR BIAIE - A BRI RHIRM
NEBABHIAABERE2EENFEUETS
NFH - LFEARIE 2020 F 2 R HIAR 5 ZE T
BWEXRRET2UEEUETINBENTR
RGO S REE L BTSN EBRER(WHE)
ARG R G RE TR ELEE - META
BRENFEARBEZRIROERTZEES
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During the Reporting Period, the trustee of the 2020 RSAS, pursuant
to the terms of the rules and trust deed of the 2020 RSAS, acquired

42,949,678 Shares at an aggregate consideration of approximately

HK$5,927,844 (including transaction costs), and the Company has

not issued any new Shares pursuant to the 2020 RSAS.

Details of the number of Shares awarded under the 2020 RSAS and
the Shares vested during the Reporting Period are set out below:

No. of Shares
granted during the

Date of grant Reporting Period

FEAMRYR 2020 F 52 IR Hll A% 1 22 Eh 5T 8145 B R (5
FAEZE 2GR ABREL 5,927,844 B L (B 1E
T HRA) UL 42,949 678 BXA% 1)+ AR R L
IR IR 2020 F X R I A% 10 SE B 5+ I B A TE (I3
B o

R & HA 2020 4 Z R HIA ) BB T EIA T 2
REBROHBERCEBRMD ZFHBHINDT

Awarded Shares
RER G

No. of Shares
vested during the
Reporting Period

No. of Shares
Balance as at
31 December 2020

lapsed during the
Reporting Period

REBEHX REBEHA REFERR 72020512831 A
B A EREBRDHA CHBROHA BRI EA 2R
9 May 2020 11,017,396 1,652,609 9,364,787 —
202053 9R
11 May 2020 568,187 568,187 — —
20205 A 11 H
2 September 2020 4,363,734 1,309,120 — 3,054,614
202069 A2H
Total 15,949,317 3,529,916 9,364,787 3,054,614
#st

The 2020 RSAS does not constitute a share option scheme or an

arrangement analogous to a share option scheme for the purpose of

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme of the

Company.

FETMRBNE17EMS © 2020 FZR B 2
BORT &I TR RERT &) - TR TSR B A
SHEBUN T - LA EIRARRNEIGE S -
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As of the date of this directors’ report, the interests or short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFO),

which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which he was taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
were as follows:

Name of Director

Nature of Interest

EEps ERME
Mr. Yang Bin® Interest in controlled corporation
B e EE R

Mr.Huang Kewang"

Beneficial owner
EmHEBA

Beneficial owner

HRMEREY EHEAA

Mr. Meng Dawei® Beneficial owner
mAEKED E=EAA
Notes:

DOUMOB

All interest stated are long positions

The calculation is based on the total number of 2,300,000,000 Shares
in issue as of the Latest Practicable Date.

The Shares are registered under the name of Evan Global, the issued
share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yang. Accordingly,
Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Evan
Global for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO. As of 31 December
2020, the RSUs are registered under the name of ESOP Holdings, the
issued share capital of which is owned as to 100% by Evan Global.
Evan Global is wholly-owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by ESOP Holdings for
the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Huang Kewang is interested in 172,526 RSUs representing
16,214,269 underlying Shares granted to him under the 2018 RSU
Scheme, among which 4,864,280 underlying Shares were vested.

Mr. Meng Dawei is interested in 1,437,604 underlying Shares granted
to him under the 2020 RSA Scheme.

TEMRARAT

EERBETRAEBRESNES

RAEEEREAH  ARAEERESTERA
BERARARERBEE(EERZEFLBAE K
PIZEXVER) Bty - HERD RERETHES (a)
RIBBS LA EGRMEXVIET7 R D IAME
ARA RO ERSIORE (BERIEE SR
HIE RPN A B SUR B EE A A S
FoRR) ¢ (o) RIBERE K HIE 5P 352 1&7A
FEAZIGFTIEECMANERIORE « H(c)R
BRETAIAMEARE RN EEIRR
LU

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of ordinary
shares interested"”

Company’s issued
share capital®

ERRARBRITRAH
BEEREBNZERHE " BOBED
787,771,914 32.08%
206,566,614 8.89%
16,214,269 0.70%
1,437,604 0.06%

Wit -

(1)  FATESHRERE

2 EREREBETTREHDETEROEHK
2,300,000,000 AR 15 ©

(3) &% % % 15 bAEvan Global®) % % & &2 * MM Evan
Global By 2 EE BITIRA RIS ERSE - BL -
HEFRBEGROEXVEME  BEEER AR
EvanGlobal # B 8 T A I 5§ A % B 2020
F12A318  ZRHIMD ERILAESOP Holdings
M Z&EE R © M ESOP Holdings M2 32 %17
B Evan Global#% ° Evan Global g%t %
BHER - Al - BEFRIAEKROIEXVEME - 15
F R AR ESOP Holdings #5488 F A B0 o
B o

(4) HEREEERBIE22018F Z R &A% 0 8 65t
BlEEREN172526@F R RMDEMRE
16,214,269 R BB IR 7 ) R E B o - E
4,864,280 R IRRAR D E5RE ©

(5)  FJABmELERIRIE 2020 4F F [R5 %) @t 8l
HE MM 1,437,604 BARRIA D R A 12 o
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL FERRVES
SHAREHOLDERS

So far as our Directors are aware, as of 31 December 2020, the MEFMMAM - M2020612H318 » TAlAT
following persons have interests or short positions in Shares or RAR B DA P EERIEES RS
underlying Shares of our Company which will be required to be ERBIEE XV E0 58 2 2 3 9 B AU E /B M R A A S Bt
disclosed to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the RFIEBEMERSOAR A EEXEEEENE
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, directly MO EEABR TEARARNKRE RS HIRE
or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any ] B RIAR AR TEE 10% S IA FRIFREZRREA A -
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at

general meetings of our Company:

Number of underlying Approximate
Shares interested percentage of the
Number of ordinary under the 2018 RSU Company’s issued
Name Nature of Interest shares interested” Scheme share capital”
EREZN20185F
. SRERBEN BARABE R
#E BEME FHEBHEERHE" STENEERGHE BRAMBHEI L
Evan Global Beneficial owner 737,771,914 — 32.08%
BEBEBA
ESOP Holdings® Beneficial owner — 206,566,614 8.98%
BRBERA
Mr. Yang Bin® Interest in a controlled corporation 737,771,914 — 32.08%
BEEEY XA
Trustee - 206,566,614 8.98%
ZHEA
BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL  Beneficial owner 328,629,450 — 14.29%
EEXRER EadAaA
Blue Focus® Interest in a controlled corporation 328,629,450 — 14.29%
Eepac i XA
Chengdu Hongdao Beneficial owner 207,618,771 — 9.03%
BHHEBA
Mr.Yang Zhenghong Interest in a controlled corporation; 207,618,771 — 9.03%
(BEE)™ interest of a party to an agreement
regarding interest in the Company
BERREY R EERE  BALNFREAROG
EHEINT: $2
Hongdao Investment interest of a party to an agreement 207,618,771 — 9.03%
i regarding interest in the Company
LEHE HARRER B BN RENT S ER
Beijing Dongfang Hongdao interest of a party to an agreement 207,618,771 — 9.03%
Assets Management regarding interest in the Company
Company Limited (4t &7
UEAEDEARAEAR)Y » o
ita%)z)%é’éﬁ&ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ& BARRREERNHENT AN R
NS
Summer Holdings Beneficial owner 161,797,422 — 6.60%
EadAaA
Ms. Chen Xiaona® Interest in a controlled corporation 151,797,422 — 6.60%
BB REEERER
Beneficial owner — 40,189,334 1.75%
BEEBA
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(1 All interests stated are long positions.

(2) The entire issued share capital of Evan Global is directly owned by
Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be interested in such
number of Shares held by Evan Global. The entire issued share capital
of ESOP Holdings is directly owned by Evan Global which in turn is
directly owned by Mr. Yang. Accordingly, Mr. Yang is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by ESOP Holdings.

(3) The entire issued share capital of BLUEFOCUS INTERNATIONAL is
directly owned by Blue Focus. Accordingly, Blue Focus is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by BLUEFOCUS
INTERNATIONAL.

(4) The entire issued share capital of Chengdu Hongdao is directly owned
by Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, Mr. Yang Zhenghong is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao.
In addition, pursuant to an agreement dated 2 May 2018 between
Mr. Yang Zhenghong and Hongdao Investment, Mr. Yang Zhenghong
made entrustment arrangements with Hongdao Investment regarding
the distribution of the profits generated from the 9.03% of the equity
interest that Chengdu Hongdao holds in our Company. Accordingly,
Hongdao Investment is deemed to be interested in such number of
Shares held by Chengdu Hongdao. Furthermore, Hongdao Investment
is a limited liability partnership organized and existing under the laws
of the PRC. The general partner of Hongdao Investment is Beijing
Dongfang Hongdao Assets Management Company Limited (£t 58 J5
SMEBEEEEBREMAR]), which is owned directly as to 31.25% by
Mr. Yang Zhenghong. Accordingly, each of Beijing Dongfang Hongdao
Assets Management Company Limited and Mr. Yang Zhenghong is
deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Chengdu
Hongdao.

(5) The entire issued share capital of Summer Holdings is directly owned
by Ms. Chen Xiaona. Accordingly, Ms. Chen Xiaona is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by Summer Holdings. Ms.
Chen Xiaona is interested in RSUs representing 40,189,334 underlying
Shares granted to her, among which 12,056,800 underlying Shares
were vested.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

(1) MTERERER -

(2) 1BEEEZEHEAEVAn Global 2 ZfE BT o
At % 5% £ 43 AREvan Global AWM A
FAROEBEPHEAEL - Evan Global HE#Z#H
ESOP Holdings 2 & 2 #/TH A + MiGLEE %
A Evan Global » Bt - 15 % & #48 B ESOP
Holdings A KB BIRMDEE R A #EE ©

() EeXGERBRAECKGERZPDEHITERAR
At EEXEREANECKERRFEMNEE
B fn &0 B P A RS

(4) 1BIERSLEEEHAChengdu Hongdao 2 #E2
BATHRA o A - 15 1E & 5 £ 1R B K Chengdu
Hongdao #EME KRN & E R B ER « UbIN -
RIEIS R e £ Bl B IR AT A 1A 20184 5 A
2B®RE - 5 IEREEF Y Chengdu Hongdao
FAZR X BB #59.03% AR I 8 A 1) ) I 17 0 B £
SAEBREBRVERRH - Bl - SAERERER
7 Chengdu Hongdao#FBMABBBRMHEE FHE
o o bAh - BABIREIRIBPEVERK L RTFER
BRAELE - AFRRFLNELEEREREER
RIRLBRENTBEBA BEREEERES
IR EHLEEEEEBREMTAR31.25% °
b A RRALEEEERGRETARRIGER
RHEZBHKR AR Chengdu Hongdao B EH B
PR BB R A ©

(5) PR B4 £ E £ % B Summer Holdings & & &
BATRR AR o At - BRI 4B 22 £ 4% R R R Summer
Holdings AWM B RO B E T HEE#EZE - &
Bzt RmAERENZRAKROELEE
MN40,189.334 BB (D ) h EE EH - H P
12,056,800 IEBA M BB EHE -

BERONEEZTNLZH

ARRTE] - BAERA B SR E QR ER D
BEREEARBILEALE  BEESTER
BEARBREMEMEABRRDHEEES
(BREERER)MER -
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 34.6% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest

customers accounted for 71.3% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted
for 31.7% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest

suppliers accounted for 53.3% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 93 employees, 33 of
which were responsible for product development, 16 were for
sales and marketing, 17 were for operations, 5 for media publisher
development and 22 were for administrative. The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such
as position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits and

liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus, share options and other employee benefits,
and is determined with reference to their experience, qualifications
and general market conditions. The emolument policy for the
employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their
merit, qualification and competence. We provide regular training
to our employees in order to improve their skills and knowledge.
The training courses range from further educational studies to skill
training to professional development courses for management

personnel.

IRHEBREF

REEFER  AEENRARFHAEE K
HEEE34.6% c REBMAARELEAERERZSE
EB71.3% °

REBEFER  AEENSKAHRBEEAEEIR
FBARRAS1.7% - AEBM R AR EREAEER
fB4REA53.3% °

BEEFARSFENZEBEAERR LT
ADREMBEERMER AR RD ETRA
Z5% MBRRNR A LB A AH B AEE
TAREFPHBEEMERER -

tTREFEANREEEZNRE

ARARETHEARRBRREAFEARBESM
AESEANBEERMR

ADEIR

M2020F12A31H - AXBEEEIBELEES -
HPBHAEEMHE 16588 HERE
H17EAREE SHABRFEBRBRMAEME
Me22BETR - AEEREEBTVIERAE
- FTRAEBEN - BAFHE - IE - EEREM - &
HNEERKIEHRSEER -

AEBERENFMEEELRT S B/ - L
BRENEMERRN  A2EREZLR E
B —RMSHREE - AEB{EEF B
HEFEREBEENRE  BERENMHIE °
HMIAEEREEREI - ARFEERTTRA
B BIIREREREREEEEREIIR - I
REEANBRHEEXERRE
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated
the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (the “FITE Regulations”), which
were amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February 2016.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not
allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company
providing value-added telecommunications services, including
value-added telecommunication services. In addition, a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-
added telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of
business operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirements”).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provided clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirements. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to
carry on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to enable the Company to exercise
and maintain control over operations of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and to consolidate these companies’ financial results into
the Company’s results under HKFRS as if they are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Despite the lack of clear guidance
or interpretation on the Qualification Requirements, we have taken
and plan to continue to take specific steps to comply with the
Qualification Requirements. After the Listing, the Company kept

implementing its expansion plan in target overseas markets.

Up to the date of this directors’ report, there is no further update in

relation to the Qualification Requirement.

DOUMOB EERIZERAT
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The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year

ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

1. The voting rights proxy agreement dated 22 August 2018,
pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed WFOE or its designated person, as
his attorney-in-fact to exercise such shareholder’s rights
in Doumob Technology (the “Shareholders’ Rights Proxy
Agreement”).

2. The exclusive option agreement dated 22 August 2018,
pursuant to which Registered Shareholders jointly and
severally granted irrevocably to WFOE the rights to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity
interests and/or assets in Doumob Technology to WFOE and/
or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any
time and from time to time, at a minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws and regulations (the “Exclusive

Option Agreement”).

3. The equity pledge agreement dated 22 August 2018, pursuant
to which each of the Registered Shareholders agreed to
pledge all of their respective equity interests in Doumob
Technology to WFOE as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding debts under the Contractual Arrangements (the

“Equity Pledge Agreement”).

4. the exclusive management and consultation agreement dated
22 August 2018, pursuant to which Doumob Technology
agreed to engage WFOE as its exclusive provider of provider
of technical support, consultation and other services and
Doumob Technology agreed to pay service fees to WFOE (the
“Exclusive Management Consultation Agreement”).
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The connected relationship of the parties to the Contractual

Arrangements are as follows:

Name of connected
persons Connected relationship
BEATHE B8 BERR

Mr. Yang Bin an executive Director, chief executive officer’, a
substantial shareholder of our Company and
one of the registered shareholders of Doumob

Technology
(pnintas RARPTES  THEH' - FEREZ— TR
RN ELKRRE —
Blue Focus a substantial shareholder of Doumob Technology
EEXR TR EERE

Doumob Technology an associate of our Controlling Shareholder

B

F51 AR AR R AR A

DOUMOB ZERK AR T

HEENTHETATRERERDT

Contractual arrangements involved

BRENZH

(1) Shareholders’ Rights Proxy Agreement;
(2) Exclusive Option Agreement; and
(3) Equity Pledge Agreement

(1) BEREMZ T -
(2) BREEEWZE - &
() Bt ik

(1) Shareholders’ Rights Proxy Agreement;
(2) Exclusive Option Agreement; and

(3) Equity Pledge Agreement

(1) BREMEFEZ

(2) BREBERDZE - &

(3) BEE M

(1) Shareholders’ Rights Proxy Agreement;

(2) Exclusive Option Agreement;

(3) Equity Pledge Agreement; and

(4) Exclusive Management Consultation
Agreement

(1) BRENEFEwE

(2) BREERRZ

(3) BREEMIHE -

(4) BREEZ ARG W H
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Notes:

1. On 12 September 2019, Mr. Yang Bin became a co-chief executive

officer of the Company;

2. On the basis that Mr. Yang Bin, one of the Controlling Shareholders,
directly holds 41.06% equity interest in Doumob Technology, Doumob
Technology is an associate of Mr. Yang Bin.

No service fee was paid by Doumob Technology to WFOE pursuant
to the Exclusive Management and Consultation Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

The revenue and net loss of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately
RMB1.3 million and RMB11.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2020, respectively. The total assets and total liabilities
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB161.3 million and
RMB28.6 million as at 31 December 2020, respectively.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please
see the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our

Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for details.
Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there is no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances

under which they were adopted.
Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to be operated without the Contractual Arrangements. However,
for the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had been

removed.
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Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section “Connected

Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group has not entered into any connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed

pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” stated in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive Directors and
the Auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

a) the transactions carried out during the Reporting Period had
been entered into accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Contractual Arrangements;

b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to the Group;

C) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between the Group and the Consolidated

Affiliated Entities during the Reporting Period; and

d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable in the

interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Auditor has reviewed and advised the Board in writing (with a
copy provided to the Stock Exchange) that the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements during the Reporting
Period has nothing come to their attention that causes them to
believe (i) the transactions have not been approved by the Board;
(i) the transactions had not been entered in accordance with the
relevant Contractual Arrangements, and (iii) that dividends or other
distributions had been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to the holders of the equity interests which were not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements contained herein.

None of the related party transactions constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all

disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this directors’ report, the Company has maintained the public float

as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the

Reporting Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code

as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during the
Period.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance

Report on pages 38 to 53 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditors during the Reporting
Period. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 have been audited by BDO Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, who are proposed for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company is in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Bin

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Beijing, PRC, 29 March 2021
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Fax: +852 2815 2239

I BDO Tel : +852 2218 8288

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
|
EEE - +852 2218 8288 HEATHEEPR11158E
{83 : +852 2815 2239 IKRFHIB2518
www.bdo.com.hk
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT B EE R E
TO THE MEMBERS OF DOUMOB BEBENEERAT

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Doumob
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out
on pages 85 to 192, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in note 5 and disclosure
of revenue and segment information in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue represents income from the provision of online advertising
services and online sales services sourced from Mainland China.
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring the control of promised goods or services
to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for that goods or

services.

The Group recognised revenue of approximately RMB90,254,000
from the provision of online advertising services, and online sales

services during the year ended 31 December 2020.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the recognition

of revenue by management to meet specific targets or expectations.

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to assess the recognition of revenue

included the following:

o Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal

controls which govern revenue recognition;
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o Inspecting agreements with advertisers and media publishers,
on a sample basis, to understand the terms of advertising and
sales service and assess whether management recognised
the related revenue in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies, with reference to the requirements of the

prevailing accounting standards;

° Comparing sales records for a sample of sales transactions
recorded during the year with relevant underlying
documentation, which included sales invoices and monthly
customer statements with evidence of the customers’ receipt
of the service and the date of receipt of the service confirmed

by the customers;

o Comparing, on a sample basis, specific revenue transactions
recorded before and after the financial year end date with the
underlying agreements with advertisers and media publishers
and monthly customer statements to determine whether the
related revenue had been recognised in the appropriate

financial period;

o Scrutinising all journals affecting revenue raised during the
reporting period and comparing details of a sample of these
journal, which met certain risk-based criteria, with relevant

underlying documentation.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON CONTRACT
ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in note 5 and disclosure of
trade receivables in note 19 and contract assets in note 20 to the

consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB5,832,000 and net contract assets
amounting to approximately RMB34,363,000, after making loss
allowance of approximately RMB8,776,000 and RMB35,404,000
respectively. Trade receivables and contract assets represented
2.2% and 12.9% of the total assets of the Group and are considered

quantitatively significant to the Group.
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The Group’s loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”) based on management’s
estimated loss rates for each ageing category of trade receivables
and contract assets. The estimated loss rates take into account the
credit history including default or delay in payments, settlement
records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of individual
customers. The directors of the Company evaluated the Group’s
ability to issue invoice and recoverability of the balances based on
the invoice issuance forecast prepared by the management, which
take into account of the advice from local tax authority regarding

the invoice issuance status of the Group.

We have identified impairment assessment on contract assets
and trade receivables as a key audit matter due to considerable
amount of judgement and estimates being required in conducting

impairment assessment as mentioned in the forgoing paragraph.

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment

on contract assets and trade receivables included the following:

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and the

calculation of the ECLs;

. Scrutinising the source documents throughout the year to
understand the invoice issuance and settlement patterns by

major customers;

o Testing the ageing analysis of the trade receivables and

contract assets, on a sample basis, to the source documents;

o Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of contract
assets and trade receivables with reference to the credit
history including default or delay in payments, settlement
records, subsequent settlements and ageing analysis of

individual customers; and

o Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward-

looking information.
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IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS RELATED
TO SUBSCRIPTION ACCOUNTS AND SOFTWARE

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 4,
accounting estimates and judgements in note 5 and disclosure of
intangible assets in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the impairment of intangible assets related to
subscription accounts and software as disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements as a key audit matter due to
significant management judgement and complex estimation involved
in estimating the recoverable amount of these assets. As disclosed
in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying
value of intangible assets related to subscription accounts and
software amounted to RMB17,125,000 and RMB21,496,000 as at 31
December 2020, respectively.

Determining whether these intangible assets are impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount which is the higher of
the fair value less costs of disposal, or value in use of the cash
generating units (“CGUs”) to which the intangible assets have been
allocated. The value in use calculation relies on the management’s
assumptions and estimates of future operating performance of these
subscription accounts and the key data and assumptions applied

by the management in the impairment review are:
o Discount rates; and
o Expected revenue growth rate.

Further details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 16

to the consolidated financial statements.

EITRRF R R ERNETLEERE

A2HEAMBHRRMEINERNS T BERM
2 - MIES R & FHE 5 R B A R M RE 15 00 &
WEERE

EEHEEMBMERN T 15K B ETEERS
RBHERENETEEREBRNRBRETE
15 DA ZEEEN KBS ERL REX
BB A BT R AR A ET o SIAER S B RS SRR B
15T #HEE - 20206 12 A31 8 + HETHER
PREHEHENEFEERAAES IIRARE
17,125,000 7t & A £ # 21,496,000 7T °

BEERSETVEERS HBERER B G A RE
8 A EREERARESRERETLE
ENREELBM([ReELEM])EREED
BeE - siHERBERFEREEEEHZER
BIBRP ARMZERREHBR R EF - MER
BEREZENTEANEIEZHERERS

e BEEIR
. FEEMHEER

BWERGONE - THBHARGA VW BRRME
16 °

2020 ANNUAL REPORT £ $§

79



80

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

M % SR R

OUR RESPONSE

Our procedures in relation to impairment of intangible assets related

to subscription accounts and software included the following:

Understanding and evaluating management’'s impairment

assessment on intangible assets;

Obtaining the valuation reports on the CGUs of these
subscription accounts and software prepared by
management’s valuers and evaluating the management’s

valuers’ competence and objectivity;

Discussing with the management’s valuers to understand and
evaluate the appropriateness of their valuation methodology to

determine the recoverable amount;

Checking the management’'s data and challenging the
assumptions used in the valuation report by 1) comparing the
inputs with the financial budget approved by the management;
2) assessing the discount rates applied with the support from
our internal valuations specialists; and 3) comparing expected

revenue growth rate to the Group’s specific information;

Engaging our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating management’s impairment assessment
methodology, the key assumptions applied and calculations
contained with reference to the requirements of the prevailing

accounting standards;

Assessing the independent valuer’s qualifications, experience
and expertise and considered their objectivity and

independence;

Comparing the compound annual growth rates and long term
growth rates adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts

with historical performance;
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o Comparing the revenue and operating costs included in the
prior year's discounted cash flow forecasts with the current
year’s performance to assess the historical accuracy of
management’s forecasting process and considering the nature

of any significant differences; and

o Performing sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow forecasts and assessing the
impact of changes in the key assumptions on the conclusions
reached by management and whether there were any

indicators of management bias.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHE RS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHE RS

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY ZBERE

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Wan Che Bun

Practising Certificate no. P05804

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTH

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEeEaRkRAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

2020 2019
2020 & 20194
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE ARMFT ARKTFT
Revenue g 6 90,254 189,450
Cost of sales SHER A (81,518) (137,144)
Gross profit ER 8,736 52,306
Other income and other net gains/ HA WA RE s~
(losses) (E518) 558 7 1,190 8,089
Change in fair value of: AR EEH AR B
— financial assets at fair value — BAREF ABZED
through profit or loss WS EE 7 1,487 700
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO HAXY (11,869) (10,730)
Administrative expenses THAX (75,810) (39,719)
Finance costs A& KA 8 (53) (45)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRFTS B BA 2 AT (H&518)
expense = 9 (76,319) 10,601
Income tax credit FrigHitE e 10 1,541 314
(Loss)/profit and total FER(ER) BAIREE
comprehensive income for the e
year (74,778) 10,915
(Loss)/profit and total LUTALTEEER(ER)
comprehensive income for the wmAREEREARE :
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ARARER A (73,753) 10,917
Non-controlling interests AR 2 (1,025) (2)
(74,778) 10,915
(Loss)/earnings per share for AATEE AES (EBE)
the (loss)/profit attributable to ERNER(E5E),
the owners of the Company: BF :
Basic AN RMB(0.032) RMBO0.005
12(a) ARK#(0.032) T AR#0.0057T
Diluted s RMB(0.032) RMBO0.005
12(b) | AR#(0.032) % AR#0.005 7T
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e BRI &R

As at 31 December 2020 7}

MR 20206 12 431 H

A&

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PO?MV‘
- B Q
X

2020

2019

2020 F 20194
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K aE AR¥TT AREFT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB K& 14 5,698 612
Intangible assets EEE 15) 45,866 57,175
Financial assets at fair value RAR AR ABZE
through profit or loss WS EE 17 23,828 8,500
Deferred tax assets RIERIIHE B 18 2,412 842
77,804 67,129
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables H 5 W sRIE 19 5,832 12,774
Contract assets AHEE 20 34,363 60,237
Deposits, prepayments and other Be - BAREREM
receivables JE U ZR I8 21 25,571 20,848
Amounts due from shareholders FE UL AR SR R TE 22 188 200
Amounts due from non-controlling JE U SE 122 AR e 2 X TE
interests 22 — 980
Time deposits with original maturity 2|5 B #8838 A1
over 3 months T BATF 3K 23 32,622 47,017
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRESEEY 23 89,714 118,915
188,290 260,971
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables Z Z et 38 24 21,754 11,743
Contract liabilities BHEE 6 4,968 4,943
Accruals and other payables FEETE R R E AR RIE 25 12,138 10,076
Lease liabilities — current HEAE — "mH 26 2,386 —
Income tax payable FERI RS EL 850 993
42,096 27,755
Net current assets REBEEFE 146,194 233,216
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL A
RE BB RR R X

As at 31 December 2020 720204 12 A 31 H

2020
2020 & 2019 &

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hat ARHTFTT ARKTFT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities — non-current HEEE — FRD 26 2,440 =
2,440 -
Net assets EEFE 221,558 300,345
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves BEAXK#E
Capital ZEN 27 1,967 1,967
Reserves & 27 219,383 297,145
Equity attributable to owners of RATHEE AELESR
the Company 221,350 299,112
Non-controlling interests IR RER 208 1,233
Total equity RSB 221,558 300,345
On behalf of the directors REES
Yang Bin Huang Kewang
B3R EHRE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

REEZBBXR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% 20204 12 A 31 HILFE

Share-
Employee based Non-
Share Capital ~ Statutory share  payment  Retained controllig Total
Capital ~ premium*  reserve* reserve* trusts*  reserve*  profits*  Sub-total interests equity
W #A
Rk g% HE Es EBo6R RE FER 3
g% fE* ffe* B RfRE  HEE B At Bi ]
RMBO00  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  AMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBU0O
AGETT AREFT AREFL ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFL ARETT ARETT
(Note a) (Note b) ~ (Note 28)  (Note 28)
(Wita) (Wito) Wiz (Wiz)
At 31 December 2018 and RO18E12A3 AR
1 January 2019 01951818 195 - 135330 7,39 - - 95,839 238,758 12386 239994
Inital application of HKFRS 16 ERERRRUBREENZ 16% = - - = = = 115 115 0] 114
Restated balance at 1 January 2019 R2019%1 51 ANSESIER 195 — 13330 7,394 - - 95,954 238873 1238 240,108
Profit and total comprehensive income  FREFIR2EREEE
for the year - - - - - - 10917 10917 @ 10915
Shares issued pursuant to REEALHEGHRG
the capitalization 1,604 (1,604) - - - - - - - -
Share issued pursuant to the public ~ REAREEREERETHRE
offering and placing 168 69,061 - - - - - 69,229 - 69,229
Transaction costs affributable fothe ~ AFEEREERERFHA
public offering and placing - (19,907) - - - - - (19.907) - (19,907)
At 31 December 2019 and R2019E12331 R
1 January 2020 202051818 1967 47550 135,330 7,39 - — 106871 299112 1283 300345
Loss and total comprehensive inocme ~ £ABERZENEEE
for the year - - - - - —  (737%3)  (737%3) (1,025)  (74,778)
Contribution to employee share trusts S RAER MR = - - - (5072) - - (5,072) - (5,072)
Grant of restricted share units fo RERRHHRR ARG EL
employees - - - - - 1,063 - 1,063 - 1,063
Vested shares for share award scheme B R EBRA - - - = 424 (424) = = = =
At 31 December 2020 12020%12 4318 1967 47550 135,330 7,3% (4,648) 639 3,118 221,350 08 201,55
* The total of these amounts as at the reporting dates represents RIBERE - ZESENBHEIIEESMERRER
“Reserves” in the consolidated statements of financial position. ] -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES |
mEEZREER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z= 20204 12 A 31 HILF &

Notes: Hiaz -

(a)  Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the (@) ARARKBRMDEEREDKAERIERE L AR FR
proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s share. HDEENSE -

(b)  Statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit (b) AEREBERBEEBEPREEZERREAKILITER R
for the year of the subsidiaries established in the PRC (based on the BF AR (RERME A R & BDEE I B RR )&
subsidiaries PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with HHeHE  BEEAEREEIZEMNB AR GZMRE
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reach 50% of the AH)50% A1k o BRIEAR K Rt BB g ME
registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot R - BRITSHIBOEE R ©

be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated losses or
increasing capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFor
Cash flows from operating activities KETEEBHEESRE (76,319) 10,601
(Loss)/profit before income tax expense KRETS B Al (E518) S5 F
Adjustments for: PA TS IEIEL FHEE -
Change in fair value of financial assets at AR B ABENMIEEER
fair value through profit or loss NREZE) (1,487) (700)
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 24,448 15,520
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - WERBETE
equipment 963 1,490
Provision for impairment loss on trade B SRR IBEREBERE
receivables 7,240 1,086
Provision for impairment loss on contract & 41& BB & 18 5
assets 19,539 8,611
Provision for impairment loss on other H AR R R B E R
receivables 2,501 —
Provision for impairment loss on amounts U FE1% A% 12 25 7K 8 6L (E B 18
due from non-controlling interests B 980 —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEYE - BERZENER
equipment — 4
Interest expense FEFAX 53 45
Interest income F B WA (3,521) (5,052)
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) [E 5 &8, (e ) F 58 2,866 (2,424)
Share-based payment expenses LARR 15 B B0 B0 45 3R 0 A 2 1,063 —
Operating (loss)/profit before working BEESBHALE(BR),/
capital changes il (21,674) 29,181
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables 2 S REWIE (L), R (298) 846
Decrease in contract assets EREERD 6,335 52,528
Increase in deposits, prepayments and Be - FENRIEREMEKRFRIE
other receivables 0 (7,686) (3,252)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B S EMFRIEE M, CRd) 10,011 (32,716)
Increase in contract liabilities EHBEEM 25 445
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and other &=+ % F & E 4t i (~ 7B
payables #n, CRd) 2,060 (12,702)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &2 5 (FTA),/FiERE (11,227) 34,330
Income tax paid B ER (172) (18)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RS (FTA) TS IR& R 58
operating activities (11,399) 34,312
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & = 2020 F 12 A 31 H L FE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFor
Cash flows from investing activities RETBMEBREKE
Purchases of intangible assets BERLEE (2,189) (39,860)
Payment of development cost for X R & E SRR
intangible assets (10,950) (8,729)
Increase in financial assets at fair value BRAREFABENTBEE
through profit or loss 3N (13,841) (7,800)
Payment for time deposit in bank XATERTTE BE R (42,352) (50,581)
Redemption of time deposit in bank & B4R 17 7E HA 17 3K 53,944 7,042
Interest income received 2 W F 2 WA 3,934 3,833
Net cash used in investing activities WEEBTAREFE (11,454) (96,095)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBHRERERE
Proceed from issuance of share capital BITRAFTS5RIE — 49,322
Payment for lease liabilities TREEEE (1,276) (1,536)
Interest paid B A — —
Purchase of shares for restricted share 8 B 2R HI AR 10 SR Eh AT & & AR 1D
incentive scheme (5,072) —
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEEFARS T (6,348) 47,786
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRASEEYMRIFE
equivalents (29,201) (13,997)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F¥RERBELEEY
of the year 118,915 132,912
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRAEERALEEY
the year 89,714 118,915
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R AR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

92

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26
March 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies laws Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands.
The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 14 March 2019. The address of Company’s
registered office is located at the office of Walkers Corporate
Limited, 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-9008, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal place of

business is located at PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company collectively refer to as the “Group”) are provision of

online advertising services and online sales services.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSS

a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2020

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
has issued a number of new or amended HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of

the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and Reform

HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent

Concessions (early

—REH
RATMN2018F3A26 R IRIEHR S A S
ERIE 228 RNENEN 28 S MK
RERRBRAR - RARN201943 A
14ARERBBERGABR AR LM o &N
N AR L 3 =58 & Walkers Corporate
Limited ®) # & =+ #b #4F A£190 Elgin
Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-9008, Cayman lslands o ZNA &]H) =
BB N o

ARANEIBEB LB R/REZER  MHE
HEARCERARRSBRIAEE B
TEXKEPR/RERR EESREREL
5 E IR

FERFR] KRBT EBMBRERE
A

a) BRMERRETEBMEREE
Al — 52020181 BE4EM

ERERMASERMZEANREE
BER S MEEREROIFET L
RIERT BB RS ER -

BAEMBRELER HEBHER
E3RMIEE]
BAMGMELER  FIEEERE
EON - EEGE

YRI5 3955 I

BBV SRS LR
F7HRAER]

AR BWELEN  COVID-19
FE16FHHER] el

adopted) BR(ER
£Ram)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material BB EAE 1% EEENTE
and HKAS 8 hEBETER
8 RAIEE]

None of these new or amended HKFRSs that are
effective from 1 January 2020 have any significant
impact on the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B R AR Y A

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

P
1

B MBI R EROIET BT
HEMBEREER

VAT 1l R AR 20 B3 SRR 7% 5 B 7 3R
RIEFRAFATER - 2ERERT
HEXAT T EARBRRYBR

b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are b)
not yet effective

The following new standards, interpretations and
amendments, which are not yet effective and have not

been adopted early in these financial statements, will

or may have an effect on the Group’s future financial x:
statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual EBTIERELRER  ELEER A
Framework’ % 3FANSE] FEl ?
Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark ERMIFREED] FIEEENE
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2' % - BA — F2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 el EE
£ 395 - B
B 7% 3 25 22 Rl
BT
BRI IERE
HERIZE 455 &
B IS RS %R
F 165 MERT
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets EBEHRERER REZHA

and HKAS 28 (2011)

between an Investor and

F10HENER Vi A NI

its Associate or Joint SR 285k BEPEZ
Venture® RERT (2011 )  AIHEE
HERFE"
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’ EBMERELED REASLC
FA75
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®® EBMERELER REASA°°
FA7HEAUEET
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as EB gL HIEEER
Current or Non-current®® FASRMIERT JEE
B ®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: EBesHER| wE - BER
Proceeds before Intended F 16 RAERT R HE
Usée® HEE i AT
HIFT 1R E°
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost EB@t%EE| EREMEA A —
of Fulfilling a Contract® 2 37 FAERT JBITE #IH)
A
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS BB EER BB
HKFRSs 2018-2020 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative 2018 FF & HEER
Examples accompanying 2020 FH A F1% &
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41° FEBGE BRI B
ERIZE 9 5t
BIEET
BB R
HRAIE 16
T IEEEE
#HIREE
25r2EA)
FEa15°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ST

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # % 20204 12 A 31 HIL&F[E

DOUMOB

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in
October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these
new pronouncements will result in substantial changes
to the Group’s accounting policies and financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1

3.2

3.3

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosure required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for film and
drama investments and unlisted equity investments,
which are stated at their fair values and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except

when otherwise indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and other factors,
actual results may ultimately different from those
estimates. The areas involving higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated

financial statements are disclosed in note 5.
Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is same as the presentation currency of

the consolidated financial statements.

3.

EREE

3.1

3.2

3.3

BRES

REMBHRRDIBRBEFTESFED
e([FESAMRE DRMNAE
ERERMBREER  BEE
ZA(ERGAER D RZ2ECT
X R BB MBI EER ) AR
BERAIGOIIMBEERERS - 1L
Hh BB MR NE BREEEH
ABRSGABERARRE S LR R
HRERBERKE -

FAEEE

iR A MG R TR IR SE R AR &%
- EEZREBBIRENARIEL
MRERE  BEBEREN  Z
SHEAREIABIE MAH
BEOEBREEEATUBEARK
T e

BHEIE  WMESAVMBEHRRED
REg A RER - BEZXSM
ANEREREMARAMRASEMHR
HipE R RARHEmEL - 1
ERBRERAIERZSHAAM
TR o B REBEIEE HH 8 e 5%
RENER SR BRERA
BERFENRRRMAFTHOHRIER
MYFESHKEE o

RERESEE

ARANDEEERARKE(TAR
%)) BEaMBHREANZIEE
R e

2020 ANNUAL REPORT £ $§

95



96

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B SRR MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1

DOUMOB

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”). Inter-company transactions
and balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case

the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted
for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains
or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group
may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are

deducted from equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

4.2

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or

liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of

control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

4.3

DOUMOB

De-facto control exists in situations where the Company
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee without holding the majority of the
voting rights. In determining whether de-facto control
exists the Company considers all relevant facts and

circumstances, including:

. The size of the Company’s voting rights relative to
both the size and dispersion of other parties who
hold voting rights;

o Substantive potential voting rights held by the

Company and other parties who hold voting rights;
. Other contractual arrangements; and
o Historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.
Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of
the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on

the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see note
4.14), and whenever there is an indication that the unit

may be impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

4.4

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the
unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will not
reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit

or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes as described below, other
than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% 20204 12 A 31 HILFE

DOUMOB

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost or valuation net of expected residual
value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as

follows:

Right-of-use asset Over the unexpired
term of lease

Furniture, fixtures 3 -5 years
and office
equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computers 3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s

estimated recoverable amount.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets, or where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in

profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

4.5

Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over

the lease term.
Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate
of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model.
Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-to-
use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement

of lease liability.

The Group has leased a number of properties under
tenancy agreements. The right-of-use asset arising from
such properties under tenancy agreements are carried

at depreciated cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

DOUMOB

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s

incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use of the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of
a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the

lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the

underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

4.6

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at the
date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over

their useful lives as follows:

Software 3to 5 years
Subscription accounts 3 years
Film script license right 5 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The
amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss and

included in administrative expenses.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and
development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is
capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:

o it is technically feasible to develop the product for
it to be sold;
o adequate resources are available to complete the

development;

o there is an intention to complete and sell the

product;
o the Group is able to sell the product;

o sale of the product will generate future economic
benefits; and expenditure on the project can be

measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # % 20204 12 A 31 HIL&F[E

DOUMOB

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense
is recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of

sales.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above
criteria and expenditure on the research phase of
internal projects are recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.
Impairment

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for impairment by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable

amounts (see note 4.14).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease to the extent of its

revaluation surplus.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

4.7 Financial Instruments

()

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially

measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of

principal and interest.
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or

loss.
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Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"):
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income,
as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or

significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

The Group has certain investments in film and
drama projects which entitle the Group to receive
a fixed and/ or variable income based on the
Group’s investment amount and/ or expected
rate of return as specified in the respective
agreements of film and drama investments. All film
and drama investments which give rise to cash
flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding are

stated at fair value through profit or loss.
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(ii)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are
measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss.
All other equity instruments are classified as
FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends
and interest income are recognised in profit or

loss.
Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets measured at amortised cost and
debt investments measured at FVTOCI. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12 months
ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible
default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual

period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’

original effective interest rate.
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The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the

allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward-

looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and

supportable information that demonstrate otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more

lagging default criteria is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying

amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

(iii)  Financial liabilities

ziii) B BEE

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at
amortised costs are initially measured at fair value, net

of directly attributable costs incurred.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair

value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are

recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be
designated as a financial liability at fair value through
profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is
clear that separation of the embedded derivative is
prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or
recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis;
(ii) the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities
which are managed and their performance evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability
contains an embedded derivative that would need to be
separately recorded.
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(iv)

DOUMOB

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the
gains and losses arising from the Group’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of
profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, certain preference shares
and the debt element of convertible loan note issued
by the Group are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. The related

interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

amortisation process.
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a

shorter period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

(v)

(vi)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded

at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622, came
into operation on 3 March 2014. Under the Ordinance
shares of the Company do not have a nominal value.
Consideration received or receivable for the issue of
shares on or after 3 March 2014 is credited to share
capital. Commissions and expenses are allowed to be
deducted from share capital under s. 148 and s. 149 of

the Ordinance.
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and
not designated as at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contact at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the
ECL provision measured in accordance with principles
of the accounting policy set out in note 4.7(ii); and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15.
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(vii) Derecognition

4.8

DOUMOB

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for

derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,

cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part
as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability,
the equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured at
their fair value on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the
equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value
of the financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is

recognised in profit or loss for the year.
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after

deduction of any trade discounts.
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Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over

time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and

consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer

controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right

to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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()

Provision of online advertising services

The Group’s principal services are the provision
of online advertising services. The Group utilises
a combination of pricing models and revenue
is recognised when the related services are
delivered based on the specific terms of the

contract, which are commonly based on:

(a) Specified actions (i.e. cost per action
(“CPA”) and related campaign budgets,
depending on the advertisers’ preferences

and their campaigns launched), or

(b) Agreed rebates to be earned from certain

media publishers.

The amount of revenue the Group recognises from
the provision of advertising services is affected
by the Group’s role under each particular contract
with customers. For contracts where the Group
acts as principal, the Group recognises revenue
on a gross basis while for contracts where the
Group acts as agent, the Group recognises
revenue on a net basis. For further details on
the Group’s revenue recognition policy in this
respect, see “Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements - Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies”. The combination of the
Group’s revenue from the provision of advertising
services measured by the portion of revenue
recognised on a gross basis and net basis, does
not impact the Group’s gross and net profit but
will affect the Group’s gross margin and net

margin.
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Specified actions

The Group has determined that it acts as the
principal of these arrangements and therefore
recognised revenue earned and costs incurred
related to these transactions on a gross basis.
Revenue is recognised on a CPA basis once
agreed actions (download, activation, registration
and etc.) are performed. While none of the factors
individually are considered presumptive or
determinative, because the Group is the primary
obligor and are responsible for (1) identifying and
contracting with third-party advertisers which the
Group views as customers; (2) identifying media
publishers to provide online advertising spaces
where the Group views the media publishers as
suppliers; (3) establishing the selling prices of
CPA pricing model; (4) performing all billing and
collection activities, including retaining credit risk;
and (5) bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment
of the advertising. Under this arrangement, the
Group records the rebates earned from the
media publishers as a reduction of cost of sales.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time basis

when the customer obtains control of the services.

HEEHRIE

REBARATEREERSLZHNE
BN B emEEERZ
EX MM R REED
A > —B8ITHERECT
#}oM® - EMF) BRE
R T PR AT B AR 5 2R R R R
oo BEMERRRARES
AEfEEMHSOREN - BARAE
BATZEBALAEN)H
PR RE=TTEEE(RE
BEEBESER) (2 #AIK
BuRMEARER EESK
(FEERRERMAERSH
FER) - (B) B EBRERITE
RAEBEANEE (4
TTHAREREFEE (2
REEERR)  R(5)%&ER
TERESZHOE—RE - RE
RR - ARERRBRAE
FREXE) @40 A BRI 2 85 B AR
BB o W E P RS RS
B2 il A ) — (BB P B 3R o

2020 ANNUAL REPORT %%}

115



116

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% 20204 12 A 31 HILFE

DOUMOB

(ii)

Agreed rebates to be earned from certain media
publishers

In the arrangement with certain media publishers,
the Group acts as an agent, rather than a
principal for these media publishers by having
marketing clients market with this publisher.
Media publishers grant to the Group rebates in
the form of cash based on contractually stipulated
amounts once certain spending thresholds are
achieved. The Group considers these particular
media publishers as customers and reports
revenue earned and cost incurred related to these
transactions as a net basis, and recognises the
amount of rebates granted by media publishers
as revenue. Rebates from these media publishers
are calculated on a quarterly or an annual basis
in accordance with the terms as agreed in
arrangements. Revenue is recognised at a point
in time basis when the customer obtains control of

the services.
Provision of online sales services

Revenue from online sales services is recognised
at a point in time basis upon delivery of goods
sold which is based on agreed commission with

customers.
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(iii) SaaS services offering

(iv)

The Group offers SaaS services (Software as
a Service) which is a cloud-based software
and related services to subscribed merchants
(i.e. customers). SaaS revenue includes fixed
subscription fees and additional cloud service
fees. Fixed subscription fees are generally
recognised over time on a rateable basis over
the contract term beginning on the date that the
service is made available to customer. The Group
charges the customers variable cloud services
fees that is generally calculated based on number
of transactions processed through the SaaS
platform.

All subscribed merchants have signed contracts
with the Group and pay full subscription fees in
advance. The portion that underlying SaaS not
yet provided to subscribe merchants at end of
reporting period are recognised as “contract
liabilities”.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest
rate.

Y,

(iv)

(iii) #E1R SaaS iR %

AEERBEEPE(BES)
12 4 SaaS AR 7 (81 (4 BN AR %5 )
(—IEEREHRMEM) XA
R 7 o SaaS Uy = 8 & & E 7]
BERBEINEREE - EER]
BE—RRATFREREZ
B F 18 8 & 49 2ABR BE s [ HE 72
R EERER - AEERE
PR A #EimRIEE - ZE
AEEREBBESaaSFE KR
BRRHHETH o

FIAERIBHFEEAKRER
AR BXARAN 2
AR - REEHRHARAE
IR P R AR SaaS IR
MO ERRIAHNEE] -

FIE KA

MBRATIRAREEAR ST
BRANXIZEREERE -

2020 ANNUAL REPORT %%}

117



118

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 75 3 3 B &

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

ma

4.9

4.10

DOUMOB

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are deducted in reporting the related expense or
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted the grant in calculating the
carrying amount of the asset that is recognised in profit
or loss over the life of a depreciable asset as a reduced
depreciation expense. An unconditional government
grant is recognised in profit or loss as other revenue

when the grant becomes receivable.
Income tax

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and

deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when they
relate to items recognised directly in equity in which

case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.
Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the Company/ group
entities in currencies other than the currency of
the primary economic environment in which it/ they
operate(s) (the “functional currency”) are recorded at
the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in

other comprehensive income.

4.11
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On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve (attributed to minority interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve relating to that operation up to the
date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part

of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are

recognised in the foreign exchange reserve.
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4.12 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees

render the related service.
Defined contribution retirement plan

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
PRC government, the Group participates in a
central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government (the “Scheme”), whereby
the subsidiary of the Company in the PRC is
required to contribute a certain percentage of the
basic salaries of its employees to the Scheme
to fund their retirement benefits. The local
municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of the subsidiary
of the Company. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the Scheme is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to
profit or loss as incurred. There are no provisions
under the Scheme whereby forfeited contributions

may be used to reduce future contributions.
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(b)
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4.13

DOUMOB

(c) Housing funds, medical insurances and other

social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled
to participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees,
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year. Contributions
to the housing funds, medical insurances and

other social insurances are expensed as incurred.
(d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group provides share-based compensation benefits
to employees via its restricted share incentive schemes,
which are managed under Trusts. Information relating to

the schemes is set out in note 28.

The fair value of restricted shares granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share-based payment reserve within equity.
The fair value of restricted shares is measured at
grant date using the market price of the Company’s
shares. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the restricted shares, the total estimated fair value of
the restricted shares is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the restricted

shares will vest.
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4.14

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of restricted shares that
are expected to vest. The impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss,
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised

estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of restricted
shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
share-based payment reserve within equity). The equity
amount related to restricted shares is recognised in
share-based payment reserve until the restricted shares
become vested and is settled against employee share

trusts.
Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;
o intangible assets;

. goodwill; and

. investments in subsidiaries (except for those

classified as held for sale or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.
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If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit (see Note 4.3), discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating

unit.
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4.15

4.16

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of

economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the

Group’s major product lines.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
directors assess segment profit or loss by gross profit

or loss as measured in HKFRSs financial statements.

For the purpose of presenting geographical location
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and
the Group’s non-current assets, country of domicile
is determined by reference to the country where the

majority of the Company’s subsidiaries operate.
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4.17 Related parties 4.17 EABETT
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s (a) MWEBUATAZL  BlZZ ALz
family is related to the Group if that person: AT ZEHRREKEHAREE
A A
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; (i) %= ek R P AR &
;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HAEEEEAFE
758k
(iii)  is a member of key management personnel (i) AAEBHIAQAREFA
of the Group or the Company’s parent. AMEZEERASR ©
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (o) (WEFE THMEMIGH - BNEEE
following conditions apply: EA 7K £ B 5 B
(i)  The entity and the Group are members of () ZEREREEEBER-—
the same group (which means that each EEKEAR(AIZEERN
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is ISE/NCTINN == /NG S
related to the others). ES NGl A SR =l
i) o
(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture (i —AEBARS—ETBE®N
of the other entity (or an associate or joint BENTs A B b
venture of a member of a group of which the BF—ERAEKERAZ
other entity is a member). EEETKE R R 2B
ERAHAEERE) -
(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) MEEBAHRR—F=
third party. THE &R o
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity (iv), —HERBARZE=-FEE
and the other entity is an associate of the HEZELE MEB—F
third entity. BAZE=H BB
NI
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit (V) ZEBAAEELHER
plan for the benefit of the employees of the EEEREEEME
Group or an entity related to the Group. BRAZLHBEREZE
FETEl -
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (Vi) ZEREX(a)FTEAIALT
by a person identified in (a). Pl sk 2k @ o
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) (a)(i) Frak Bl &9 A %
influence over the entity or is a member of RERABEATE K

A
key management personnel of the entity (or BRER(RZERENE

RANEEEEASR -

N

of a parent of the entity).
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(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

(iiy  children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to

be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.
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Principal versus agent considerations — revenue from provision

of online advertising services

In determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or
as an agent in the provision of online advertising services
requires judgements and considerations of all relevant facts
and circumstances. The Group is a principal in a transaction
if the Group obtains control of services provided before they
are transferred to customers. If control is unclear, when the
Group is primarily obligated in a transaction, and has latitude
in establishing prices and selecting publishers, or has several
but not all of these indicators, the Group records revenues on
a gross basis. Otherwise, the Group records the net amount

earned as commissions from services provided.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(i) Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and
equipment and amortises intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting policies stated in Notes
4.4 and 4.6 respectively. The estimated useful lives
reflect the directors’ estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from
the use of these assets. The management reassesses
the estimated useful lives at the end of each of the

reporting period.

(ii)  Impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets

The impairment of trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group
adopts judgement in making these assumption and
selecting inputs for computing such impairment loss,
broadly based on the available customers’ historical
data, existing market conditions including forward

looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables and impairment
losses in the periods in which such estimate has been
changed.
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(iii)

(iv)

Estimates of current tax and deferred tax

Significant judgment is required in determining the
amount of the provision for tax and the timing of
payment of the related tax. Where the final tax outcomes
are different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such

determination is made.
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end
of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
of cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash

flows.

(iii)

(iv)
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(v)  Fair value measurement (v) RArRE:E
The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial REBRAREBEFAEBRZNITEE
assets at fair value through profit or loss utilises EZARBEERFEERTSHA
market observable inputs and data as far as possible. BERGASEBELRBEE BEEALE
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements FFTERFER 2B ASEIERGE
are categorised into different levels based on how T3 A A FIT {5 R B\ BUE Y ] B ER AR
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique EoATENSERTAAREBESHR]):
utilised are (the ‘fair value hierarchy’):
. Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for ° F—4: BEBAEREREMS
identical items (unadjusted); FrmERCREHAR) ;
o Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other B B FE— R ABUE AN
than Level 1 inputs; B EETSRG ASUE
o Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from o B=H: DA B RG ASHIE
market data). (BNEE% B i EURITAE) ©
The classification of an item into the above levels is based on DEAELMELMNIER HERE
the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant effect B ZEE ARBEFEELEEARNY
on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items BV RESERGABIBETE - R
between levels are recognised in the period they occur. 2 [AITE B SR H 2 A B RERR o
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION Wi & o 7B E K

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company, is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the

operating segments.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of online
advertising services and online sales services in the PRC.
Management reviews the operating results of the business as
two operating segments to make decisions about resources to
be allocated. Therefore, the chief operating decision maker of
the Company regards that there are two segments which are

used to make strategic decisions.

The major operating entities of the Group are domiciled in the
PRC. Accordingly, all of the Group’s revenue were derived in
the PRC.

All of the non-current assets were located in the PRC.
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All the Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with
customers. Revenue mainly comprises of proceeds from
online advertising services and online sales services. An

analysis of the Group’s revenue by category for the years

REBHFMERZAREERTFIZMNE
B WmEZRERER EES RS RE
FERERBHIFTEFIE - NEEEZE 2020
FE K% 20194F 12 A 31 B It FELERIE D

ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 was as follows: BRI -
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) W=ERMAD
2020 2019
2020 £ 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT ARMF
Reportable segment revenue from RELEFFITVHNAKZ
contract with customers BE Rl
Online advertising services 4R EEE RS 89,048 188,327
Online sales services 4R ESHE RS 1,206 1,123
90,254 189,450
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A 3kE D (EBER),EF
Online advertising services B FEERS (12,262) 48,323
Online sales services iR SR 939 588
(11,323) 48,911
Reconciliation of reportable AHE D HERNWEHER
segment profit or loss
Reportable segment (loss)/profit AR SR (EER) R R (11,323) 48,911
Other income and other net gains  E Mg A K H b Uz
T 2,677 8,789
Central administration costs HR R AT AR (67,620) (47,054)
Finance costs A& A A (53) (45)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before BRETS B ATAR &
income tax (&) i Fl (76,319) 10,601
Timing of revenue recognition Uy 25 2 B B P
At a point in time A B B S 26 90,224 189,450
Over time R—ERREE A 30 —
90,254 189,450
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The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes two
customers with whom transactions in the online advertising
services segment and the online sales services segment have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenues for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: one). Revenues from these customers

are set out below.

AEBEESSZTIENEFEE  MREZRE
2020F 12A31B L FE K EEER

%o

PR EHERBYMBEMBER

(2019%F : —R )R FHEBANEE W=
H110% ° REZEZFHRSHFIAT o

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARMFT
Customer A BEA 31,309 N/A 3@ A
Customer B ®FB 14,533 N/A 7 A *
Customer C ZFEC N/A RE A * 22,433
45,842 22,433
* represents that the amount of revenue from that customer is less L EREAZETEPRNRSERZ EE WS ATE
than 10% of the total revenue of that year. H10% ©
(b) Assets recognised from incremental costs to obtain (b) BENMSKNFELEERAERN
a contract BE

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,

there was no significant incremental costs to obtain a

HZE2020F % 2019412 A31 H 1k
FE BEREDRSGLAMEELEERN

contract. HEHKA o
(c) Details of contract liabilities (c) BHEEBEFE
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related AEBERRATERZEEANE
contract liabilities: HafE -
2019
20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT ABREFT
Contract liabilities (Note) ARBEMNZ) 4,968 4,943
Note: The contract liabilities represented the aggregate amount Hiit - AHBBEEIEEREHRRTKE

of the transaction price allocated to the performance HWEENR S ERGE - AEBEEH
PRERATRBHOE TN BB

R—FRFER R

obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the
reporting period. The Group expects the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied performance obligations will
be recognised as revenue in one year.
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(0

Significant changes in contract liabilities

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from

the advance payments made by customers while

the underlying services are yet to be provided.

Such liabilities increase as a result of the growth

of the Group’s business.

The following table shows how much of the

EHNREEALE
AEENANARIERETR

FEVTaR /IR - 048 B8 AR i
At - ZERBEHEEARE
KRR ML -

TRETARS AR

revenue recognised in the current reporting period HEESRENEENSE
carried-forward contract liabilities:
2020 2019
2020 fF 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Balance at 1 January w1 A1 BR&EH 4,943 4,498
Decrease in contract liabilities HAFRNERTAFEIEL
as a result of recognising BEMKEMERN
revenue during the year that AHAaERD
was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of
the year (2,743) (2,775)
Increase in contract liabilities as HEELE LG FE S EE
a result of billing in advance BHEEMERNEH
of online advertising activities =K==l 2,768 3,220
Balance at 31 December W12 A 31 B &Esr 4,968 4,943
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7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS/ 7. HtRARHMWKE (&HR)FHE
(LOSSES)
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARKTFr
Interest income B U A 3,521 5,052
Fair value gain on film investment BEXREND A B E

(Note 17) (Wi 17) 353 700
Fair value gain on unlisted equity JEETRERERN A Bl

investment (Note 17) (Hiat17) 947 —
Fair value gain on unlisted equity MR AR IE LT ARIEIR & 1Y

investments with put options AREWRES(HaF17)

(Note 17) 187 —
Government grants (Note (i) BIS B (KT (i) 563 687
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE « BEMRENEE

equipment — (4)
Exchange (loss)/gain, net EH (1) e F5E (3,468) 2,424
Others HAb 574 (70)

2,677 8,789

Biat(): BREMBEESNPEERENHEAN
DALY ERE 33

Note (i): Government grants mainly represent tax subsidy on various
tax paid and industry incentive in the PRC.

134

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERSK
2020 2019
2020 % 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENFE 53 46
Others Hitb — (1)
53 45
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9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX O

EXPENSE

(Loss)/profit before income tax expense is arrived at after

charging the following:

BRFT8BLRA 2 AT (B518) R A

BRATSRFA AT (BE), 8RR T
BIRESH -

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBTFr
Auditors’ remuneration Z SR & 2,050 1,770
Amortisation of intangible assets B R (HAE ()
(Note (i) 24,448 15,520
Research and development e
expenditure 2,233 1,215
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREENTE
equipment 963 1,490
Provision for impairment loss on trade & 5 &Y Z B RE EE
receivables (Note 19) B (e 19) 7,240 1,086
Provision for impairment loss on AHEEREBBERE
contract assets (Note 20) (HtaE20) 19,539 8,611
Provision for impairment loss on other — H i f& Y Z BRI E & 18
receivables (Note 21) BEHZ21) 2,501 —
Provision for impairment loss on JE WU 2R R e 2 SRIERU(E S 18
amounts due from non-controlling B
interests 980 —
Short term lease expense EEEERY 948 464
Listing expenses EmAX — 9,560
Staff costs (including directors’ ETRA(BREZHE) :
emoluments):
— Salaries, wages and other — He  TAREMEF
benefits 23,931 22,110
— Retirement scheme contribution — RINGHEIEK 1,229 3,317
25,160 25,427

Note:

(i) Amortisation of intangible assets was included in “cost of sales”
and “administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Bt -

(i)

BREEHFENFARERRAEEKRER
AEFATHEERAIRITTHRRAX] -
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10.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

10. FAIEHER

2020 2019
2020 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT AREFIT
Current tax B HA 5 18
Tax for the current year NEETRIE 29 159
Deferred tax JEFER IH
Credited to profit or loss for the year st AFRIEZ (1,570) (473)
(1,541) (314)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman

Islands.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group is

not subject to any income tax in the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “CIT Law”),
which became effective on 1 January 2008, the Group’s PRC
entities are subject to income tax at a rate of 25%, unless

otherwise specified.

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable tax
rate on the estimated assessable profits for the year, based
on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof. The general corporate income tax rate in PRC
is 25%. Two subsidiaries of the Group in PRC was approved
as High and New Technology Enterprise, and is subjected to

a preferential income tax rate of 15% in 2020 (2019: One).

5 years tax free period has been granted by local tax authority

to certain subsidiaries in PRC since 2017.
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The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the

(loss)/profit before income tax credit per the consolidated

FAMBHRERAIELGS
Y zs 2k RO BR PS54 B S AT (8518 ), & 7

BakHEMEE

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as HERWOT
follows:
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARMFT
(Loss)/profit before income tax credit KBTS HIE % 51 (E1E) % A (76,319) 10,601
Tax calculated at the rates applicable &5 BEH &% & & AR
to profits in the tax jurisdictions BANBRGENTIE
concerned (17,406) 6,308
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT HIF B X (O FR7E 2 &2
for tax purposes 17,765 1,942
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBIWMA BT %2
tax purposes (359) (240)
Tax effect of temporary difference ERERYREHEANBTE
recognised (1,570) (473)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERHIEEENT S oE
recognised — 723
Tax effect of PRC preferential tax rate " EEERRNHETE — (8,733)
PRC withholding tax on interest A2 WA B B FE B
income 29 159
Income tax credit FRiSBiE % (1,541) (314)
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11. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

The calculation of basic loss per share for 2020 is
based on the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of RMB73,753,000 and the weighted average
of 2,291,196,000 ordinary shares in issue during the
year ended 31 December 2020, excluding the unvested
restricted shares of the Company under share award

scheme which comprise:

(i 42,949,678 ordinary shares repurchased under
share award scheme throughout the year ended
31 December 2020; and

(i) 3,529,916 ordinary shares vested during the year

for share award scheme.

The calculation of basic earnings per share for 2019
is based on the profit attributable to the owners of the
Company of RMB10,917,000 and the weighted average
of 2,260,974,000 ordinary shares in issue during the

year ended 31 December 2019, comprising:

(i 22,368,231 ordinary shares in issue as at the

beginning of the year;

(i) 201,314,079 ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the share split on 24 February 2019 and
1,878,517,690 ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the capitalization issue on the completion of
the initial public offering, as if the above total of
2,079,831,769 ordinary shares were outstanding
throughout the year ended 31 December 2019;

and
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(b)

(iii) 197,800,000 ordinary shares issued on 14 March
2019 by initial public offering.

(i) F2019FE3H14HBEBERA
38 BT 35779 197,800,000 A%
@A -

2020 2019
2020 20194

(Loss)/profit attributable to AARHEE ARG (ER)

the owners of the Company B AREFT)

(RMB’000) (73,753) 10,917
Weighted average number B BT EmAR A It

of ordinary shares in issue FEHE(FA)

(thousand shares) 2,291,196 2,260,974
Basic (loss)/earnings per share AR AHEA ARG TR

attributable to the owners of EAR(EER) EF

the Company (RMB per share) (BZRARKT) (0.032) 0.005

Diluted (b) #%

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Company had potential ordinary shares of unvested
restricted shares of the Company. The potential ordinary
shares were not included in the calculation of diluted
loss per share, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2020 is the same as basic loss per share

of the respective year.

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2019 is the same as the basic earnings per
share as there is no dilutive potential ordinary shares in

existence during the respective year.

BRESEIE B BARETEIN
TRIRAMETHEGE - URE
ERMAETHEES T AR &BE
2020F 12 A31HIEFE + XA A
BHEERBBIRHIRONEEE
AR ARFTABREBEHFEAR
BEAE SRS ESRE SRS
B R ABEL AR - Bt - &
FE2020F 12 A1 HIEFENER
BEEERARTFENERERNE
B8R -

HRE Z2019F 12 A1 B IEFE
Wi BB B SR RN L mAR - i
BR#ERFEEEFENGRE
REFIFER °
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. ESERFETBRAENMESRAN
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID REHAL
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM<
Details of directors’ emoluments for the years ended HE2020F N2019F L FEES
2020 and 2019 are as follows: e EEEan T
Salaries,
allowance Retirement
and benefits-  Discretionary scheme
in-kind bonuses  contributions
e 2ER
Bh7l% BERL  BARGEER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR AREFT AR¥TFT ARBTFT ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2020  EZ 2020512831 A
LEE
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Yang Bin (Note (ii)) BREEM () 106 1,116 99 34 1,355
Mr. Huang Kewang (Note (ii) ~ EHEREHE (i) 106 635 59 3 832
Ms. Luo Yanhong (Note (iv)) BREALLT (W () 80 339 - 19 438
Ms. Zhou Zoe (Note (v)) Zhou Zoe XL (Hii# (v)) 32 161 - - 193
Non-executive director FHTEE
Ms. Wang Ge (Note (vii)) BT (Mt (vii) 1 - - - 1
Mr. Liu Ailun (Note (x)) B mEEMZ(x) 21 - - - 21
Independent non-executive BUFHITEE
director
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Note (xi)) — BHEEEA (W (xi) 178 - - - 178
Mr. Liu Binghai (Note (xi)) 2IRBEE W (x) 178 - - - 178
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (Note (xi)) TREREWE (x) 178 - - - 178
880 2,251 158 85 3,374
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z= 20204 12 A 31 HILF &

Salaries,

allowance Retirement
and benefits- Discretionary scheme
Fees in-kind bonuses contributions Total
Fe 2R &2
ik ENflE BsfEa L5 i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARKTFT AREFT AREFT
Year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019%12A318
LEE
Executive director HiTEE
Mr. Yang Bin (Note (ii)) R AL ) 84 709 — 82 875
Mr. Huang Kewang (Note (iii)) R EEWE (i) 44 565 = 77 686
Ms. Zhou Zoe (Note (v)) Zhou Zoe ZE(Hiit(v)) 35 365 — — 400
Ms. Chen Xiaona (Note (vi)) REML L (f73 (vi) 55 457 — 53 565
Mr. Zheng Shunqi (Note (vi)) BB S (W22 (vi) 55 307 = 37 399
Ms. Shi Hui (Note (vii) MELL (it (vi) 77 392 = 56 525
Non-executive director FHTEE
Ms. Wang Ge (Note (viii)) TR (Wt (vii) 17 = — = 17
Mr. Yang Zhenghong (Note (ix))  BEEEE(M 2 (ix) 10 — — — 10
Independent non-executive director BV H#H7TEZE
Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong (Note (xi))  BERBIXEA(HE (xi) 140 — — — 140
Mr. Liu Binghai (Note (xi)) BIRBLEMW 2 () 140 = = = 140
Mr. Wang Yingzhe (Note (xi)) FREZEMZ () 140 = = = 140
797 2,795 - 305 3,897
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% 20204 12 A 31 HILFE

DOUMOB

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

Z8EH

No directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). No directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Mr. Yang Bin was appointed as executive directors of the
Company on 26 March 2018.

Mr. Huang Kewang was appointed as executive director
of the Company on 12 September 2019.

Ms. Luo Yanhong was appointed as executive director of
the Company on 17 April 2020.

Ms. Zhou Zoe was appointed as executive director of
the Company on 12 September 2019 and resigned on 17
April 2020.

Ms. Chen Xiaona and Mr. Zheng Shungi were appointed
as executive directors of the Company on 14 August
2018 and resigned on 12 September 2019.

Ms. Shi Hui was appointed as executive directors of
the Company on 14 August 2018 and resigned on 6
December 2019.

Ms. Wang Ge was appointed as non-executive director
of the Company on 14 August 2018 and resigned on 10
January 2020.

Mr. Yang Zhenghong was appointed as non-executive
director of the Company on 21 August 2018 and resigned
on 30 August 2019.

Mr. Liu Ailun was appointed as non-executive director of
the Company on 10 January 2020.

Mr. Chan Yiu Kwong, Mr. Liu Binghai and Mr. Wang
Yingzhe were appointed as the independent non-
executive directors of the Company on 20 February 2019.

RERR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STA

X

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(i)

-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B R AR Y A

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

(b) ERBEHFAL
FEBTRSBHEALHATET -

2020 2019
2020 F 20194

(b) The five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group are

analysed as follows:

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A& A&

Directors g% 2 3
Non-directors, the highest paid EBEESFAL

individual 3 2

5 5

Details of the emoluments of the above non-directors,

tRSESHFEEALOMEFFE

the highest paid individual are as follows: LN
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFIT
Salaries and other emoluments FeRHEAMME 1,736 1,332
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 155 —
Retirement scheme contribution RORET B R 73 138
1,964 1,470

The number of the highest paid non-directors fell within

the following emolument band:

MEeENFUTHENESFHFES
AL AZIT :

2020 2019

2020 20194

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AZ

Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,0008 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %2 1,500,000

BT — 1

3 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. V¥ -  BERRE

144

Furniture,
fixtures and
office Motor Right-of-use
equipment Computers vehicles assets Total
FEEER
WAERE B RE ERREE &%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF ANRETFT ANRETFT NREFT ANRETFT
COST RA&
At 31 December 2018 as originally ~ E%R 201851 A 1A 25

stated 153 127 430 — 710

Initial application of HKFRS 16 BRERBBHNBREERR
%165 = = — 4,107 4,107
Restated balance as at 1 January 20195151 BHEET

2019 3 153 127 430 4,107 4,817
Disposal e (62) (22) — - (84)
Effect of lease modification REBINT 2 — = = (551) (551)
At 31 December 2019 and R2019E12831 AR

1 January 2020 2020%1A81A 91 105 430 3,556 4,182
Addition NE — — — 6,049 6,049
Disposal HE — (3) — (3,556) (3,559)
At 31 December 2020 12020512531 8 91 102 430 6,049 6,672
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ RiffiE
At 31 December 2018 as originally ~ R%£K2018 €12 A31 A

stated 23] 114 55 4 — 210
Initial application of HKFRS 16 BRERBBHBREER

£ 165 = = — 2,288 2,288
Restated balance as at R2019%E1 A1 BHEET)

1 January 2019 3 114 58 4 2,288 2,498
Depreciation ik} 22 25 122 1,321 1,490
Written off on disposal L E R 3 (59) (21) — (80)
Effect of lease modification REBINT 2 — = = (338) (338)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January R2019F12A31HR

2020 20201817 7 59 163 3,271 3,570
Depreciation ik 13 20 82 848 963
Written off on disposal L BB 35 — (3) — (3,556) (3,559)
At 31 December 2020 ®2020512F31A 90 76 245 563 974
NET BOOK VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2020 ®2020%12831H 1 26 185 5,486 5,698
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12B831H 14 46 267 285 612
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

The above items of property, plant and equipment are L% BEREEEB ET R
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful BT RIREBERRE G AIERSE
lives and after taking into account of their estimate resided HARNIR B GAITE

residual values.

No property, plant and equipment was pledged at 31 2020612 A31H » BEE (T

December 2020 (2019: Nil). Y- BB KR EB(019F :
) o

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets at end of each FREESENSHBESREBRZER

Relevant Periods and the depreciation by classes of right-of- BEREBRES N ERAEEREITE

use assets are set out as below: HTR -

As at 31 December
MW12H31H

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBTFr
Carrying amount BREE
Leased property HEWF 5,486 285
For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEE
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT ARKTFT
Depreciation charged TERX
Leased property HEME 848 1,321
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B &EE
Subscription Film script
Software accounts license right Total
E¥
BH HIL S BI A MR af
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREF AREF AEEFT
COST B
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1 818 10,334 20,795 — 31,129
Additions — internally developed RE — APRE 8,729 — — 8,729
Additions — externally acquired RE — BEIR 6,604 26,011 7,245 39,860
At 31 December 2019 and W2019F12A31 8K
1 January 2020 2020F1A1H 25,667 46,806 7,245 79,718
Additions — internally developed AE — NERE 10,950 — — 10,950
Additions — externally acquired RE — BEIR 1,623 566 — 2,189
At 31 December 2020 R2020F12A31H 38,240 47,372 7,245 92,857
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION EHE £
At 1 January 2019 W2019F1 818 3,118 3,910 = 7,023
Charge for the year ER 4,667 10,853 — 15,520
At 31 December 2019 and R2019F12A31 AR
1 January 2020 202051 A1H 7,780 14,763 — 22,543
Charge for the year FRZH 8,964 15,484 — 24,448
At 31 December 2020 R2020F12831H 16,744 30,247 — 46,991
NET BOOK VALUE RERHE
At 31 December 2020 R2020512A31H 21,496 17,125 7,245 45,866
At 31 December 2019 R2019512A31H 17,887 32,043 7,245 57,175

DOUMOB T ERIZER AT



Amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets has been
recognised as follows:

v

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ST
iR B R AR Y A

For the year ended 31 December 2020 # % 20204 12 A 31 HILF[E

Y,

REBELEENSIHEROT

2020 2019

2020 F 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AR¥TFT

Cost of sales SHE KA 4,389 12,125
Administrative expenses THHAX 20,059 3,395
24,448 15,520

Development cost that does not meet the criteria in note
4.6 is recognised as an expense as incurred. Capitalised
development cost is recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use.
The self-developed software with development cost occurred
but not ready for use are recorded as development cost
and subject to impairment test at each year end. As of 31
December 2020, development cost of approximately RMB
4,910,000 (2019: RMB2,029,000) was incurred and met
the criteria in note 4.6, but not ready for use. Based on the
impairment assessment result, the directors of the Company
consider that no impairment charge was required as of 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil).

DA T 7 4.6 BT 5 A% 2E /O (28 B AR R EE
ERBRARY - BIEERNMAEMAD
RREREE  BEERHER —ZBE
i EEERBERANBRAHEEANET
MBS EHARERAN  WRESEFER
EITRERI - R20205 12 A31 8 » &
4 AR #4,910,0007(20194F : AR
# 2,029,000 7T ) FEERK A - I B & W&
AGFTHIEZ.E - BARAIEER - REBRE
FEER ARAIESRAE - R20204F
12 A 31 B RERZ (20194F : ) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

16.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON
SUBSCRIPTION ACCOUNTS CGU AND ONLINE
ADVERTISING BUSINESS CGU

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts
of Subscription Accounts and Software set out in note 15 have
been allocated to the Subscription Accounts CGU and Online
Advertising Business CGU respectively.

Subscription Accounts of RMB17,125,000 are allocated to the
CGU of Subscription Accounts and System of RMB21,496,000
are allocated to the CGU of Online Advertising Business. The
recoverable amount of the CGU of Subscription Accounts has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management of the Group covering
a five-year period having an average annual growth rate of
2.1% and pre-tax discount rate of 20.7% and projection of
terminal value using the perpetuity method at a growth rate
of 3.0%. A key assumption for the value in use calculation is
the budgeted growth rate, which is determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development in the PRC. No impairment on this CGU is made
for the year ended 31 December 2020 as the recoverable
amount exceeded the carrying amount. Management of the
Group believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
the assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the
CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of the CGU.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of Online Advertising
Business has been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management of the
Group covering a five-year period having an average annual
growth rate of 13.0% and pre-tax discount rate of 22.0% and
projection of terminal value using the perpetuity method at a
growth rate of 3.0%. A key assumption for the value in use
calculation is the budgeted growth rate, which is determined
based on past performance and management’'s expectations
for the market development in the PRC. No impairment on
this CGU is made for the year ended 31 December 2020
as the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount.
Management of the Group believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of the assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the recoverable
amount of the CGU.

DOUMOB EEERIZ AR A F
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»

AHRFREE4AEVRBRLEES
EBREELBMHBENMGE

SORERFAME - M 15 EAETRRP
REMAREEE DA EETHEFRES
ELBURG TEEEBREELEM -

AR 17125000t M EFE o
REFHEFRSELSN MARE
21,496,000 T Z G E DB EZHR LES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. RAAREFABENHBEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARBFr
Non-current JERED
Film and drama investments/film BEYREBIRE BEBEKE
investment 13,445 8,500
Unlisted equity investment FELETRERE 1,696 —
Unlisted equity investments with M AR Y IE AR IR &
put options 8,687 —
23,828 8,500
On 23 August 2019, Doumob (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. R2019F8 H23H » E (bt =) BRI H &
(“Doumob Technology”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary MAERAA(TZERME]  RATMHEE

of the Company, entered into a joint investment agreement of
interactive drama with Zhongyi Boyue Culture Media Limited
(“Zhongyi Boyue”), pursuant to which Doumob Technology
agreed to, together with Zhongyi Boyue, participate in the
investment of an interactive drama (“Interactive Drama”)
and Doumob Technnology shall contribute an amount of
RMB7,800,000 in 2019. On 7 January 2020, pursuant to
a supplemental agreement with Zhongyi Boyue, Doumob
Techology agreed to contribute an additional amount of
RMB4,200,000 to the investment of the Interactive Drama. The
total investment amount from Doumob Technology is changed
from RMB7,800,000 to RMB12,000,000. Doumob Technology
was entitled to share certain percentage of income to be
generated from the distribution of the Interactive Drama based
on the proportion of investment amount. The returns of the
investment on the drama project were not guaranteed. It was
measured at fair value through profit or loss as explained in
note 4.7(i) and Note 34.

On 19 January 2020, Doumob Technology entered into a joint
investment agreement of online film with Beijing Mingtang
Shengshi International Culture Media Co., Ltd (“Beijing
Mingtang”), pursuant to which Doumob Technology agreed to,
together with Beijing Mingtang, participate in the investment of
an online film (“Online Film”) and Doumob Technnology shall
contribute an amount of RMB400,000. Doumob Technology
was entitled to share certain percentage of income to be
generated from the distribution of the Online Film based
on the proportion of investment amount. The returns of the
investment on the film project were not guaranteed. It was
measured at fair value through profit or loss as explained in
note 4.7(i) and Note 34.

%éﬂﬁ% A)) E AR B b EEB R
T(H@TT@ 1% 1) 313 B BN BB & IR E 1
CE SERRREER T EEHS
HEHE([EFE MIEE - mMIBRX
#2019 4F )= A A R # 7,800,000 7T °
R2020F1 A78 @ RIEEFEFH T
W HE  SEMEREEINEAAR
# 4,200,000 TR E BB E - S BEHE
MR EEFER AR 7,800,000 T F 4 A
AR 12,000,000 7T - E BRI AERE
BESEMLHDEEEEBBBITEEN
WAZETFEDL - BIEITER /i%E B R
WEEARTE o B a0FIsE4.7(i) & B 5 34 AT
B ETDEARERAERE -

73/\2020@1 A19H S BERHEIE RS
EREBEBXEEEERAR(ERS

_%J).J_L,%;?J:EE% e E k- IRUL
TREMERAEHRRAILREER2ER FEY

(H&t%%ﬂ)a’ﬁxﬁ i =2 B R &EA
AR 400,0007T - T ARHEARZIEE
SEMLLAID AR EEFEITELEN
WAZETEDL - ZEEFHEMNEKRE
[0 3R AT AR TE o AN EE4.7(i) K M 7E 34
FrEgiE - HVR A nET AR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

Unlisted equity investment and unlisted equity investments
with put options are issued by five (2019: nil) private entities.
The business of these entities is provision of software
technologies, social media consultation and marketing
services. As at 31 December 2020, the Group designated
unlisted equity investment and unlisted equity investment with
put options as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

Details of the unlisted equity investment and unlisted equity

investments with put options are as follows:

Proportion
of share
capital
Name of investee owned Fair value
REHZER EERALA DRE

2020 2019
2020 & 20196

0\
\

FE ETRRAEIR A KM AR A IE E TR AR
IR E B AR(20194F « £)F A E BB
1T ZEETBOERARMEEGRIE - 4L
REEBFAREHRE - R2020F 12 A
318 ' AEEIEE I LTRERE KK
ROMERIE E TR E AR AR ERA
BRI HEE -

FE LTI B R M S RO R A I BT AR
BEENFBOT

Unrealized gain/(loss) % of total assets

for the year of the Group

REERERNE/ (FB) HAREAEER DL

2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 & 20195 2020 & 20196

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR | AREFT | ARBTZ | ARETT | ARBFL | ARKTT
Shenzhen Yunyou Album Technology Co.,
Ltd* (Note (i)
AmE AR RER AR M7 ()
(previous name:
AiE :
AL HERRERAT) N/A N/A N/A
15.0% 2,962 aycli (38) TiEH 1.11% TEm
Wuxi Zhongwuyun Information Technology
Co., Ltd*(Note (i)
RNEERRR(ES)BRAR (ML (i)
(previous name:
AlE N/A N/A N/A
EGPNZEERRERAR) 10.0% 2,989 TER (11) TER 1.12% TER
Hangzhou Lechuan Technology
Co., Ltd* (Note (i) N/A N/A N/A
MMEERRERBB AR A2 (i) 12.5% 1,734 TEf 234 TER 0.65% TEf
Beijing Jinri Zuijia Technology Co., Ltd*
(Note (iv)) N/A N/A N/A
RS BBRERRERAR K (v) 15.0% 1,002 TER 2 TEm 0.38% TEm
N/A N/A N/A
Lahoo Information Development Ltd. 15.0% 1,696 NEMA 947 NEMA 0.64% NEfA
N/A N/A
10,383 TiEh 1,134 TER
* The English names of the entities established in th PRC are * TR BRSO 58 4 T 0 3 OB R B R

translated for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

Notes:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of Shenzhen Yunyou Album Technology
Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen Yunyou”), the Group has an option to
require the original shareholders of Shenzhen Yunyou to acquire
all of the shares of Shenzhen Yunyou held by the Group at their
original cost in the event that Shenzhen Yunyou fails to fulfill
certain conditions and terms stipulated in the agreement.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of Wuxi Zhongwuyun Information
Technology Co., Ltd (“Wuxi Zhongwuyun”), the Group has an
option to require the original shareholders of Wuxi Zhongwuyun
to acquire all of the shares of Wuxi Zhongwuyun held by the
Group at their original cost in the event that Wuxi Zhongwuyun
fails to fulfill certain conditions and terms stipulated in the
agreement.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of Hangzhou Lechuan Technology Co., Ltd
(“Hangzhou Lechuan”), the Group has an option to require the
original shareholders of Hangzhou Lechuan to acquire all of the
shares of Hangzhou Lechuan held by the Group at their original
cost in the event that Hangzhou Lechuan fails to fulfill certain
conditions and terms stipulated in the agreement.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into by the Group and
original shareholders of Beijing Jinri Zuijia Technology Co., Ltd
(“Beijing Jinri Zuijia”), the Group has an option to require the
original shareholders of Beijing Jinri Zuijia to acquire all of the
shares of Beijing Jinri Zuijia held by the Group at their original
cost in the event that Beijing Jinri Zuijia fails to fulfill certain
conditions and terms stipulated in the agreement.

Reconciliation of the financial assets at fair value through

E

() BREAKEERIHEHAMEERER QA
(DRINZH 1) RBRET LA % - R IE
MERRBIT BB E A TR RIES - A
5 B ATE 2 2 SORYIT N 0 R BRI R ST
AU AR B PR A BRI B

(i) REAKBEFYEEERZ(ER) AR
B([EHPYE )RR - i
B Y EROREIT AR E TR R &
R AEEALEERRKESHYENRER
BRERRNEERNREAFERAE EHD
MERAL -

(i) MREBEAEEEGMNEENRBERBERAF
(TN ZEME ) RARIR AT SZE 1h o - fiiAu I 2%
EERBITHHERENE THRERESR &
& B ATE 2 2R N R RBCRIZ R SEK
AU AR B FTRF A B PR B M EE R

(iv) REASBEELERSBABRENKERAR
(TER 5 BEE ) RBCRET LA e+ fisdt
RS A ERARITH AR ERNE TR R
G AREMERRRIERS AR ENR
BRI R R AR B AR E B A NMAIL
RS BRERD -

BAfREFABSRNNEEENL KRN

profit or loss as follow: T~
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFT
At 1 January ®n1A1H 8,500 —
Additions NE 13,841 7,800
Fair value gain for the year FARAREWE 1,487 700
At 31 December ®12 431 H 23,828 8,500
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # % 20204 12 A 31 HIL&F[E

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Details of the deferred tax assets recognised and movements

are as follows:

18. EEMRIEEE

Y,

ERRANELERREENESHFHEMT

Allowance
Allowance on on doubtful
doubtful debt debt on trade
on contract and other
assets receivables Total
BHEE HIRHMEWR
REREE RIERREE &3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ABEFT AEHTT ABR®FT
At 1 January 2019 R2019%F1 818 294 76 370
Credited to profit or loss for FAFAER
the year 445 28 473
Others Eith (1) = (1)
At 31 December 2019 and R2019F 12831 HK
1 January 2020 20201 A1H 738 104 842
Credited to profit or loss for FFAFREE
the year 1,206 364 1,570
At 31 December 2020 #2020F12A31H 1,944 468 2,412

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB10,614,000
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB10,614,000), as it is not
probable that the future taxable profits which can be utilised

will be available. The tax losses will expire from 2022 to 2024.

DOUMOB ZERKAER LN A

REEWEBF 2020 F 12 A 31 BHHAREE
10,614,000 7L(20194F : A R# 10,614,000
TR B M IBEBERAEEHIEEE - R
E AT KA e IR A T8 A 8RR ERTE
s Al o I8 85 18 1 7R 2022 F & 2024 FF F
e
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EZEWRIE
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AREFTL
Trade receivables B 5 W RIA 14,608 14,310
Less: Loss allowance for trade i B 5 REWGRIEEE
receivables B (8,776) (1,536)
5,832 12,774
The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment B 5 WA (KRR EER) NSRS
losses at the end of each reporting period based on invoice HIRERZEZ A BRI T
date is as follows:
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARETFITL
0 — 30 days 0Z30H 3,636 2,910
31 - 60 days 31£60H 116 10
61 - 90 days 61Z290H —_ 66
91 - 180 days 91E 180 H 830 8,255
181 — 365 days 1812365 H 43 5,505
Over 365 days 365 B E 1,207 1,028
5,832 12,774
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group allows HE2020F 12 A31BILEE  A&EEM
credit periods ranging from 1 to 30 days (2019: 1 to 30 days) EZXEEHENTF1230H(2019F : 1 &
to its customers. Before accepting any new customer, the R)MEEN - AEEEEXEMHE
Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and PRl M EEREPNEEEER - IR
defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to BRIV EERSE ASETEEHER
customers and credit term granted to customers are reviewed ARPIVNEERBRATEELNG
regularly. The Group does not hold any collateral or other EH - AEEWEGEE S ENKIBLE S
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. FEEMERREMEEEE BHE

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. WRIEATEHE ©
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»

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set

RIBBEMBEREEREIRATINMEE
7% B ZREFRERNERNEME

out in HKFRS 9 as follow: BEEBEZHIT
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT ARETF T
At 1 January ®n1A1H 1,536 450

Provision for impairment loss B 5 W RIBREEE

on trade receivables B 7,240 1,086
At 31 December ®12A31H 8,776 1,536

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type or rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

AEER SRS A RRABEEEETR
B U EBEMEEEE - BEXTD
NEBRUEBERANZ @R P 5 54485
(ANEPRAESFFNBRARBREE -
BRERRERNESER  E¥HER
RSB SEREBESM  BERR
RARFEEARFBANSEBEER

AT H G AR EEEE2YAEAEEE
SEBGRIBEmE EERBHER

A 202012 A31H

Past due

BEH

Less than 3to6 6to 12
Current 3 months months months

L SR3EA 3Z6f3A 6Z12f3A

Expected credit loss rate EHEEFER 2.98% 2.98% 7.64% 8.80% 94.09% 60.08%
Gross carrying amount (RMB000) RHSBARETT) 3,748 120 945 736 9,059 14,608
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BREEBRALE L) 112 4 7 65 8,523 8,776

As at 31 December 2019 M20194F 12 A31H

Past due
[Bhati]
Less than 306 6to 12 QOver

Current 3 months months months 1 year Total

Gk PH3{EA 3Z26{EA 62 12f84 TEUE Eh

Expected credit loss rate BHEERRR 3.18% 3.18% 8.17% 11.46% 50.55% 10.74%
Gross carrying amount (RMB1000) RESEAEETFT) 3,006 78 5,914 4,427 885 14310
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BREEER(AKEFT) 9% 2 483 508 47 1536
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS 20. EHEE
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights EHEETZEBASERNRERBHE
to consideration for services provided but not billed at the TRAHE % AR B IR AR | R 5 AR S S A b 8

& RS A B Ui AR E M RBEIA
BOERN - SHNEER A BENK SRR

. ransferred t vablos whon tho T MR EEEREWIE - FliERBERA
assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become RS A B A .

reporting date on revenue related to the provisions of online
advertising services and online sales services. The contract

unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group provides
the invoice to the customer.

2020 2019
2020 fF 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARBFr
Contract assets EHEE 69,767 76,102
Less: Loss allowance for contract - ERNEEBERE
assets (35,404) (15,865)
34,363 60,237
Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for AREEIREEB N ERELELR|FE 95 FTE,
contract assets in accordance with the simplified approach LA ERENEERANEHEHREE
set out in HKFRS 9 as follow: BREEHMT
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
At 1 January ®n1A1H 15,865 7,254
Provision for impairment loss on AHEEREBERE
contract assets 19,539 8,611
At 31 December W12 A 31H 35,404 15,865
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An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of
the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade
receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade
receivables for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e. by customer type or rating).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

AEEEREHRE A BRAREREET
WMEST - AHHERBAEEER - StE4
MEENTRBEEBERMABBERUZE
BHRBKBAREE  THRANEERE
SRR B HREFER - sLEE
BA(EFAKFR)BENZATF
BEFBAME  AHEENBBEINE
SRKFENAREBRELE - FRE
RERBEEIEER  EEREARRES
BHRSABBESMF BRI EARE
RERRIANGERRER

UTHEIIRABEERZSFRASER
MEEMESERERRNER :

2019

20194

Expected credit loss rate TEHEEEEEX 50.75% 20.85%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) REREAEEFrT) 69,767 76,102
Expected credit losses (RMB ' 000) TEEEEEB(AKRE L) 35,404 15,865
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21. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21. &2  AUREREMERRIER
RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
2020 2019 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT AREFT
Deposits b 561 1,441
Prepayments TE 3R I8 16,480 12,150
Other receivables H {th & U 5K 08 11,031 7,257
Less: Loss allowance for the other J - EAb FEUERIA B 1B e
receivables (2,501) —
25,571 20,848
22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS/NON- 22. BERR FERERNIE
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT AREFIT
Amounts due from shareholders JE U B BRSO 200 200
Amounts due from non-controlling JE UK SR AR 4 25 R TE
interests 980 980
Less: Loss allowance for amounts due & - JEUIERE IR RE 25 3B
from non-controlling interests EEEE (980) —
— 980

The amounts due from shareholders and non-controlling
interests are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand

and non-trade in nature.

YR e IR A 2
B AREBREERFEHIEE -
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23. TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY

P
L

REMBEBE3EANEHFREU

OVER 3 MONTHS AND CASH AND CASH LEERBAESEEY
EQUIVALENTS
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFr
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY
Cash at bank RITIRE 22,392 48,635
Time deposits with original maturity REIEA B A& 318 A ARE
within 3 months TE BiF 3R 67,322 70,280
89,714 118,915
Time deposits with original JREIHA A #8368 3 & A 1B T8
maturity over 3 months 1 F 0 BiTF X
but not exceeding 1 year 32,622 47,017

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposit with original maturity within
3 months carries interest at a rate of 2.03% per annum (2019:
2.03%). Time deposits with original maturity over 3 months but
no exceeding 1 years carries interest at a market rate of 2.60%
(2019: 3.70%) per annum.

Certain of the cash and bank balances denominated in RMB
placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible
to other currencies. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies
only through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

DOUMOB T ERIZER AT

IRITIR S RIFRITE B 7 5/ K IZZ B F
EHIAE - REISHBEASEALANE
HATF 712 2.03% (2019 4F : 2.03% ) Fy & )
Kt E - REHABBIMEARTBBEA
EHFEETFE IR 2.60% (20194 : 3.70%)
HFEFIEETR ©

ETURARKFENRS RBITERFR
R EEERTT - ARBTA B ALK E
it 5% o RIE T B IME E BRI A KA
B EERNEEERE AREEE
BEREETINEXRFORITHARE R
BESNE -
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24. TRADE PAYABLES 24. E5EMNKE
2020 2019
2020 % 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBTT
Trade payables B RN HRIA 21,754 11,743
The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the B REMNFIENEEE TEA RS ERS
terms agreed with different suppliers, normally range from 1 BEMEEIMERTR  —MNFE1BE
day to 60 days. Based on the receipt of services and goods, 60H - RIEBEWREEEY BHE(—izHE
which normally coincided with the invoice dates, the ageing HEHEER)  AEEZSEMNZTERE
analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of each WEHIRMBER ST -
of the reporting period is as follows:
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
0 - 30 days 0£30H 7,378 4,685
31 - 90 days 31290H 10,736 1,820
91 - 180 days 91%E180H 241 902
181 — 365 days 1812365 H 786 1,568
Over 365 days 365 A E 2,613 2,768
21,754 11,743
The trade payables are short-term and hence the carrying ERNEZEMNFIBARHRIE  IAEE
values of the Group’s trade payables are considered to be a EORNABENREEAEFERARARENS

reasonable approximation of fair value. XIS -
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25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

L/ %

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STA’

X

25. EFFERARHEMENTER

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARKFr
Salaries payables AN 2,165 2,167
Accruals st &R 3 1,870
Other tax payables B fth e A B IE 7,698 5,663
Other payables H Ath FE 5 5R08 2,585 376
12,451 10,076

26. LEASES LIABILITIES 26. HESE

The Group leases properties to operate its business. These
leases are typically made for fixed terms of three years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different payments and conditions. These lease agreement do
not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used

as security for borrowing purpose.

The Group also leases properties with term of less than one
year. These leases are short-term and the Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for

these leases.

DOUMOB ZERKAER LN A

AEEHEMEACERRE - %2FHE
BEEARHIFHNEEHR - MEKK
TREREERERNE - B2 RN G
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The carrying amount of lease liabilities

during the year are as follows:

and the movements

VR

FR - HERENREERZSHNOT

2020 2019

2020 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBFor

At 1 January ®1A1H — 1,704

New lease HEE 6,049 —

Interest expenses NN 53 46

Payments 3R (1,276) (1,537)

Effect of lease modification HEEITNTE — (213)

At 31 December n12 831 H 4,826 —
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  BLERM s HFAT :

— Current liabilities — REBAR 2,386 —

— Non-current liabilities — FRPAE 2,440 =

4,826 —
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(a)

0\
\

\

AN

9

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27. EXR#E
Capital (a) B
2020 2019
2020 2019F
No. of shares Nominal value No. of shares ~ Nominal value
R EE HE L] EfA
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Hizt ARETFT ARE T
Authorised: EE
Initial share capital upon PAFER R LB A0 A4
incorporation AR (i) 3,800,000 331 3,800,000 331
Subdivision of share capital AS# (ii) 34,200,000 - 34,200,000 —
Increase in authorised
share capital (i) 962,000,000 8,280 962,000,000 8,280
Subdivision of share capital A& (iv) | 9,000,000,000 — | 9,000,000,000 =
10,000,000,000 8,611 [10,000,000,000 8,611
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAER
As at 1 January ®1A1H 2,300,000,000 1,967 22,368,231 195
Subdivision of share capital BASF (ii), (iv) - — 201,314,079 -
Issuance of ordinary shares RERLEEIT
upon capitalisation LB (v) - — | 1,878,517,690 1,604
Issuance of ordinary shares AERAHZEER
by initial public offering BITE AR (vi) — - 197,800,000 168
As at 31 December ®12A31H 2,300,000,000 1,967 | 2,300,000,000 1,967

DOUMOB
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

Note:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 26 March
2018. Its initial authorised share capital was HK$380,000
divided into 3,800,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.1
per share.

On 3 May 2018, the Company resolved that each issued
and unissued share of the Company of HK$0.1 par value
be sub-divided into 10 shares, each with a par value
of HK$0.01. After such share split, the Company has
authorised share capital of HK$380,000 divided into
38,000,000 shares, each with a par value of HK$0.01.

On 20 February 2019, the Company resolved that
the authorised share capital of the Company be
increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$10,000,000 divided into
1,000,000,000 shares of nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

On 24 February 2019, the Company resolved that each
issued and unissued share of the Company of HK$0.01
par value be sub-divided into 10 shares, each with a par
value of HK$0.001. Accordingly, the authorised share
capital of the Company became HK$10,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 shares and the issued share capital
of the Company became HK$223,682,310 divided into
223,682 shares.

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 20 February
2019 and 24 February 2019, the directors of the Company
were authorised to allot and issue a total of 1,878,517,690
ordinary shares credited as fully paid at par to the
shareholders as appearing on the register of members of
the Company at the close of business on 13 March 2019,
by way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$1,879,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,604,000) standing to
the credit of the share premium of the Company.

On 14 March 2019, 197,800,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.001 each were issued at a price of HK$0.41
each upon the listing of the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange. The proceeds of HK$197,800
(equivalent to approximately RMB168,000) representing
the par value of the ordinary shares of the Company,
were credited to the Company’s share capital. The
remaining proceeds, net of share issuance expenses,
of approximately HK$57,580,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB49,154,000) were credited to the
share premium account.

Bt -

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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RAAR2018F 3 A 26 BERM &5
SFAMKIAEREERDF - 1)
A% T IR A £ 380,000 7T+ B A
3,800,000 f% & A% I {& 0.1 7 JT /9 AR

% o

R 20185 A3 H * AR AFREA
AREREBEIBITHE BFITRR
BT D A 10 = EE0.01
BILERG - RO D FE - AAA
# K 7 B 7 & 380,000 7T © 2 A&
38,000,000 % & A I {E 0.01 % 7T &Y
f&15 o

R2019F 2 A20R * AA R FHRKE
N1 8 B0 FE AR 2N $1 380,000 7% 7T
(% 738,000,000 % & & & {E0.01
75 7T B9 BR £ ) 3 A1 = 10,000,000 7
7(% #£1,000,000,000 f% & f% = &
0.01 BITHIRRD )

MR2019F 28248 « AN A 7 # R
HEARARIFAREEC.O1BITHE 3
TRARBITIRGOFAI0RERE
fH0.001 B TH M - Bt AR
T E9 34 T B 2% & 10,000,000 7 7T (5
/10,000,000,000 f& & 17 ) + A2
AIA B BITRR A 5 223,682,310/ 7T
(95 223,682 %1% ) °

RIZER2019F2 A20H K 201942 A
AHBBAMNEMARER  AARE
BREEBBEAR ARG EEREN
# BR%81,879,00078 ;T (HH & R4 A
% 1,604,0007T) & A - REE
MR 2019F 3 A 13 B & XA

I 4 511 7 2 ) AR R A 11 ) AR SR B 3 K
%174 #£1,878,517,690 Ik A BE 51
HREL AR o

R2019F3A14H A AR R H
IR D TERE R T E 212 B AR 0.4158
JT M {& & %% 17 197,800,000 i% & A%
M {E0.001 7 7T ) I AR - FT1§ 3K
197,800 T(HHE RN AR K
168,000 7T ) & R A 2 &) & AR 6 |
B BEREARAINRAE - &40
BRIRHDETRX%E SR TASRE
#)57,580,0007% ;T(HH & R4 AR
¥ 49,154,000 7T ) B #E R = IR 175 B
E‘Eo
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(b) Reserves (b) f&EE

AEBERA S S AR D F 18R
FRESNERERGAERED
R ARARFEERAEKI D REF
VEFRNEFFBEINMT ¢

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balance of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the
Company’s individual components of equity between the

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Share-based

164

DOUMOB

Share Capital Employee payment  Accumulated
The Company Premium reserves share trusts reserve losses Total
IR BERA
| RiEE EhEE  EEROGS DEEE ES )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT NEEFT
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F123318K
1 January 2019 20191718 — 378 — — 1 379
Initial application of HKFRS 16 & RER BB K& £8
£16% = = = = = =
Restated balance at R2019F1 A 18K
1 January 2019 e = 378 = = 1 379
Loss and fotal comprehensive ~ EREERZAUAEE
income for the year — — — — (3,768) (3,768)
Share issued pursuant to the  RIFEALETHEND
capitalisation issue f&f3 (1,604) = = = = (1,604)
Share issued pursuant to the  RIERREEREEME
public offering and placing L) 69,061 - - - - 69,061
Transactions cost attributable to ~ AREERREEHK
the public offering and REHA
placing (19,907) — — — — (19,907)
At 31 December 2019 #2019%12A318 47,550 378 — — (3,767) 44,161
Loss and total comprehensive ~ EREERZAUSLEE
income for the year - - - - (7,725) (7,725)
Contribution to employee EERMHETER
share trusts — — (5,072) — - (5,072)
Grant of restricted share mESRIEERARHEL
units to employees — — — 562 — 552
Vested shares for share award ~ ERGEEHEEERG
scheme — — 424 (424) — —
At 31 December 2020 R2020 124318 47,550 378 (4,648) 128 (11,492) 31,916
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

28.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Restricted Share Unit Scheme

On 14 August 2018, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the establishment of the “Restricted Share
Unit Scheme” (“2018 RSU Scheme”) with the purpose of
recognizing the contributions of the management team and
employees of the Group and incentivizing them to further
promote the development of the Group after the date of the
listing. The 2018 RSU Scheme is valid and effective for 10

years from the approval of the Board of Directors.

The founders of the Group, Mr. Yang, Ms. Chen Xiaona and
Mr. Zheng Shungi, through their respective offshore holding
companies, transferred some of their own shares on the
Company to ESOP Holdings, a company incorporated in the
BVI wholly owned by Mr. Yang, for the purpose of establishing
the 2018 RSU Scheme. Among those shares transferred to
ESOP Holdings, a total of 210,219,991 ordinary shares were
reserved for the vesting of RSUs granted under the 2018 RSU
Scheme.

A participant in the 2018 RSU Scheme (“RSU Participant”)
does not have any contingent interest in any RSUs granted
unless and until such RSUs are actually transferred to the RSU
Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may not exercise voting
rights in respect of the RSUs and, unless otherwise specified
by the Board of Directors in its entire discretion, nor do they
have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or
distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-
scrip distributions from the RSUs.

Under the 2018 RSU Scheme, the aggregate fair value
of restricted shares granted amounted to approximately
RMB608,000. Share-based compensation of RMB511,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, with a corresponding credit to

the equity, for the year ended 31 December 2020.

28.

LA 47 7 B 7 B 45K
2R AR 4D B4 5t 8

MN2018F 8148 AR AEE= Sk
BRSZ[ SZ PR B B st 81 1 (2018 F 32 R
FIRDEMEE ) URTFEEEEKR
AEBEENERMARSBRSENR EWA
HgE— SHBAEERNER - 2018 F %
BHIRHMEBEMFE B EESHERI10FR
BRRER -

NEBMEIPABLE  REH LT R
BB = BB ES ANBEFIERAD A
M ESOP Holdings (—HAREBRZ S
AR BEHBEEE2EBRENAR)E
EBOBESAFAENRARRD « AKX
2018 F B HIMR (D BALEH &l - Rz E
M ESOP Holdings#EM R MHF - &
210,219,991 IR @R E (R B (IR #5 2018
F PR 5 A0 BB AL &R /PR B AR D
BRIEBAR

2018 F X R BB B AT BIM 2 EEF
PR IR 4D BB U B8R & | ) I AL R AT I th A9
SRBIRMD BN EMK AR BRIER
EEREXRABNELNERERTER
BB EM2EERIE - 1o ZR IR
10 BB 2 B3 ] gt EL R R I A fp BB AL AT
EEREE(GIEFE2ENBRENSE
) - INEE AR SR B A1) BB &
SEMRSIFRSWE  REID KR
SRHEFRERIFBYDIROFIISHIA

BE2018F X Rl H BALHE - ATH
EHRZBRHIRNDAAELRBHNAARE
608,0007T ° # £ 2020412 A 31 H (- 4F
- UG ABEROB S ARE511,000
TERGEEBRREMEERERER
W R AR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% 20204 12 A 31 HILFE

Movements in the number of restricted shares granted to the BIE 2018 EX R HIIR D BAIET &I T AA

Company’s employees under the 2018 RSU Scheme and the BEEMNZRHIMNE R L& A/ INHETE
respective weighted-average fair value are as follows: BHAREZSHHT :
Number of
Weighted Restricted
Average Shares
Fair Value Granted
(per share) (thousand)
nfEFEg 2’
ARE FZRE
(BR) RHHE
(F8&)
RMB
ABRH
Outstanding as of 1 January 2020 202041 A1 BEARITE 0.01 133,401
Granted during the year FRERD = —
Lapsed during the year FERNE KRB 0.01 (1,135)
Vested during the year FHREHR 0.01 (40,020)
Outstanding as of 31 December 2020 220204 12 A 31 HHAKTT{E 0.01 92,246
Outstanding as of 1 January 2019 201941 A 1 BEAKRITE 0.43 1,425
Effect of share subdivision and B 40 R B A b2 8
capitalisation 132,463
Granted during the year FRERD — =
Lapsed during the year FRE KK 0.01 (487)
Vested during the year FANEEREB = =
Outstanding of 31 December 2019 20194 12 A 31 B iHAK7T{E 0.01 133,401
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Restricted Share Award Scheme

On 7 May 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company
resolved to adopt the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”
(“2020 RSAS”) to provide the selected participants (“Selected
Participants”) with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage and retain such
individuals to work with the Company, and to provide
additional incentive for them to achieve performance goals.
The 2020 RSAS is valid and effective for 10 years from
the date of adoption of the scheme. Pursuant to the 2020
RSAS, the Company may grant restricted shares to Selected
Participants, and subject to the fulfilment of certain service
conditions. No Selected Participants may exercise any voting
rights in respect of any restricted shares that have not been

vested.

Employee share trusts are established for the purposes
of awarding shares to Selected Participants (including a
director, officer and full-time employee of the Company
or its subsidiaries, who provide value-added services to
the Company or its subsidiaries) under the 2020 RSAS.
The employee share trusts are administered by a trustee
(“Trustee”) and are funded by the Group’s cash contributions
for buying the Company’s shares on the open market, which
were regarded as treasury shares and presented as a

deduction in equity as “Employee Share Trusts”.

Target shares purchased by the Trustee on the open
market are held in trusts for the Selected Participants until
such shares are vested with the Selected Participants in
accordance with the provisions of the 2020 RSAS. To the
extent permitted by applicable law and regulation, the Trustee
shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any shares
held by it under the trusts.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
granted certain restricted shares in respect of an aggregate
of 15,949,000 ordinary shares of the Company to certain
Selected Participants pursuant to the 2020 RSAS, of which
9,365,000 granted shares were forfeited subsequently. The
fair value of the granted ordinary shares was RMB2,040,000
based on the quoted price of the Company’s shares on the

grant dates.

ZIRGI MR R B at 8

R2020F5A7H » RRAFREZEFERER
FAI & BR &l A f0 52 Eh =1 &1 1 (2020 4 32 R4
BHE@TE ] WEAEFESEE([E
ESEE |)RHEEBEAAREAE R
T HENGRBELEAARKABEE
WA EIRZEE B 2R HEIINRE o
2020 & X BB IAR (7 22 Eh =+ 8 5 5T &340 B
HBET 10F A M R £ - B 5 2020 F
ZR IR ZEET B - AR RIS AEE
SHEERHIBEIRD - HEEKE TR
AN - EEE2BEAREMNRER
Y52 BR I AR D AT (R A (AT 42 2 4 o

EERMIEFRE KL - LARIE2020F %
REIRG B R E2RE (BEAR
AIREMBAR —RESE SABERE
BiER  HRARRSENE R AR HIE
EMR) R - BRERMEFEAZTEA
(BRADEE  IHAKEHORSTE
BNURDHAMSBEARRRD - £
BIEEFROL 2 AIEREROETIR
RS HR °

ZEARAHATISEER B ZRH UG
FRABETLHEERE  HEEXSRMHIE
1% 2020 £ 2[R Hil ik 7 B2 B 5+ B 0 16 X B
TEELHEE - REREGIRERAH
MIERT @ LEATEREREETES
B ERIAR D TR A o

HZE2020F 12 A31 BIEFE » AAFIR
ﬁmwix@ﬁh@ﬁmﬁ%¢$A7A
15,949,000 I L@k A E T E L HE
BHETXREIKG - & F 9,365,000 %
EERERGERERLI - RIEARQ AR
MHREL BENFRER  ERLTREA
DNAREHARE2,040,0007T °

IJ

\

)
SRS
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eE E EYUE: X

For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% 20204 12 A 31 HILFE

Number of

Weighted Restricted
Average Shares
Fair Value Granted
(per share) (thousand)
nAEF 1 2
ARE Z R
(ZR) R&OHE
RMB (FR&)
AR
Outstanding as of 1 January 2020 2020 1 B 1 BEARITE — =
Granted during the year FABEH 0.13 15,949
Lapsed during the year FRBE XK 0.13 (9,365)
Vested during the year FREHB 0.13 (3,530)
Outstanding as of 31 December 2020 7 20204 12 A 31 H K {1T{F 0.13 3,054
Under the 2020 RSAS, share-based compensation of #H £2020F 128318 It F E - R &
RMB552,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement 2020 F 2R FIAk 0 BEBYFT & - AR AE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with a B A R ¥ 552,000 T B R4 1B
corresponding credit to the equity, for the year ended 31 REMPEKGHRER - WRERAEREA
December 2020. B o
As instructed by the Board, the Trustee is appointed to WNEESIETR  XEAEEZE R 2020
acquire certain number of shares from the open market for FXREBIRMDEETERAFT S RES
the 2020 RSAS, and the purchased shares will be held by the FROEE - MBESORMDEAZTAR
Trustee until such shares are vested in accordance with the B BEEZERHIBIE 2020 F 2R HIAKHD
provisions of the 2020 RSAS. Upon vesting, the Trustee will REEENEEB - BEE - XTEAR
transfer the shares to the Selected Participants. EHREURN TEELHEE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z= 20204 12 A 31 HILF &

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Trustee has
acquired on-market in aggregate 42,950,000 of the Company’s

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Q
HZE2020F 12 A31 AILFE » Z7E
B4R 2020 G 2[R Hil ik 10 22BN 8 3%k L

shares at a total cash consideration of RMB5,072,000 under
the 2020 RSAS, which was debited to the equity of the
Company.

Shares held by the Trustee under the 2020 RSAS are shown
below:

Shares held under the 2020 RSAS R 2020 F 2 R $l i (5

R EIPTR AD

R

I B& A 42,950,000 AR A RIBR 1D » 4238
SREBAARYS5072,0007T ' EETA
RAR R o
SREARIE 2020 F 5 [R FI B 10 £ B 5T 2135
BHRGBET :

As at 31 December 2020
7A2020F12H831H
Shares held

Number of under restricted
shares share incentive
(thousand) scheme
RHHE RIBEZ R &
(F&) IR 1D 52 b =t &
ZiEEdieri)

RMB’000

ARETF T

39,420 4,648
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 &% 20204 12 A 31 HILFE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in Group’s liabilities arising

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 29. REEHEENEBZHER

TR BREADEEINAKERERZH

from financing activities. =30
Lease
liabilities
HESRE
RMB’000
AREFr
At 31 December 2018 A2018F12A31H —
Initial application of HKFRS 16 BRERBBMIERELERZE 165 1,704
Restated balance as at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1 HNEESEr 1,704
— Lease payment — BEMK (1,537)
Non-cash flows: FERERE :
— Early termination of lease — REKILHE (213)
— Finance costs — BB A 46
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 72019612 831 HX2020F1 A8 1H —
— Lease payment — HEMNK (1,276)
Non-cash flows: FMERE -
— New leases — HEE 6,049
— Finance costs — BhE A 53
At 31 December 2020 720204 12 A 318 4,826

DOUMOB ZERKAER LN A
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 30. 7B AR R &R

COMPANY
2020 2019
2020 F 2019 ¢
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt ARB¥TFTT ARKFr
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EH B R RMEE —* —
Current assets REEE
Prepayment and other receivables T8/ 78 K £ & U 3008 740 648
Amounts due from shareholders JE Uk A% R I8 188 200
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UK BT B8 A B FIE 37,036 45,901
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEZFEY 629 3,840
38,593 50,589
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HE e RIE R T E A 69 260
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN PR E] 4,641 4,201
4,710 4,461
Net current assets REBEEFE 33,883 46,128
Net assets EEFE 33,883 46,128
EQUITY s
Share capital A& A 27 1,967 1,967
Reserves i 31,916 44,161
Total equity ERBEE 33,883 46,128
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * ZEBELRAREA1,0007T ©
On behalf of the directors KREF
Yang Bin Huang Kewang
B R
Note: As at 31 December 2020, reserves of the Company included Htat - R2020F 12 A31H ' N AR FHHERIE
share premium of RMB47,550,000, capital reserve of & 15 ¥ B A R % 47,550,000 © & & f#F
RMB378,000, employee share trusts of RMB4,648,000, share- BEAR®K378,000T - BERHETEAR
based payment reserve of RMB128,000 and accumulated losses ¥ 4,648,000 7T LA BR 19 A& E B &9 14 3 A0
of RMB11,492,000. Movements of the Company’s share capital B AR% 128,000 K 2T BEARK
and reserves are disclosed in note 27. 11,492,000 7T ° A BIIR A R O ZE B R

s 27 MR EE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

31. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDARIES

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Doumob Inc. (“Doumob BVI”)
(Note (c) & (e))

Doumob Inc. ([Doumob BVI])
(Hizt(c) R (e))

Doumob HK Limited
(“Doumob HK")
(ZBBEEBBRATF) (Note (d))
SHEARERAR(ZEER])
(Hi#(d)

Beijing Doumob Information
Technology Co., Ltd
(“WFOE") (It RE#ifs 851
IRAA]) (Note (d) & (1))

ITREHESRMERAR

(SAEBERE ) (W (0) X (1)

Doumob. (Beijing) Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Doumob
Technology”) (Z B (Jb7) R
BRHAERDF) (Note (d))

TRR)BERNERAA
(T2BRER ) (d)

Tianjin Doumob Advertisement
Co., Ltd (“Doumob
Advertisement”) (K23 B
£BRAT) (Note (d) & (g))

REDBEELEERARI([ERES]) R2014F 12841

(Hiat (d) % (g)

Beijing Yamei Yunhe
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yamei
Yunhe") (L RTBEEMRIRE
R2&]) (Note (d) & (g))

TRGEEMREEBR AT
([TEEM ) (HaE () & ()

DOUMOB T ERIZER AT

Date and place
of incorporation/
establishment
B
B3 BB Rt B
2020
2020 F

Incorporated on 100%
13 April 2018 in
the British Virgin
Island (“BVI”)

201854 A13H
ERBRAEE (R
BRLES])TMX
VA

Incorporated on 100%
18 May 2018 in
Hong Kong

201845 A 18 A
ERBEMRKL

Incorporated on 100%

16 July 2018

in the PRC

20187 A 16 H
T B AT AR AL
Incorporated on 100%
25 July 2013
in the PRC

R2013F7 A 25H

T BT AR AL
Incorporated on 100%
4 December 2014
in the PRC

T B T AR AL
Incorporated on 100%
9 July 2014
in The PRC

M201467H9H
R B AL

31.

Attributable equity interest
of the Group

A& R E

2019
20196

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
BERTRBERE
TEX

US dollars (“US$")1

IESA(ESAD

HK dollars (“HK$")1

1ET(ET])

US$1,000,000

1,000,000 % 7T

RMB20,270,280

AK20,270,280 7T

RMB10,000,000

AR 10,000,0007T

RMB 10,000,000

AR 10,000,0007C

BY

9

\

RBBARNRE

Principal activities

IREHED

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

BRER

Investment holding

Provision of online
advertising services

IR EESRE

Provision of online
advertising services

IR LRSI

Provision of online
advertising services
and online sales
services

REZ FEERBER
R ESHE RS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 # % 20204 12 A 31 HILF[E

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Horgos Doumob Internet
Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Horgos Doumob”)
(ERRITZRRERmARL
7)) (Note (d) & (g))

ERRGZBMRRIMERAR
([ERRHZE ) ()
R(9)

Horgos Xingcheng Huyu Culture
Communications Co., Ltd.
(“Horgos Xingcheng”)
(ERMRIFEXRERULERS
[R7A7]) (Note (d) & ()

ERRMENERERBERAR
([ERRHEMK])

(B (d) & (g))

Beijing Doumeng Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Doumeng”)
(EREERBEBRAF)

(Note (d) & (g))

Date and place
of incorporation/
establishment
AR,

B3 B E Rt 3

Incorporated on
29 December
2016 in The PRC

R2016%5 12 429 A
e B R

Incorporated on
23 May 2017
in the PRC

R 201745 A 238
TEsp B AR L

Incorporated on
8 April 2020
in the PRC

IREEMEERAR(ILRZE]) R2020F4A8H

(Hiat(d) % ()

Hainan Doumob Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Hainan Doumob”)
(RS BREERAR)
(Note (d) & (g))
BECENEERAR(DESEZE])
(Hiit(d) R (g))

Hainan Xiaodou Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Hainan Xiaodou”)
(B EREBRAF)
(Note (d) & (g))

e B A AL

Incorporated on
28 August 2020
in the PRC

R 202048 A28 A
B R

Incorporated on
9 September
2020 in the PRC

AR NENMRERRR(ERE]) R202069R9R

(Hizt(d) % ()

o B A AL

v

Attributable equity interest
of the Group

FEEEGRE
2020
2020

2019
20194

100% 100%

51% 51%

100% =

100% =

100% =

v

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital
BERTRARRAE/
HEEX

RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,000 7T

RMB2,000,000

AR 2,000,000 7T

RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,000 7T

RMB1,000,000

AE¥1,000,000 7T

RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,000 7T

2020 ANNUAL REPORT %%}

Principal activities

FREBE

Provision of online
advertising services
and online sales
services

Rt EESRER
R EHERY

Provision of online
advertising services
and marketing
services

REEEERERBER
R EHERY

Dormant

TEXN

Dormant

LEXK

Dormant

TEXN
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Date and place
of incorporation/

VA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STA

Attributable equity interest

Name of subsidiary establishment of the Group
B
KEAREH B B ARG AEEESLRE
2020 2019
2020 % 2019
Mengxiaodou (Shangdong) Incorporated on 100% =

Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Mengxiaodou”)

(8
(Note (d) & (9))

BELR)BERERAR R 2020611 A 228
(TN HE(d) R (9) Tesp B AR AL

Note:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

DOUMOB

22 November
2020 in the PRC
NEOLR)REARRR)

The English names of all subsidiaries established in the PRC are
translated for identification purpose only.

All companies now comprising the Group have adopted 31
December as their financial year end date.

The equity interest is directly held by the Company at the date
of this report.

The equity interests are indirectly held by the Company at the
date of this report.

As at the date of this report, no audited financial statements
have been prepared for Doumob BVI as it is not subject to
statutory audit requirements under the relevant rules and
regulations in the jurisdiction of incorporation.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of domestic

limited liability company.

TEMRARAE

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

E

X

Principal activities

BRTRAZRE/

HZMER TEEBED

RMB3,000,000 Dormant

AR¥3,000,000t EEEK
et -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

®

(9)

TA FR B A S2 Y FfT A S B8 A B) 4 1 Y SR RE
EHHEERZA -

BEFEK RN EERFEARBERM12 A 31
HAREMBEER -

RAHE AR ER A AR EERE -

WA E B ARER AR RREESE

AR S B H - 7% Doumob BV BB S ST
SEfR AR S B A [ AR B AR Bl ROEARTE T A
TEBZBRE - ARG E R B RIS 3R
;E °

ZEERNIIEBE LR PEIKL

ZEEBUANEEREERRRHPEKIL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

32.

33.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 13,

|

32. EXBEBAIRS

FTEEEASME

AEBFTEEEAENMEBERAAF
BENETESHEEXNNESE (KT
13 FT#EEE) @ FFIBAT ¢

is as follows:
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB¥TFTT AEREFT
Short-term employee benefits MEHEERT 3,289 3,592
Retirement scheme contribution RONETEIH K 85 305
3,374 3,897

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves
and retained profits, respectively.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a continuous basis taking into account the loss of capital and
the risk associated with the capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new shares issue and share buy-back as well as the issue of
new debts or redemption of existing debt, if necessary.

Management regards total equity as capital. The amount of
capital as at 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately
RMB221,558,000 (2019: RMB300,345,000) and, which the
management considers as optimal having considered the
projected capital expenditures and the projected strategic
investment opportunities.

33. EEEEHRRER

REEHESHETERE  UBRERAEER
MERRIESELE  RREBTEHER
K - RERSGREDE -

AEENERNGBERERFHE  MKE
ERIRSFEEYNARRES NEIERE
(BREETEA - FEEREREER)

ARAEEEZEERNBERLEERNERH
R HERIERNERE  AREZEBRIK
MBS - FIRETREQRD - A RET
FEXELNREER(MERTE)  FEE
BERERS -

BEREGREAERER - R2020F 12 A
31EHMERSELN B AR 221,558,000
JL(20194F + A R 300,345,0007T ) ° &t
MIEAEAST HRTEARE R E RS
EEERRELRESTEENE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

DOUMOB

Categories of financial instruments

34. BT H

The following table shows the carrying amount of

financial assets and liabilities:

(a) MBTEEH

0\
\

\

AN

9

TREIMBEERBERREE :

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARHTFT
Financial assets at fair value RAREFABBENUBEE !
through profit or loss:
Film and drama investments/film BEXREBEIRE EHARE
investment 13,445 8,500
Unlisted equity investment IE L RERE 1,696 —
Unlisted equity investments with Bt 7 5Rh A O 3E_E T AR AR
put options 8,687 —
Financial assets at amortised REBHERETENMBEE
cost:
Trade and other receivables E 5 & E i Y kIE 14,923 21,472
Contract assets BREE 34,363 60,237
Amounts due from shareholders FEU IR R FRIE 188 200
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEURIEHE A 25 708
interests — 980
Time deposits with original maturity R 5 B #3838 A &
over 3 months T BATF 3K 32,622 47,017
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFED 89,714 118,915
195,638 257,321
Financial liabilities at amortised RBHERATENHEEE
cost:
Trade and other payables B 5 & E A FE S 518 26,507 16,156
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,826 —
31,333 16,156

TEMRARAE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

(b)

Financial risk management objective and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include film
and drama investments, unlisted equity investment,
unlisted equity investments with options, trade and other
receivables, contract assets, amounts due from non-
controlling interests, amounts due from shareholders,
time deposits with original maturity over three
months, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk and currency
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The directors of the Company manage
and monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.
(i)  Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
its trade and other receivables, contract assets,
amounts due from non-controlling interests,
amounts due from shareholders, time deposits
with original maturity over 3 months and cash and

cash equivalents.

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with time deposits with
original maturity over 3 months and cash and cash
equivalents since they are substantially deposited
at state-owned banks and other medium or large-
sized listed banks. Management does not expect
that there will be any significant losses from non-

performance by these counterparties.

The Group has large number of customers and
there was no concentration of credit risk. The
Group has monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability
of these receivables at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses

are made for irrecoverable amounts.

(b)

MEEREREBNRBR

AEENEZZEVBEIABGESER
BB E - FEMRERE - M5
ROBENIELTRERE  BHK
HMEKRIE - &HEE - BUYSE
TR mRIE  EWRRERIE - R
FEAEAIEANENENR BHe
kIReEEBY BHKHEMERNK
BEUARHEEE ZFUBIAN
FEEHBEREAME EZEVK
TAEENRARBEEERR i
HELRAR BRAERRREER
[2. B o & B 20 el R 1K 52 S5 L B B IR
FHINWMT - RRAIEFEE RE

RZERRB  UWHERKEERER
S o
(i) EERE

AEBAZEEE S REME
WHKIR - AREE - BUSEE
Pt IR - EIRAR R FRIA

[REIH B BB 3 8 A & # 7
RARR MRS FENNE
gﬂﬁ“ °

REBEFEH - BRRITHEEE
RBRE D TF MR BIRIT R
H b KA EmsReT - Eitir
ﬂﬁ@?ﬂ%ﬂﬁ@Sﬁﬂm
EHFRARRE RRS
%miﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂ°4EEE
AR RZEHN T REE
RS E R EAEE o

AEEBERERF H FtirE
SFNEERR - AEEF
EREF - LWRERRETEE
[Ol8 HAfEIE o ok - REER
& BARIAR 5% E WK IE
ROATUR B - DAREGR B AT UR
O &) & FIEH 7 R R E RS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

DOUMOB

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are

incorporated:

. Internal credit rating

o External credit rating

° Actual or expected significant adverse

changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrow’s ability to
meet its obligations.

o Actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of individual property
owner or the borrower

o Significant increase in credit risk on the
other financial instruments of the individual

property owner or the same borrower

. Significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrower in the Group and changes in the
operating result of the borrower

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is
available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying

amounts for financial assets.

TEMRARAE

AEBEEEVIGEREZE
ELMTTREN - thaTHHES R
EHREERRELTERER
ZHEM - EHEERERRES
BERENE  AREHRERE
BREEHLRZAONEREY
IR FERR B HA 3 A2 K0 O Bl B o
THE - ANEEEANFEE
BEHATRIEER - BRI 24
BT UATHER

s REMEEFR
o IMEMEERIAR

o XK MBHLEMR
WERIFAHAERAH
25 AHIHERA
BITEEWENEKE

By 48R
2

o ERMEREEASER
AEEEENERRTE
HEAED)

o ERMEEAANLF—
ERAEMB BT AN
EERBAE L

s MBRABEHRBRRTE
MBERES  BHEMEX
AR AR & B #) 8 Tk
HREH RERALE
XEHREY

AR O R F R G R

TRERAEEEEREN 12
ABITEMEEEERRKXE
ERBMO - ZERREBER
BEBMENRIFERREME
BTV ENKARE N ERF
BB ) DA B 5 R AT B O B B

ANy
Pa) I

MENEBRRAREHBEE
HBRE A8 °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ST

e M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z= 20204 12 A 31 HILF &

At 31 December 2020

Y,

72020512 831 H

12-month ECLs
12{8R Lifetime ECLs
REEEEE 2HRAEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
#£-Ka 1 R Bt A % Eh)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEEFT NEETT NEETT NEEFT NEETT
Amounts due from shareholders  EUREZE 188 = = — 188
Amounts due from non-controlling R IEEIRER B
interests - — 980 — 980
Contract assets’ AR - - - 14,608 14,608
Trade receivables® B RN - - - 69,767 69,767
Financial assets included in TARSE - BAFER
deposits, prepayments and EftRUAL
other receivables: BEE:
— Normal** — &+ 8,946 - — — 8,946
— Doubtful** — FR™ — 10 2,636 — 2,646
Time deposits with original maturity BEIHRBAE=EAK
over three months EHEN 32,622 = = = 32,622
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEN 89,714 - - - 89,714
131,470 10 3,616 84,375 219,471
At 31 December 2019 R20195612H31H
12-month ECLs
12188 Lifetime ECLs
BHEEFR 2HEREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-K& 5 F=RR BitrE @i
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000
NEETFT NRETFT ANEETFT NREFT ANEEFT
Amounts due from shareholders ERREFE 200 - = - 200
Amounts due from JEW SRR R R
non-controlling interests 980 — — = 980
Contract assets* CHET:S - - - 14,310 14,310
Trade receivables* BHENHE" - - - 76,102 76,102
Financial assets included in SRS - BRFER
deposits, prepayments and E kB
other receivables: BIBEE :
— Normal** — ™ 8,698 — — — 8,698
Time deposits with original RESARE=EAH
maturity over three months EHER 47,017 = = = 47,017
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFLEEN 118915 = = = 118,915
175,810 — — 90,412 266,222
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(ii)

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which
the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the
financial statements, respectively.

> The credit quality of the financial assets included

in prepayments, other receivables and other

assets and the amounts due from related parties is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables are disclosed in note 19 to the

financial statements.
Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the directors of the
Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining

adequate reserves.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group

can be required to pay.

TEMRARAE

X

(ii)

MAEBEARERETEN
BZRIZENS - EREE
e ) B R Bl B 75 Rk B
19 R 20 HEE -

& st ATRRTARIR - E MR
TN M8 A R B R
REN B EEL ARB LA I
BARNKRAMBEEBVIRE
REFERARBZIEM %
EREENFEERARIE
Tl BA ZEMEENR
EEZBERIfFRE]

ERAARKEE S EWKKIATE
EHEERRAE—FELH
BRI RAMEA9TRKE

MEBEZEE

mBEERBREERNKRAML
HARAEFARE - ARAE
FERVHEENRDE SRR
ERER NEBAEEDN
BRRMESRRBDESERE
TR o ARBEEBRIT A
B NEERRBDESRR -

TRANRNEEFITEMBEE
BEONBRTAEOHR - JIRRE
AEBEBAJEANRNKER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years

Carrying  undiscounted one year or [ELRGET] but less

amount cash flows on demand 2years  than 5 years
BRRER BB1F BRmE

REE REREAE 1FRIRER BORME BAHR5F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARBFT AREFR ARKFR ARBFT

As at 31 December 2020  #2020%12A31H

Trade payables B HERTE 21,754 21,754 21,754 - -
Accruals and other payables fExtE M kEf

[Ef7UR 4,753 4,753 4,753 - -

Lease liabilities HEEE 4,826 5,054 2,552 2,502 -

31,333 31,561 29,059 2,502 -

As at 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31H

Trade payables BHRAFE 11,743 11,743 11,743 — —
Accruals and other payables fExt& R E &R

2B 4413 4413 4413 — —

16,156 16,156 16,156 — -
(iii)  Equity price risk (iii) BAEEEE
The Group has equity securities which are AEEHARAFES  BHEFE
classified in the consolidated statement of FREEVBRRARANDER
financial position as financial assets at FVTPL. BEARBEFABENHIEE
These are susceptible to equity price risk arising E - ZEBFDZBRAERE
from uncertainties about the future prices of the MATRE  mMzEREBRIIES
instruments. AIARRER 2 EEREE
mEE ©

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to TRITEIELTRAZSR 2
every 5% change in the fair values of the unlisted NREE% BE) 2 HFUKE
equity securities, with all other variables held THIR H R E R 2 AR E A 51
constant, based on their carrying amounts at the - MmAAEMEHRERT
end of the reporting period. o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z 20204F 12 A 31 HIEFE

2020
Financial assets at FVTPL

Unlisted equity investment

Unlisted equity investments

with put options

2020 F
BARBEABENHBEEE

FEEmAERE

Hf TR Oh R ) FE b T AR
wE

Increase/
(decrease)
Increase/ in loss Increase/
(decrease) before (decrease)
in fair value taxation in equity
BRBATE R g
#i,/08L)  #/ (HP)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFTT ABEFT
5 47 47
(5) (47) (47)
5 9 9
(5) (9) (9)

(iv) Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is

arising mainly from the cash and bank balances

and time deposits of the Group which are

denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant

group entities. Except for the cash and bank

balances, time deposits and other receivables

denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant

group entities, the group entities did not have any

other monetary assets or liabilities denominated in

foreign currencies as at the end of the reporting

period.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash

and bank balances, time deposits and other

receivables that are denominated in foreign

currency of group entities, representing US$ and

HK$, as at 31 December 2020 are approximately
RMB37,681,000 and RMB759,000, respectively.

DOUMOB T ERIZER AT

(iv) E¥EpE

7N £2 (B I O O S L B 2 R
BEASRENERASEEERINE
FME 2 R & MIRTT AR ME
Tk - BRABEE R UINE
JEZ IR e MIRTTHERR - EH
7 5K A B Bt FE MR TESN - 1R
BERRAZEEEERY BT
I EAIASNE S B BB E
HEE-

2020612 A31 B * "&EH
NEBERBNINEEIE T
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R EETERARHE M E
WHRBEZEAES L AA
K #37,681,000 7T il A & #&
759,000 7T °
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9

For the year ended 31 December 2019, The
Group mainly operated in the PRC with most of
the transactions settled in RMB and did not have
significant exposure to risk resulting from changes

in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy but the directors of the
Company monitor foreign exchange exposure
by closely monitoring the foreign exchange risk
profile and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

This sensitivity analysis details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% appreciation and depreciation
in each relevant foreign currencies US$ and
HK$ against functional currencies RMB. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currencies
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the year end for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax
profit for the year and a negative number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax profit for the year
where the relevant foreign currencies fluctuate 5%
against RMB.

REBZE2019F 12 A31 B IEF
B AEBEXEEPELEE -
REARBUAREELZLE -

4 ] MK S S B i 3 ﬁxaﬁi
KEE °

ANEE B AT I &SNS B K
B BERRREZTIEZEIN
HEE Jo e AR 5T A B 42 S B L B
THEEREREZREHEKX
SN LR o

BT

RYRED RN E B
*ﬁ‘?ﬂﬁl B(ETRET) LR

E¥ARETEREZES%H
BREE 5% DAETEEEA
B P HR R #R N L B P (s R
MBRELR KREEE
HOMNEERAEHRNGES
B2ith - RELSMERR
REBZ ANETIEMN ¥R
B WRFKRE% ZINEE
FKRBFHREME - TFHIEHR
RABARBEREBBINERL
AR ) 5% B F A R Tt &
S F3E 0 KRk D B 1B

&
G
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(v)

US$ impact
— US$ strengthens against RMB by 5%
— US$ weakens against RMB by 5%

HK$ impact
— HK$ strengthens against RMB by 5%
— HK$ weakens against RMB by 5%

Xnwe
— XTLHEARBHESS
— XTLHARBRZES%

BrE
— BLEARKTHES%
— BTAARKRES%

X

2020
2020 F

RMB’000
ARETT

1,884
(1,884)

38
(38)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent foreign exchange risk as the reporting
period end exposures do not reflect the exposure
during the year.

Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
include cash and cash equivalents, time deposits
with original maturity over three months, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from shareholders, amounts due
from non-controlling interests, trade payables,

accruals and other payables and lease liabilities.

TEMRARAE

(v)

ARBDEERR  ARREH
R R B 3 R BR A A
B RS E DT EARE
BB H)INE R o

WHERAETSEBHIHELR

VIHFBRAREBFHENH TR
BERAELRAEEEY  RE
Hi R B3 E AN ERFR
BHRWFIA - BE REAME
WK -~ BUWARRFE - B
R AER R - BH RN
B BB RE MR TR
UARBEERIE -
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(vi)

Due to their short term nature, the carrying value
of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits
with original maturity over three months, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from non-controlling interests,
amount due from shareholders, trade payables,
accruals and other payables, and lease liabilities

approximates fair value.
Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and trade on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to

quoted market prices.

The fair value of film and drama investments
are based on income approach and grouped
into Level 3. There was no change in valuation

techniques during the period.

The fair values of unlisted equity investments are
estimated based on the market approach. The
market approach is based on price multiples
determined with reference to comparable
public companies and includes appropriate risk

adjustments for lack of marketability.
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used

in the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities at the measurement date

HRBEEHEE  RekRe
SEY  RIHAEBIEA
B BfF R - B 5 B UGRIA
Be REMEWKIR - BUIE
Th%**ﬁ & W B 3R AR
A BHHSENTIE - ERTER
REMENZEARAEE &
AR EEEREERS

ﬁﬁﬁ%“é%%ﬁé?&ﬁ
BEMH AR ELRMIZRES
EARME -

EYMEBBKREN DA ERE
%Ai#m WOBERE=
R o RETNERAY EEE -

FELTRERE AR ERE
MIHEEE  MIHEANKERE
A& E B AR N B E R
= iz A E E R
RAEMETE < BRERRE
o

DA EER

TREINBERRET

MAEERBETAERARE D
REBUBERELENFE135%
[AAERE IREN=F2AR
BER  2REETERAE
ABENTERERE2 LS
RAEFFEDRATER

s FH/MEE: REAFE
— R AR (ANERE
EXABRIEEAE
A E BT 5 K R KA
BHRE)GENARE
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o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured

using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable

inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not

using significant unobservable inputs.

Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs

The following table illustrates the fair value

measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial

instruments:

]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s F-ARMBE:RKBAFZ
R ABBBEIRTE
F-ROABRE AR
®) > MARAEARA
B ABEBITENR
RE- THEREARK
BRLEMSBENS
ABIE

e FEZAME:RKBEX
THBERBABEBTE
M RRE

TREFBIAREH B TANR
REFEER:

At 31 December 2020
72020512831 H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B et ] E=R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT AR FT AR TR AR¥ETFT
Financial assets at BEAREGABREN
FVTPL MBEE
Film and drama BY REBIRE
investments —_ —_ 13,445 13,445
Unlisted equity JEEmRERE
investment — — 1,696 1,696
Unlisted equity B A SR R O
investments with put I ERER &
options — — 8,687 8,687
— — 23,828 23,828
At 31 December 2019
2019412 A 31 A
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ FE_H FE=H &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREFr AREFr AREFr AREFr
Financial assets at BARESABRN
FVTPL BBEE
Film investment BYRA — — 8,500 8,500
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Unlisted equity investment, unlisted equity ELETARERE « &R IhE
investments with put options and film and drama HIIE E TR IEIR B A B R
investments are stated at their fair value, which BB EREAREYIE Ty
are determined by reference to the valuation in ZBENE IR T%%E’Méﬂﬁﬁif
accordance with generally accepted valuation E’jﬁﬁ SEEETE - AREtE
methodologies. The valuation techniques and “ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁxi‘&iﬂu)\
inputs used in the fair value measurements within %{%ZIDT 3

Level 3 is as follows:

Significant Relationship of
KO 31 December  Fair value  Valuation unobservable unobservable inputs
Financial assets 2020 2019 hierarchy  techniques inputs to fair value
20205 2195 EXFTRE TURERAHE
EHEE 124318 128318  AAEER fMERE BARE HMLENEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Unlisted equity investment 1,696 —  Level3 Market approach  Price-to-eamings  The higher the
¥ EmRERE E=H M5 multiple multiple, the higher
mRXEY the fair value

fFEHES - DAEER

Marketability The higher the

discount discount, the lower
TETBMERE  the fair value
HRERR
MREHE
Unlisted equity investments 8,687 —  Level3 Market approach  Price-to-eamnings  The higher the
with put options E=8 Bk multiples multiples, the higher
HisRa 3 L IRERE mAXEY the fair value

[EREE - ArEES

Price-to-sales The higher the
multiples multiples, the higher
MHEEH the fair value

EaHs  AAEDS

Marketability The higher the

discount discount, the lower
MERBERRE  the fair value
HREHR -
A EHE
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Financial assets

TREE

Film and drama investments/

film investment

SYRBARE

TEMRARAE

=8
B

&

31 December

2020
20205
12A31H
RMB’000
ANEEFR

13,445

31 December

20195
128318  AREER
RMB’000
ARETR
8500  Level3
F=H

Fair value
2019 hierarchy

Valuation
techniques

fhER %

Binominal pricing
model
A RERY

Discounted cash
flow

¥RALRE

Significant
unobservable
inputs
EXFTEE
BAHE

Risk-free interest
rate
ERRA =

Volatility
Rt

Expected future
cash flow

BEARELRE

Discount rate

MR

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
TIBREAYE
HALENBE

The higher the
interest rate, the
lower the fair value

NERR  AAERE

The higher the
volatility, the higher
the fair value

PiERE  AAE

S

ok

ok

The higher the
expected future cash
flow, the higher the
fair value
BEARE e REY

B MEER

The higher the
discount rate, the
lower the fair value
ERXER AREY
(£
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The sensitivity analysis on changes in fair value of MIELTRERE AL EE
the unlisted equity investments are as follows: HBUREE DT -

A 5% increase/decrease in price-to-earnings
multiple while all other variables keep constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2020 by RMB85,000 (2019: Nil).

A 0.5% increase/decrease in marketability
discount while all other variables keep constant,
would decrease/increase the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2020 by RMBNil/RMB7,000 (2019:
Nil).

The sensitivity analysis on changes in fair value
of the unlisted equity investments with put options

are as follows:

A 5% increase/decrease in price-to-earnings
multiple while all other variables keep constant,
would increase/decrease the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2020 by RMB100,000 (2019: Nil).

A 1% increase/decrease in price-to-sales multiple
while all other variables keep constant, would
increase/decrease the carrying amount as at
31 December 2020 by RMB100,000/RMB10,000
(2019: Nil).

A 0.5% increase/decrease in marketability
discount while all other variables keep constant,
would decrease/increase the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2020 RMB10,000/RMB90,000
(2019: Nil).

A 5% increase/decrease in risk-free interest rate
while all other variables keep constant, would
decrease/increase the carrying amount as at 31
December 2020 by RMB1,000/RMBNil (2019: Nil).

il 717 22 3R £Z 203 R 4> 5%
i Fr A H A S EURFFAE - A
2020512 A1 B R E (B
#3800, 7 A A R #5 85,000 70
(20194F « %) o

1 T 45 7% 488 M B 38 SR 38 0L
10.5% ifl FT A H fth & HR %
& BIR 202012 A31 R
M BREE SR HE AR
=,/ AR #7,0007c(2019
Fm) o

B A RERE R IF E T AR AR
BRREZBHGRRE DT
-

T B R F 2R L 5%
i B A H i B BRI & - A
#2020 12 A 31 BRI AREE
#5300, A A R ¥ 100,000
TL(20194F « £&) o

s 717 88 2= (Z BIE R A 1%
i FT 5 H 2 BURF T2 - Al
20204 12 A 31 AKX AREE
% 3% 0,7 A A R ¥ 100,000
T/ A R #10,0007T(2019
F o)

i T 455 375 488 M B 38 SR 32 0 Rk
4>0.5% i FT & H b & EURFF
N B 20204 12 A 31 H
MERE AR D IEINARE
10,0007t/ A R % 90,000 7T
(20194 : &) -

fied 4% B B ) =3 0 IR > 5%
i FT 5 H 2 R 3F T - A
MR 2020 12 A 31 HHEREE
#m A #hn A R ¥ 1,000 7T
SARBEZIT(20194F « &) -
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A 5% increase/decrease in volatility while all other
variables keep constant, would increase/decrease
the carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 by
RMB85,000/RMB76,000 (2019: Nil).

The sensitivity analysis on changes in fair value of
the film and drama investments are as follows:

A 1% increase/decrease in the discount rate while
all other variables keep constant, would decrease/
increase the carrying amount as at 31 December
2020 by RMB110,000 (2019: RMB100,000).

A 0.5% increase/decrease in profit margin
attributable to the Group while all other variables
keep constant, would increase/decrease the
carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 by
RMB66,000. (2019: RMB43,000)

TEMRARAE

i 52 D 1 38 0k 4> 5% T A
BHEMBHAEFTE AR
2020 12 A 31 HMEEEER
# R A A R % 85,000 7T
/N 76,000 7T (2019 £F :
) o

HREXREBIRENREES)
HEUREDMIAT

& R 3R S 38 03 > 1% T AR
BEHMEBHRFTE - AR
2020412 A31H W Ik ® (&
1 > 48 i A R ¥ 110,000
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The movements in fair value measurements within

Level 3 during the year are as follows:

FANE=-RAAEFEED
LU

2020 2019
2020 £ 2019 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT ARMFor
Financial assets at FVTPL #ZAABEF ABSZNHMEEE
At 1 January ®W1A1H8 8,500 —
Purchase fEE 13,841 7,800
Total gains recognised in the RIBZ KRR AHAURA
statement of profit or loss REAMU S (EEB)F BN
included in other income W 4azE
and other net gains/(losses) 1,487 700
At 31 December ®12 431 H 23,828 8,500
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and #H Z 2020 F & 20194F 12 A 31

2019, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period in which they occur.

There were no other financial assets or liabilities
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

BLEFE F-—RRE-_RZ
RS EER . TEEAF=H
FEF=REL - AEENRK
BAREERE R RS -

R202045 K 2019412 A31 R -
i R /N =R = 02
BERAME -
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35.

36.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD AND EFFECT OF COVID-19

As of the approval date on these financial statements, the
Group had no significant events after reporting period which
need to be disclosed.

The directors of the Company are continuing to assess
the implications of COVID-19 pandemic to the business in
which the Group operates. Depending on the duration of
the COVID-19 pandemic and continued negative impact
on economic activity, the Group might experience further
negative results, and liquidity restraints and incur additional
impairments on its assets in 2021. However, the exact impact

in the remainder of 2021 and thereafter cannot be predicted.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorized for

issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2021.

DOUMOB ZERKAER LN A
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